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Ralph Plppin at his forge. Age Seventy-
four.




Ralph Pippin at the triphammer sharpen-
ing ploughshare.




CHAPTER ONE

Saskatchewan, Canada where homesteads of 160 acres of virgin land were to be had
for ten dollars plus making improvements such as living on the land for a specified
time and breaking a number of acres,

Bert Pippin, my Dad, and uncle, Bill Kinzie, had come to Saskatchewan in the spring of
1905. They chose two homesteads near where the town of Harris, Saskatchewan now
stands. But they found that drinking water was hard to come by in that area, so they
cancelled their applications and came to the Pike Lake country. Knute Dahlen, who had
aiready setiledn the Valley Park istrict, advised themtosstie i the Valley so they chose
two quarters at the north end on the east side of Pike Lake, Saskatc}

Dad picked up a buffalo horn near Harris and took it home w Kansas with him.
Seventy-three years later, it is hanging on the wall of my den

On the train were a three month old baby boy (me), the baby's parents, his Uncle Bill and
aunt Cora, and four cousins, Lena, Merrel, Darlene, and Lois Kinzie. Lois was two years
old.

This story is to be about the life of that boy and some of the people he came in contact
with s he grew to manhoo

In April, 1906 the settlers arrived in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. Mr. Joseph Caswell was
seeding wheat on land that is now owned by Glow Bros. just south and west of the Queen
Elizabeth Power Station. | can remember seeing Mr. Caswell after | grew older. He was a
very distinguished looking man with white halr and moustache, and an excellent farmer
and horsem

Uncle Bill and Dad had brought along a span of mules each. As Uncle had farmed in the
States as well mines,

ad had worked at the coal mines s a blacksmith so it was just natural that he brought
his tools. | still have these tools in my possession. He also worked as a gunsmith and he
had a lot of old guns and handguns. When my brothers and | got older, we started fooling
around with these guns. He had a reloading outfit for a twelve gauge shotgun, and there
were caps and powder, but no shot. So we h d out bars of lead
of an inch square, and cut it in cubes with the tinsnips. One of those cubes would almost
cutaduck's head off. We always played with the handguns while Dad was away. But one
day he came home and caught us. There were about one dozen of these, and he put them
allin abox and carried them down to the lakebank and, one at atime, he threw them in the.

er.

T he year was 1906 and the emigrant train was puffing enroute from Kansas, U.S.A. to

He kept the shotguns and a couple of 22 rifles. When | was twelve years old, he started
teaching me to shoot. He had a 25-20 Winchester repeater and a 25-30 Winchester with an
octagon barrel. It held 9 cartridges in the magazine, but we were not allowed to use these
until we were much older. My brother Arnold and | used to hunt ducks with double barrel




shotguns and our thumbs were not strong enough to pull back the hammer to cock the
guns. So we sneaked up as close as possible, set the butt of the gun on the ground, and
using the palm of our hand, cocked the barrels, and we were loaded for bear. One time,
Arnold and | were walking along a sandbar and a goose flew up in good range. There was
no time to lose. So | tried to cock the gun with my thumb, and it slipped and blew a hole in
the sand about half way to the goose. Arnold, who was Standing a few yards away, said,
“Did you get him?" It sounded so funny | had to laugh. But when | think back at some of the
things we did, | think our guardian angel must have been watching over us.

The pair of mules belonging to Dad were named Tiny and Queen. They could not be
{rusted as they liked to run away. | have heard Dad say he would be driving along the trail

ateach otherand y would go on the run
pelan standing without being tied

Uncle Bill's mules were named Jude and Jack. They had a bad habit when standing in
the barn in a double stall. If anyone walked between them, they immediately started to
push together thus squeezing the person. He overcame the habit by carrying ssick
sharpened on both ends. A few pushes against that and they gave it up as a ba

Then came the journey from Saskatoon to Pike Lake by mule teams and wagons rneu
claims were on the east side of Pike Lake which is south-west of Saskatoon. There was
heavy bush at the north end, 5o they had to follow the trail through the sandhills, west of
the Lake around the south end and follow a trail cut by the Indians to the homestead site.
This area had numerous grassy spots with white poplar bluffs and had often been used as
campgrounds by the Indians. Saskatoon berries, chokecherries, and Highbush cranber-
ries were very plentiful. In some of the grassy spots, the ground was red with wild
strawberries.

One fine morning, (he sun rose on one of these spots close to the lake. In this clearing

ing long train ride and the
he land be their home for many years. A
Gow named Blossom had walked behind the wagon from Seakatoon

This land was not surveyed at thattime. They lived or a short time.on what was to be the
SWSE hen Uncle Bill
I SEC 16254 A This lang was S nuated on the north end of a rwervaHey bounded on
the east by the South Saskatchewan River and on the west by Pike Lake, and the south of
the lake, a range of sandhills. The south part of this valley was known as the Valley Park
District. A creek Pike L
Saskatchewan River. The water was very clear and was the source of water supply until
wells could be established. On one occasion, Lena was going for water and a badger
contested her right to the footpath. But after a sharp rap over the nose with the water pail,
he took off into the bush.

A crossing was made over the creek by piling brush and poles in the water to make a
solid bottom. This crossing was known as the Ford, and was used for many years by the
people of Gledhow and Valley Park Districts on iheir way to Dad's biacksmith shop and
Saskatoon. O; Iremembera
Mr. John Bumby. He started out rom the Gledhow district with an ox team and a 10ad o1
wheat. The weather was very warm and the flies were bad. When the oxen came to the
Ford, they decided to lie down in the water to cool off. Mr. Bumby kicked them and the

seamson s shoss broke <0 e gaue up and cam fo Da's pace. o aid pin, |
9 ey wont move. What shal
1do7:D By the time they

got thers, the oxen nad cooled off and were standing ready 1o go again but they did not
move until they were told.
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CHAPTER TWO
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CHAPTER THREE
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After finishing the threshing they were doing in Cory R.M., Joe and Dad took the outfitto
Joe's farm at Vanscoy. When they were through there, they went to the farm of Claudius
Romulus James, which was situated south of Vanscoy, and next to the road that runs east
outof Vanscoy. The farm is now owned by Bill Hodgson, who lives in Vanscoy. The James
family came from Arkansas, U.S.A. They professed to be related tothe great outiaw, Jesse
James. While they were threshing there, it was getting late n the fal. They threshed until
dark. Mr. James came to Dad an in, when the sparks start to fly out of the
Smokestack. 1 would ko to shut t down as I think thare s danoer of fre then * What e dig
not realize was that the sparks were flying all day, but did not show in daylight. Anyway, the.
smokestack had a cone-shaped screen over it which let through only the smallest sparks
and they would be cold before they hit the ground.

Another time, some of the local farmers were gathered in the blacksmith shop in
Vanscoy. Mr. James offered to bet my Father that a binder tied every so often whether
there was wheat in it or not. He would have lost because a binder had packers which
pushed th tanarm which had theld the arm until the bundle
was packed to the desired firmness. Then, this mechanism would trip off, allowing the
gears that drove the knotter and the arms that removed the bundle to take over, and spit the
bundls outonto the burdie carrier. A bundls carrer would holdfromsix tosight bundes,

ot p them at will, s
p them nex o th the round before, o that
best for the stooker. | explain this for my young readers
who probably have never seen a binder. The older lads, who know all about these things,
will likely find it boring.

The Fairbanks Morse tractor burned kerosene as fuel. Thirty gallons would run it a
twelve hour day threshing with a twenty-eight inch separator. It was the first tractor that |
ever drove. It seemed a huge machine in those days, but when | see one of these tractors in

now, it does not seem so large. There is one of them in the museum at North
Battleford, Saskatchewan. In spite of signs saying “Do not climb on the tractors", | could
not resist. | got up on the platform, and had just got hold of the steering wheel. when a
young lady by and said, "Off the tractor.” No "Please,” or "Would you mind getting
off the tractor st, “Off the tractor.” She was not very nice or pretty. | was seventy-two
years old at the time. | thought she might have considered that | was just an old man
bringing back a few memories.

The carburetor had two compartments, one side for kerosene and the other for water,
with a needle valve on each one that had to be set by hand. When the engine was under
load, it was not hard to set the amount of kerosene. It would ping if the water side was not
adjusted properly, and if too much water was turned on, it would lower the power.
However, the operator soon learned what the best settings were. The carburetor
have a float but a raised area in the center. When the fuel pump, which was a small piston
pump that drove from a cam, filled the carburetor to the raised area, the fuel returned viaa
pipe back to the fuel tank. It had two trap lids on the top which could be opened to check
the fuel level.

The air intake was a three inch pipe which led from one side of the motor to the other ina
horizontal position. On this pipe were two dampers which could be used as chokes for
starting. An elbow at one end held a perpendicular pipe. It was open at the top with no air
cleaner of any kind. One could sure hear it gulping in air.

The motor was a single cylinder with a ten inch piston. The connecting rod was round,
and had two heavy brass blocks, which fitted on the crankshaft and could be adjusted by
removing shims,

The two fly wheels were five feet across and weighed fifteen hundred pounds. The
ignitor was make and break with points inside the cylinder head. A cam and spring




arrangement caused the points to snap open and make a spark. The battery was a six volt
dry cell. But Dad ended up rigging a magnet on it so that, after it was started on the battery,
it could be switched over.

To start the engine, the operator stood on a small platform at the side of the motor and
unscrewed a gadget from the top of the cylinder. It was about six inches long by one-half
inch thick. It had a notch cut in the bottom end, designed to hold a match head cut off with

b inch of This short match talled in the notch. The top of
thestriker, called, had d the stem and a flat head, made of
brass about one and one-half inches across; o that when the head was struck with the
paim of the hand, it caused the match in the notch to go downward, striking a small
projection inside the cylinder, thus lighting the match. With this striker removed from the
cylinder, the operator put a foot in the spokes of a fly wheel and turned the engine up
against compression. The balance weights on the flywheel would cause it to roll back thus
sucking in air at the opening. Some gasoline from a bottle was poured in as it rolled bac!

an triker into place. The operator i
and rolled it hard up against compression, and stepped back and hit the striker. The match
Th d, if g right, it

. Then the ig
was off and running. We found that kerosene mixed with the gas made for a better starting
mixture, as when the engine was hot, the gas, poured in for starting, evaporated too
quickly.
The clutch and gearshift operated from a lever about four and one-half feet long. If the
d it th

3 gea
Therefore, when the lever was pulled back, it engaged the clutch and caused the tractor to
reverse. When it was pushed to the right, the small gear siid over to another larger gear,
and engaging the clutch and caused the tractor to move forward. Its forward speed was.
two and one-half miles per hour. The clutch was wooden blocks which expanded inside of
adrum on the flywheel, and worked very good if properly adjusted. Dad got an idea, one.

time, that some rubber 9 elif it blocks. He
was brushbreaking and it sure held well. He finished

home to the yard. He had made a twenty foot pole gate coming into the yard. The poles
wereall nailed together. It made in the forge and

a hook for fastening it shut. When he came near the gate, he attempted to throw out the
clutch, but the rubber had got hot and vulcanized to the clutch drum. The Old Bull, as Dad
called his tractor, did not stop. He shut off the fuel, but the flywheels had enough motion to
carry on right through the new gate. The tractor weighed nine tons, so the remains of the.
gate made pretty fair firewood.

The steering gear was a worm gear and drum arrangement. A chain was wound around
the drum and attached to the front axle, one end at each side, so that when the steering
wheel was turned, it shortened the chain on one side and lengthened it on the other. This
caused the wheels to cramp and it turned very well. It took thirty-two turns of the steering
wheel to bring it from right to left or vice versa, but it turned very easy and had a spinner.
One had better start winding a bit ahead of time, if he wished to come straight into the
turrow.

The radiator sat on the front end over the front wheels. It held fifty gallons of water when
full. There was no top on it, and, if it was 0o full, some water would spill out going up or
down hill. On 1op of the tank, there were two screens set in A shape, with a one and
one-halfinch ith many holes. This pip the top where the two

trifugal pump was si inder and was driven
bya round twisted leather belt, fastened together with hooks. The water was pumped from
he b the tank, through and back pipe Itjus
trickled down them, and back into the tank. That was the only cooling system it had, but it




would evaporate twenty-five or thirty gallons of water per day. The tractor had a canopy
over the top, made of corrugated galvanized sheet metal. The intake valve was in the
cylinder head, but the exhaust valve was in a square of cast-iron on one side of the
cylinder. The exhaust valve cage was usually close to red hot and the exhaust pipe was
close to the operator. It was very nice when threshing on cool days in the fall, but was hot
ashellin the summer. The exhaust pipe was a four inch pipe inside a larger one. When the
engine was idling, it blew the most perfect smoke rings. The exhaust sounded “chouf,
chouf”, and as the motor turned at 224 r.p.m. per minute, it choufed 112times per minute.
It was throttled governed, and fired very evenly.

When my youngest brother, Glenn, was a small boy, he used to walk around the yard,
pretending he was a tractor, with his hands turning one over the other, in imitation of the
flywheels, and saying, “chouf, chouf". Then, he would reverse his hands and walk back-
wards, saying, “chouf, chouf, rung a rahr, rahr, rung a rahr, rahr.” The “rung a rahr” was in
imitation of the tractor gears as they made a noise much like that when in reverse.

Thistractor was used for threshing and breaking from 1915t0 1926. In 1924, Dad traded
the Aultman Taylor separator for an International Harvester separator. It was built of wood
as they had not started to build galvanized steel ones yet. It was the best flax thresher that |
ever saw.

For brushbreaking, we had a twenty-four inch John Deere Jumbo breaking plough. It
had alow beam and gave quite a bit of trouble with sticks and trash hanging on the cutter.
The cutter stood upright rom the point of the ploughshare and was clamped to the beam
atthe top. The wheels were low, which
furrow and the right rear wheel, with a six inch exienslon, ran on the plowed land. It packed
soil down tight on the brush and it rotted very quickly. We disced over the top and seeded
and harrowed it for two years. Then, it could be ploughed back with little trouble. A man
rode on the plough and used a fork, made from a flat piece of steel with a pipe handle. He.
poked and steered the brush so that, instead of clogging and dragging in the cutter, itwas
ploughed under.

The plough was pulled by a chain which ran through a link on the beam of the plough
The two ends were attached to the draw bar of the tractor. Sometimes when the plough hit

e tractor in. Then, the tractor operator backed
the tractor out of the holes, and the ploughman would shorten the chain, so that the
tractor, in going ahead, dropped into the holes it had made. The weight of the tractor, as it
moved ahead, would split an eight or ten inch stump wide open. The very large stumps
were the only ones we removed the first year as the weight of the tractor pushed most of
the smaller .
10 the frame with seven-cighths inch bolts. As lock washers had not been invented, it was
necessary to tighten these bolts quite often as they worked loose from vibration, and
crawling over brush and stumps. By quite often, | mean about every fourth round on a half
mile. Thers was considerablo vibration when threshing co a screw Jack we sed under
one corner of the
Standing on 1op of tho saparator. This 1 my description of the irst ractor that | oo
must say, that in its time, it was as good as there was,

As for the brushbreaking, | have seen and used tractors that were easier to handle. But
none of them, not even a Cat, could come up to the finished job that the old Fairbanks
Morse left. | would love to stand on that old platform again for just one hour, pull in the
clutch, and feel the Old Bull “chouf” and grind its way along.

a2




CHAPTER FOUR

owned one. Stratton Gwyn, who farmed about halfway between Vanscoy and Pike

Lake, had one, and its exhaust could be heard at our farm. Andrew and Eddie
Moreton owned a Fairbanks Morse tractor. They farmed along what is known as the Low
Road or River Road, which runs rom Pike Lake to Saskatoon. They were about eight miles
from Pike L

There were several Fairbanks Morse tractors in this area. S.A. Coates of Vanscoy

on their tractor right in the throw. It was

fourteen inches of solid teel. Eddle imbed up in there and rilled a thres quarter inch

hole right through, and put in a steel bolt. He did this by ratchet drill. He started in the

gentro at the top, and came out doad centre at the bottom. The drill could only be moved

about one third so that it had to be back and forth for many hours. It was a fine piece of

Work, considaring whal e had 16 work witn, The tractor warked many years after it was
ed

Ned Evans purchased a Fairbanks Morse tractor and grader. He contracted to build the
road known a5 the low road: Eddie Moreton drove the tractor and plowed the right of way

e brush and trees had all been cut by axe and
piled S burned Anerprowmg and discing, the grader was used wwmhemcwrmrmsh-
ing the power. This road ran fro asthe

Lake. The Gable Hill was named that bocauss an English sallor. whose house was aiihe
foot of the hill, had gables over the windows. Andrew and Eddie Moreton were pioneers in
the Moon Lake Flat. They were good western neighbors, well liked and respected by
everyone.

Dad and three neighbors had driven with a team of horses and a sleigh to hunt moose in
the Tisdale, Saskatchewan area. They shot three moose; a bull and two cows. The cows
wereilegal. They skinned the moose Aler quartering and freezing the mea, they loaded
itin leigh and piled their ontop. |
about their trip hume, but they did not stop in Saskatoon. They drove o Andrewrs farm,
and stopped 1o feed the horses and have dinner there. Shortly after they left, a Mountie
rode in and said he was looking for some hunters that had shot two cow moose. Andrew
said, “They stopped here for dinner, but | didn't see any cow moose.” Of course he didn’t,
because they were loaded under all the camping equipment. Andrew was just protecting
his neighbor from trouble. The Mountie, after partaking of some of Mrs. Moreton’s good
food, returned to Saskatoon.

Andy and Eddie were both hunters. Eddie was a crack shot, but was quiet and never
boasted about his shooting. Andy, however, was the opposite. He liked to tell about his
prowess. His boast was that he never took more than one shot to get his deer, so amongst
the hunters, he became known as “One Shot Andy." | have no way of knowing whether he
was that good or not. Eddie was a taxidermist and mounted many trophies for himself as
well as for others.




Andrew and Eddle Moreton's road grading outfit about 1915,

Moreton’s Separator. Andrew on top.

aq




Eddie Moreton was married, and his wife and he had one daughter, Jean. Jean rode a
white horse to school. | would often see her on the way to or from school. When she grew
Up, she married a fellow | considered to be one of my best friends, Irvin Rowatt. He passed
away early in life. Eddie’s wife passed away, leaving him alone on the farm. He was always
glad to see company. | suspect that he spent some very lonely hours. Eddie joined the
Army in World War One. He was with the 16th Canadian Scottish. He has been gone for
quite a few years, but Eddie was the type of person who will always be remembered.

Morstons' angine threshing. Androw taking it easy.

Henry and Ned Evans were earlier settlers in the Moon Lake District. | do not remember
much to write about them. | believe that Ned moved to Alberta and waskilled in a runaway
with an outfit of horses. John Evans was Henry's son. He also owned a Fairbanks Morse

tractor akearea, when he was man.
He, later, d Evans C 3 into at least
amillion dollar layout. He built many roads in Saskatchewan, Alberta and Manitoba.

Another tractor of
Lake area. His eldest son, Jim, ran that one. It was known as a hit and miss. It did not fire
even like the throttled governed. But Jim, being a pretty fair mechanic, changed it over to
throttled governed. Jim and | were near the same age and got along well together. He
always told his family that | was more like a brother to him than just a neighbor. Jim
developed multiple schierosis. | did not know he had this, but noticed he was losing
weight. One time, he rolled up his sleeve and showed one of his arms. It was just skin and
bone. It made me very, very sad to see the powerful arms, that he once had, wasted away




like that. John Evans owned a plane, and he flew out to Jim’s farm while Jim was sick. He
landed on the road running past Jim's house, and took Jim for his firstand last plane ride.

Jim enjoyed it very much. He did not live long after that, and passed away in 1969, another
of the pioneers gone.

Sometimes, Dad used his tractor for ploughing summerfallow when we were getting
behind with our work, and the weeds would be gaining on us. He purchased an eight
bottom John D thathad been larger . The
bottoms were attached to the frame in pairs, and one long lever raised each pair. Six
bottoms were too much for his tractor, 50 he only used four, and disconnected the other

Dad began raising his own horses for farm work. He bred his two mares, Daisy and Dot,
toastallion, named Sir John, that had been imported from Scotland. He was a Clydesdale
and a magnificent animal. He had a white blaze on his forehead and four white feet. The
‘white hair on his legs was long and almost to his knees. It took a ot of grooming to keep it
in shape. The colts, that we raised from this horse, gave trouble with that long hair. If they
stood in the barn, such as in the winter, they developed what was known as scratches.
They were little sores, and the horse would irritate them by scratching at them with his
hoofs. A mixture, known as pinetar, was rubbed on, and soon healed the trouble. | cannot
recall ever seeing this on the front feet, but only on the hind feet and legs. We kept on
r rses. George Buchanan, who farmed at the south end of the valley, owned a
hackney stallion so we raised a number of his colts.

In the year, 1823, we owned twenty-seven horses and then disaster struck. The horses
contracted what was known as Swamp Fever. | believe that's what it was. Anyway, most of
the horses died from it. There did not seem to be a cure. Dr. A.B. Cowan, V8. from
Saskatoon, did his best, but he could not save them all. Dr. Cowan always wrote his name
in black pencil on the walls of the barns that he visited. His name is still on Dad's old barn,
though it is quite faded now,

We were left with one outfit of horses, not too well matched. Dad decided that, instead of
buying more horses, he would buy a small tractor. He chose a Fordson, manufactured by
the Ford Motor Co. It was a four cylinder and was the forerunner of most modern tractors.
The frame was cast in two parts and bolted together. The motor and transmission sat in
line. inch ploughs at per hour. Ithad alow g
gear, which made seven or eight miles per hour. About all the high gear was good for, was.
going to dinner. The plough was an Oliver. Ithad a power lft which was a rod with aring on
the end. It extended to within reach of the operator, who had to pull once to engage a
rachet o lift the plough from the ground and pull a second time to cause it to drop into the
ground. It was a good little outfit for its day. My brother, Arnold, drove it and ploughed
many acres. When working with horses, they had to have a short rest at the end of a half
mile round. However, the tractor did not need to stop. It also travelled a bit faster than
horses, and did a better job of ploughing. In those days, it was a disgrace if a farmer did not
leave his land absolutely black. All stubble or trash must be turned under or burned. The
stubble was often burned before tilling the land. When the dirty thirties hit Western
Canada, this practice did nothing to help the problem of soil drifting.

While the advent of the combine harvester did nothing to improve the scattering of weed
seeds, it did much towards putting fiber back into the Soi. It spread the straw so that it
could be cultivated back into the soil. As for weeds, in those times, | had never seen
Russian Thistle, Canada Thistle or Sow Thistle. But it did not take many years before we
had wild oats. | recall the first Russian Thistle | ever saw. | was cutting wheat with a binder

pona about twenty feet long
Athistle had ripened the summer before, and as is its custom, had rolled the twenty feet

scattering its seed. The green plants were big and healthy. I, not knowing what it was,




Fordson Tractor hitched to John Deers Jumbo plow just to take
the snapshot. Arnold on engine and Conard on plow. Note the
reinforcing spokes In the tractor wheel placed there by black-
smith, Bort. 1924.

Arnold ploughing down sunflowers that had not been cut the
year before. Fordson tractor. 192¢.




figured the binder would take care of it It jammed into the binder canvases and stopped
them dead. | was not wearing gloves, and | had a very uninteresting time digging it out

My fi working in Ithad a lever for
setting the disk blades at an angle so that the soil was thrown out from the center each way.
Most of the disking was done double, and the disk was lapped half way so that the soil that
was thrown outwards was thrown back the next round. The disk was only seven feet wide,
s0 double disking was a slow process, but it was all we had to work with. One could do
eight acres per day.

In my first outfit, | had one lazy horse. He just would not walk up with the others, o |
devised a bowgaggle, a device described to me by me uncle, Ed Brady. | have described it
earlier in this writing. | got t all arranged and tied the string to the lever on the disk. Then, |
gave the rope or string a jerk, and called "Charlie.” Charlie stepped ahead, the string
tightened and held the board with the nails in against his stomach. He started to buck and
Kick. | was only twelve years old and | was scared. All at once, the string broke and he
quieted down. | think he was lazier than ever after that. If | had just held the string in my
hand, the gadget might have worked. But | doubt t, as | noticed that Charlie was doing an
unusual amount of scratching himself. | investigated and found that he was lousy. Thelice
were on by the thousands and were just taking all his vitality. we clipped his hair short and
ot rid of he vermin. But, as ar a2 Chrlie was concamed, he never cid have any pep. It
could have beer Butheatelikea good
Poalth, 3o there was no way of knowing

Toclip horses, we had what was known as a Stewart Horse clipper. It stood upright, and
wasapipowith ireo fecta tieboilam and ageat box on e top, The gacr boxhed crank

ther, to the clipper head. When

tho orank turned, theclipper. Asi

thehoso side ran much festerthan the crank, tdid not crank it easy. Dad usuislly held
it . the clipper di

was quite a Taskor s yeung lad on a warm spring day‘ o et s St
roaming around or sitting on the woodpile, sunning himself.

Some years later, | was seeding wheat and using six horses on a twenty run Massey
Harris drill. Dad had a in the barn. T gin the way of breaking her
toworkwasto putthe harness on her and the bridie with the bitin he mouth, so she would
become used toit. Old Charlie was having one of his worst days. He was on the outside of
thooutit.eo left the other horses tanding inthe el and led himto the barn. Then, | led
Millie outto the field. I tied 7 5
got the reins siraightened out. There ware two places on the back of the aril, 0ne at 6ach
end. madoofalioard about three feet long and ten inches wids tostand on whileseeding.
When seeding, we worked to and fro, and stood at the end where we could see the mark
madeby the ilwhes! on the 6dge ofthesoodsdares. |got anthesten, aswe called . and
p." The other acouple of seconds, and
Yook off | was o1 abls 10 hold her 25 She bucked ana tore along. | could not keep on the
whsel mark so|reined in on the other horsss and lt hr stay on the outsida. They were
going around in circles, and the drill
and other fimes over the same spot twoor (hre Limes. After a short time, she quieted down
and I was able to proceed with the job. She worked very well, but was very nervous and
wovked upagroatsweat. Afteran hourand  half, I took hr bac the the barn and hitched
had a fair idea of what was expected

00 hev and she wurked a\rlgm

When my Father came home, | told him what | had done, but not about going around and
around. He praised me for what | had done, but said | should not have tried it when | was
alone. After the wheat came up, h d looking




out across the field. He said. I can't see how come there is so many wild oats out there in
that one spot.”

All our horses were quiet and easy to handle, but the big Clydesdale team was so tall,
that | could not put the harness on them until after | was older. The fall, after | was out of
school, | was thirteen years old. Dad asked me how | would like to take the clydes and haul
aload of wheat to Saskatoon, and bring back aload of forty-five gallon drums of kerosene,
tobe used for threshing. This meant leaving home at six 0'clock in the morning and going
to the Quaker Oats Mill with the wheat; then, to Albert Dunnings Livery Stable just off
Twentieth Street West on Avenue B South; feed and water the horses and let them rest; buy
groceries; and then, hitch the team, and go out on the edge of town near the Quaker Oats
Mill, and ioad up the kerosene; head for home to arrive at ten thirty or eleven o'clock at
night

AMr.R.S. Gordon ran upthe
Mrs. Gordon had to load me fusl, Thore was 2 homemade contraption, consisting of 8
The cable d over the top of a pulley which

mmg on & beam, The beam pro(mded Srom the side of 1ne building and had a hook
arrangement, which hooked onto the rims at the top and bottom of the drum. When the
crank on the drum was turned, the cable wound on the drum and caused the drum to rise
up sideways. Then it was pushed into the wagon box, and then, had to be stood on end. |
was not strong enough to do this alone, and neither was Mrs. Gordon. Between the two of
us, we managed to load them. The man who looked after Mr. Dunning’s barn, the Palace
Livery, asked me the horses’ names. | told him Pilot and Jupiter. He said, “Your old man
must have been to church or some such place to give them names like that."

The Mill, as it was called, had a steam whistle which was blown every morning at six
o'clock, at twelve o'clock noon and again at six in the evening. Many people called this
whistle the Hooter. It could be heard up to twenty-five miles on a clear day.

One time, when | was going on this trip, | had heard that people had been held up and
robbed at the Grand Trunk Railway bridge. | had twelve dollars in a small biue snap purse,
0/ thought I would hide it in the wheat. When | got past the bridge without being held up, |
was so relieved that | forgot my purse. It was dumped in the wheat. There | was in
Saskatoon with no money to buy groceries or dinner or pay the livery stable fees. We
usually bought groceries from Jack Sklar, who ran the Comet Grocery Store on Twentieth
Street. | went to him and told him my story. He filled my grocery order and loaned me
enough cash for my dinner and stable fees. | was very, very grateful to him.

An English lady, Lady Lang, was driving under the bridge with her horse and buggy. A
hold up man stopped her and told her to hand over her money and jewellery. She slashed
him across the face with the buggy whip and drove away. The police picked up a man in
Saskatoon with a large red welt across his face. That was the end of the Grand Trunk
Bridge holdups.

As time went by, we spend many days in the wintertime hauling wheat to Vanscoy. The
standard sleigh box held sixty-five to seventy bushels of wheat. We usually loaded the
wheat by shovel the night before. There was one kind of shovel called a Manitoba Grain
Scoop. It should have been called a Manitoba man Killer. It held one-half bushel, thirty
pounds. twasnottoobad aslong as the bin was full and the shovelling was downhill. But

got the efforthad to Ithad a bail P
mr one hand and hande at the back for the other
could ly Uncle

|

£ Brady. One time, we were preparing 1o thresh oat stacks that had been Stacked over
winter. | was supposed to haul the grain from the separator and shovel it into a bin in the
granary. Uncle Ed came along, all dressed up and on his way to a rodeo that was being put




on in the Valley Park District. He said, “Ralphie, you are too little to shovel all those oats.
Get me a pair of your Daddy's overalls.” He put them on. They were a few sizes too small

He went to the machine where there were two wagons being threshed in. He hitched the.
Clydes to the one that was almost full and drove over to the granary. The door on the bin

h box

Scaop, bent over, and started shovelling oats. He never et up until the load was off. Then
he gave the Clydes each a cut with the line or reins, as some people called them. Not being
used to that, they took off on the run. Ed backed the empty wagon into the separator, and
pulled out the pin from the double trees, held them in one hand, and drove over the other
wagon tongue. Without going in front of the team to put the wagon tongue through the ring
in the neck yoke, he picked up the tongue near the wagon and backed the horses until the.
tongue was in place, put the pin in the double trees, and headed for the granary to repeat
the unloading process. We had threshed twelve hundred bushels, and he shovelled it all.

He told me once to getin the bin and push the oats back, but he threw them with such force.
that they hit the back wall of the bin, and curled up the back five or six inches.

Uncle Ed was a very rough, tough character. He could not be all bad when he would give
up his afternoon holiday to help a young lad. We boys worshipped him. We liked to go to
visit him at his farm, and to see him come to ours. He was married when he lived in the
U.S.A., but he and his wife, Carrie, were separated. When he came to Canada, he worked
for farmers in the Vanscoy area until he was able to start farming on his own.

He had driven mul inthe U.S.A. on big mules strung out,
two and two. Sometimes, in the mountains, lhe \aad team wou}d be out of sight around a
bend inthe road. He made a bet at He

hitched the horses to a load of wheat, drove to the elevator, unloaded, and drove home
again. The horses had never been hitched like that before, but he was able to show them
how. Ed was the water tank man on Ed Garlson’s threshing outfit. As he liked a drink, now
and then, he kept a bottle of whiskey hidden away. Mr. Carison was against drinking on the
job so they looked and looked for Brady's bottle. found it handing on a string
in the water tank. | am indebted to my brother's wife, Marian, whose father, Algot Ward,
told it to her.

Ons time, when Uncle Ed was working forBilMclntosh near Grandora, e came to our
farm wi ules. He was going to tow a big steam engine plough to the Mcintosh
farm. He amvau in the evenin wagon with a low box. There were oat bundles in the
wagon for the mules to eat. He tied the mules, four on each side of the wagon. The mules
‘were hungry and ready to eat, but Ed said, "Stand back, you sons of bitches.” Not a mule
muched a bit until he had cut the strings on the bundles, and said,“Eat now, God damn
dug in and ate their supper. The reader may gather from the above that he
ket melos. G the contrary e ied tham vaty wotland 1o6Kad ater nar boter
than he did himself. But they had to do as he said, or they would be chastised. | have seen
him snap the line at a horse and cut some hair loose.

Ed had a 490 Chevrolet touring car. He drove it as hard as it would go. Dad, my brothers,
and | were at his farm one Sunday for a drive to look at the crops. We were just cruising
along slowly when a car came up behind and passed in a cloud of dust. About two miles
down the road, the car that had passed had a lattire. They were out changing it. Dad said,
“Are you going to help them?" Ed said, "No way." He speeded up, and as he went past, he
yelled to them, “A fast dog runs a short race.”

Uncle Ed would hitch a ride or walk in and stay two or three days without saying
goodbye or anything. He would just walk away. The last we heard of him was when the
Shockey boys from Vanscoy (they were Ed's close neighbors when he was farming on his
own) saw him in the U.S.A., and travelled with him for awnile. Then, he took off on his way
and no one has seen or heard of him since. For many years, we hoped that he would come
walking in one day.




Ed drove us to Vanscoy one Sunday to see a ball game. The ball diamond was where
Marvin.Campbell lives now. It was Jus: two pickup teara. Lem and Ui Shackey were
came up tobat. The crowd started to
chant, *Brother to Brother. Le( s see who is best.” Lem wound up and let it go. Jim it it
hard and fa d he was out.
thought it was the Wrold Sores Lomoe! Shockey raised his boys, Carl, i Edward,
Harley, and Dale to be ballplayers. They ety good players. It was s: y would
stop work right in seeding time to go and pl
Elmer livesin mmseuanew t Heis
ingood health, but his hearing is not so good. | sure like to visit and talk old times with him.
The name of Shockey is carried on by younger members of the families in many different

When hauling wheat to Vanscoy, there would be as many as twenty teams from Pike
Lake Valley Park and farms in between. It was nice hauling in winter on sleighs. But
sometimes, when we were working in the fall after a light snowfall, the snow would freeze
to the steel rims of the wagon wheels, making it very rough and also harder for the horses
to pull. There were four grain elevators in Vanscoy, when | was first old enough to haul
grain. The Quaker Oats was on the west, and run by Jack Morrison. Next to it, was the
Pioneer Co., and Sivert Loraas was the elevator man there. At the east end, Sivert's brother,
Ole, ran the Reliance Grain Co. These elevators changed hands several times in later
years, but this is the way they were when | first knew them.

usually carried a 22rifle on these mps and shot many Jackrabbits. When | grew older, |

they became after the country was settied.

My parents were very good friends with the James family at Vanscoy. They lived on the
southside of the road allowance coming into town from the East. The old house still stands
there. Bill Hodgson owns the land and buildings now. We often put our horses in the barn
there when hauling wheat. Sometimes, we had dinner there, but usually walked over the
railroad tracks to the cafe. | left my rifle and shells wrapped in an old blanket in the sleigh
box. Ed and Claude James were going to butcher a pig. Claude got his eye on my rifle and
decided he would usetto kill the pig. Somehow, he overshotand made a hole in the side of
the barn. Luckily, there was nothing on the other side.

Inthe winter time, we left the road allowances and cut across the fields. We started these
Shrioiis on the way hioms when oursleighs were empty. One team would break track for
en, someone else would take the lead. These trails were ruts in the snow.
When i drmed the snow would fill in with the result that quite a grade of snow would be
built up by spring. It was almost impossible to turn off this grade without upsetting a load
of wheat. The sleigh runners were not very wide apart. Therefore, the sleigh tipped quite
easily. It was sort of an unwritten law that the empty sleigh would pull over. In the spring,

the land on each side was bare.

Once, when | was going with a load of wheat, | met a farmer with a load of coal. | thought
he would pull over, & f e upset, the lump coal would be sasier 1o pick out of the snow
than wheat introntof m there o thing. I went
over and asked him f he would mind turning out Ho said, | am ot tuning outand | nave
lots of time, so | can just sit here all day."” | looked over the situation and decided that | just
might make it if | was careful. | managed to get around him and back onto the road, and

way. | oft ifhe would ha athing man. | do
know that if | had been several years older, he would have turned out or one of us would
have taken a licking.




My brother, Arnold, and | were bringing home two loads of coal for Pike Lake School
after we had delivered our wheat. A sudden blizzard came up. On the prairie,
impossible to see very far, but the wind was to our backs which made it somewhat better
forthe horses. After we and we madeitto
the school. We unloaded the coal and arrived home shortly after dark.

When we boys were stillin school, Dad hired a man to work by the month. If I remember
right, the wages were forty dollars per month. His name was Henry Parmiee. He was a short
man about fifty years old. When seeding, he stood on the top of the seeder box and talked
to the horses continually. “Come on now, altogether. Kick up the dust and make it fly.
Duke, Duke, you sonofabitch. Dick, you littie bugger. Come on now, feet in time. Get a
move on.” Then he would start all over again. One might think that he disliked horses. On
the other hand, he loved them and looked after them very well. They worked really good for

im.

We used to go fishing with him on Pike Lake after his day's work was done. He would go
tothe store and buy a big bag of candy. We would fish and eat candy. We sure caught some
lovely fish. One evening, | had an extra large jackfish. We could see him in the clear water,
and figured that he would weigh fifteen pounds. | had him close to the boat, and he made a
auick tun and broke the ine and was gone. We did not have reels o ish with. and our lnes

"l could and bita piece out of a hickory

10g when that fish got away."

Another hired man, Joseph Shadwell, came from England. As he had never farmed, it
took a lot of patience and teaching to get him going. When putting the doubletrees on a
wagon, he would invariably put them on backwards. The center hole in the doubletrees
was close to one cage, and, if put on wrong, the wood would split open and render the
evener useless. He broke so many that Dad toid him if he broke another, he would be fired.
Then he started to think and had no more trouble. Joe was a likeable chap and was very
900d to us kids. Joe worked for us for several years, and then started on his own. His wife's
name was Pamela Mary. We called her Mary. They never had any children.

After a number of years, Joe brought his brother, William, and his wife, Emma, to
Canada. Bill was a druggist in the old country. The first fall he was here, he wanted a job
threshing. As he had no experience, Dad hired him as a field pitcher. The field pitcher's job
was tostay in the field and help the teamsters load up. He had to be tough between the ears.
s well as all over as it was a very hard job. Bill's hands became blistered from holding the
fork, but he stuck it out and ended up doing fairly well. When he first came to the outfit, he
said, "My word, that’s a bally long strap from the engine to the thresher.”

One day, George Forbes, a local wag and story-teller, was in conversation with Bill. It
was starting to get cold in the fall as winter was not too far away. He asked George what he
should be getting in the way of winter clothes. George gave him advice about what to buy.
Then, nesm “Theres ust one other hing. n this couniry. aman hasto be careful not to
0 you had batter get a weasel skin to pull over it.” Bill's reply was, "My
wora, 1ahall attond to thatat once.” Bl was averykeablo old English chap. | am sure he

mme, wont adjusted toour
climate and ways. They had one daughter, Ette. Fred Beal, who was & near neighbor.
decided that he woum lik Ettie as his wife. He started cauriing her and ended up at Blf's

t tha

Tikes to play cards as much aeFros Why e comes over imost every night to play.
Another time, Bill was driving his team on a wagon. He got off to pick up something on
the road and the horses took off and left him. A neighbor came along and asked what was
the matter. Bill said, “That's just the reason | don't ike Ettie to drive them. They might get
clear away from her." | sawed wood for the Shadwells many times. It was at Bill's home that




1 was first m(roduced to roast beef and Yorkshire puudmg It sure was a fine meal after
ing. Fred and Pike Lake where
they s(ay for lhe summer months. They have an aparlmem in Saskatoon for the winter.
Their nephew, Charles Buckman, came to Canada several years later. He never married
and lived in a shack in the hills, south and west of Pike Lake. His batching was not of the
best type, but, as he worked on farms from spring until fall, he did fairly well. Chuck, as he
was known, was renowned far and wide. He trapped in the winter. Deer and rabbits were
his meat diet. He became d»sahled and was placed in a home in Saskatoon where he
the Pike Lake Orphans. They
are gone now, one more mm-ly, who sharsd in the early days in the Pike Lake district.
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CHAPTER FIVE

t the south end of Valley Park, lived George Buckanan, and his wife, son, and

daughter. Their home was on the hills, close to where the hills and valley meet. Itis

now known as the Miller farm. He was a very ambitious man. He owned a 125 hp
Sawyer Massey steam engine and a 48 inch separator, and many good horses and
machinery. He did considerable breaking in the Gledhow and Valley Park districts. His
tractor pulled twelve fourteen inch plows. They were made in pairs, as most of the big
plows were, with along lever for lfting them, two ata time. George was never able o hirea
man who could go down the row and lift the plows so that the furrows had an even end. He
could do it himself.

One time, he hired abig Ukranian, who looked like he should be able to do it. They were
ploughing up o the road allowance at the end of the field, and lifting the ploughs and
turning on the road, and whatever room was needed on the other side. By the time the
engine was turned and headed back down the field, he did not have all the plows lifted.
Some of them had ploughed across the road and were ready to go. He had to start putting
the ones he had lifted back into the ground which resulted in a very uneven end. When
Buchanan saw that, he walked up tothe fellow and said, "By cracky, you are fired.” He took
over the plowman's job until he could hire another man. As they were breaking in rather
heavy soil with discs and harrows behind the plow, the engineer figured that ten plows
were enough to have in the ground. However, George would drop in the twelve. When the
engine started to work a little harder, he would lift one pair out. This often resulted in an
uneven edge to the plowed field, but Buchanan didn't care. He dropped the extra pair in
every once in a while, and, sometimes, they would make it down the half mile without the
engineer noticing the difference

The engineer's name was Andy. | cannot recall his last name. He worked there for many
years which set a record. It was said that Buchanan had a crew of men working at the farm
under a foreman; . thathe had fired, 3
twenty-eight miles; and he was bringing out another bunch, o that he could fire most of
the ones at the farm. To his credit, any man he fired was paid off in full, but he was just not
given a ride back to the city.

One fall, at threshing time, Mrs. Buchanan got the idea that George was spending too
much on meat for the cookcar. He told the cook to omit cooking meat. The next morning,
the men ate breakfast, and, instead of going to work, they went back to the bunkhouse. He
went to see what was wrong. A lumberjack from Nova Scotia pushed him against the side
of the bunkhouse, and started hitting the boards, first on one side and then the other of
George's head. He said, “Now are you going to get us some meat?” The answer was, “Let
me go and I'll get the meat.” The lumberjack's name was Skovey and he did not get fired
He was the only man that | ever heard of that backed George Buchanan down.

There was a community picnic at Pike Lake one year. My father was on the committee.
Two young lads gotinto a fight. Dad was trying whena big




upand sald, P\ppm I say, let those fellows fight.” He was cursing and swearing. | was
tepped Don'ttake any of his
sm o e big fellow made a pass at Skovey. | was only a boy and had never seen a
fight before. | did not know it was possible for one man to give another a beating like
Skovey gave the big lad. He did not use any lumberjack tactics, but he sure could use his
fists. One of our neighbors stepped in to try and get Skovey to stop. Skovey's pal grabbed
him by the back of his cllar and the seat of is pants, and gave him heave back into the
crowd, and said, “Let a citizen alone when he s d " The big fellow
was still on s foet,and trying. whon a slim, youno Show stepped up, and said, “That's
enough boys.” He turned back the lapel on his jacket and showed his badge. He was an
officer of the law in plain clothes. That was the end of the fight

Asablacksmith, Dad did much work for Buchanan. He would stop at the shop on his way
to Saskatoon and drop off twenty-four plough shares to be sharpened. He would like to
pick them up the next day on his way home. | have seen Dad working until one o'clock in
the morning. It was all hand work as he had no triphammer in those days. Other times, he
would bring a small job. While Dad was working, he would sit on a tool chest, lean back in
the corner, and, bingo, fall asleep. In his operations, he did not get much time to rest. But

, hetook it. Father

when he was sleeping Iguesslhe ringof the hammer on the anvil must have been music to
sleep by. Often times, D to farr work there. He
Sometimes o0k me with . | 6 remember the old steamer plowohing in the fied. 1t s
very hard to describe the feeling it gave me. It was the same sort of a thrill that | got years
later, watching a big bull moose running across a muskeg, his head thrown back, and his
breath steaming from his nostrils. There was something so majestic about it that it very
hard to describe.

O the way homs fram one of theso tips, we were shoating chickens (sharp-taled
grouse) heat that had not been threshed yet. We shot
Them with 2 22 il | was Just Isarning 6 Shoot but it was not hard to shoot them. They
were quite tame, and just sat there. Even after one had been shot, they did not fly away. For
some reason, Dad would not shoot more than three off one stook although there would be
a dozen or more there. He insisted that we move on to another covey. In the eight miles
from Buchanan's to home, we shot eighty-two. The reader can imagine how many birds
there were. This may sound like slaughter, but we took them home where Mother and |
cleaned them, wrapped them individually, and stored them in a barrel. It did not take too
long for a family of ten to eat that many. There was never any wasted. The Old Man never
cleaned any small game. He would skin a deer when he got one, but the small game was
done Indian style—let the squaws do it.

In the fall, Buchanan hauled considerable wheat to Birdview, asmall town, which is now
called Donavon. Ho slso hauled across the South Saskalchewan River to Dundurn afer
the river was frozen over. With no snow, the ice was very slippery. He would bring hi
horses to the shop o haye shoes ited Across he front of the shoo, was welded a i bar

edge. Atthe

afactory. Thoholes woro raady e butine bleckemith waiild heat tha shoaind shaps it

o fit the sh four threaded
heles two atthe front and one at each back end. Czulkswele madetoscrew into these, so
it . all one had to do was anewone. These
Gaulks were dipped in red paint on the bottom end The saverisoment i the paper or
catalogue read, “Red tips never slip.” Buchanan hauled wheat across the river on glare ice.
Apparently, he fi es of new ice would hold up the load. | have heard my
Dad say that the ice sagged with the weight 5o that the team seemed to be going upgrade;
however, he never broke through or had any trouble.




One spring, | was at the Buchanan farm. He had decided to cut wood for firing the
steamer. They had hauled this wood to the yard on sleighs during the winter, and esti-
mated they The Sawyer
wa ut th made biade, a
at very high speed. It cut very well Nine men were 6utting the wood into twonty Inch
lengths. Six men were bringing the poles to the saw. One man pushed it onto the saw, w
another took the cut stick and tossed it back about ten feet from the saw, where another
man threw the wood into a high pile. It was the biggest pile of wood | have ever seen around
this area. George Buchanan always did things in a big way. Firing with the wood proved to
be much better than with straw when working in the field.

When threshing, Buchanan had a crew of fourteen bundle teams, a tank or waterman, a
s(ruwmonkey anengineer, a separator man, two spike pitchers, and two field pitchers. He

side of r the spik: when
1o bandies ware unjoadad When he nesd 1006 pulled into the machine, they just had to
step over onto the top of the load instead of getting down on the ground, and, then,
climbing to the top of the next load. It was easier for the men to do that as, sometimes,
was very hard to climb to the top of a big load. | think that Buchanan had a different idea
aboutthose platforms, because, when a man was climbing up on a load, he was not putting
any bundies in the machine. Buchanan often stood on fop of the separator and called,
“Roll S0 much per bushel and he
did not want any spaces between Bundtes, im those days, the farmer always caught the
threshed wheat in a wagon box and hauled it o the granary. There, he shovelled tinto the
bin. On a big outft, they usually used three or four wagons. Even so, sometimes the
‘wagons would get ull and the farmer would not make it back with an empty one. When that
happened, Buchanan would just move the grain spout to one side, and pour the wheat on
the ground. If the farmer protested, his reply was, “You get the wheat away. I'm threshing,
by cracky.”

Buchanan built a second house on the farm for the men who worked there the year
around. It also served as the cookhouse. When doing custom threshing, a cook car was
used, and most of the men slept in a bunkhouse. One day, when | was there, Mr. Buchanan
told meto go over to the cook house and tell the cook that | should have a piece of pie. The
cook gave me a huge slab of apple pie, and it was really good. While | was there, he was
setting the table for dinner. It was a long table with benches at the sides to sit on. The
dishes were tin plates and cups. He stacked them at one end of the table, and then, placed a
cup knife,fork,and spoon on  plte, and lidt down the table. The platesalways seemed
to.end up within a couple of inches of wera tosit. He mu:
ot to o this. | think he would have made a really good curler.

Buchanan moved to Saskatoon after he sold the farm, and invested in a car agency. He
did not have much success, so he sold out and moved to the Williams Lake country in
British Columbia. He was ranching and
across the Lake by barge. He sent back some pictures of is crops tha he grew there. They
sure looked tall and heavy. That is where one of the pioneers of this area ended his days.

THE DOWLING FAMILY

Atthe north end of Pike Lake, lived the Dowling family which consisted of Mr. Dowling,
who was known as Dad Dowling, and Mrs. Dowling, known to the younger people of the
district as Gramma. The eldest boy was called Lawrence but known as Bud. Then, there
was James, who was naturally called Jim, and William, who was known as Bill. He always
said his name had to be Bill because why would anyone say, “Here comes a bird with a
worm in his William.” John, another son, was a quiet, good-natured chap, who usually
went about humming or singing a sort of doodley doo chant to himself.




Dowlings used oxen for their farm work. They usually let them out to pasture overnight.
In the morning, they would bring them into the barn for a feed of oats before starting the
day's work.

It was spring, the grass was green, and the Bulls, as the oxen were called, were not
having any trouble with constipation. John was wearing knee-high rubber boots. Just as
he walked behind Old Red, nature compelled Red to let go and he filled one of John's
boots. His brothers said it did not disturb John one bit. He just wiped it out with his hand
and went right on singing, “doodley doodley doo.”

Frank Dowling was the short one of the family; the rest of them were tall. All of them were
very active on their feet and were good at sports. Frank built the first store at Pike Lake in
which he ran the first post office. He built his store on a road allowance which was not
being used as aroad. Someane asked him, once, Now much land s store stood on, and he
said, "Sixty-six feet wide and as far as you want to go.” He brought the mail from Vanscoy
Which was the nearest rallway paint 10 Pike Laks, using a oray mare cailed Dolly, with a
buggy in the summer, and a cutter in the winter. The odd time, Frank would go for the mail
and he would e Vanscoy boys. T afew drinks. Sometimes,
Frank would spend the night in Vanscoy, and the Pike Lake mail would be a day late.
However, no one complained and he gave very good service for a number of years.

The store building was two storey, with kitchen and living room on the ground floor, and
a small cellar underneath. The bedrooms were upstairs and the stairway was on the
outside of the building. Its name, “The Handy Store”, was painted across the front of the
store. We often walked past the store on our way home from school. One evening, the
north side was covered with a large poster, very brightly colored, which read “Buffalo Bill
in performance and parade.” The circus was coming to Saskatoon. There was a picture of
Buffalo Bill on his horse, and one of Annie Oakley, standing upright on her horse's back,
going atfull gallop. She was shooting brightly colored balls out of the air with a rifle. There
were also numerous clowns. We did not get to go to the circus, but we sure enjoyed
looking at that poster.

/hen Frank moved to Saskatoon, he sold the store building to Tom Dyrdall, who livedin
the Valley Park district. Hermund Dahlen moved it to the Dyrdall farm with the Rumley.
steam engine, which was the Patriarch of Valley Park for so many years. | must mention
here that Hermund changed the family name by dropping the H, thus spelling it Dalen.
There were two H. Dahlens in the district which often caused mixups in their mail

Tom sold his farm to George Wilson who lived there many years. On account of flooding
by the South Saskatchewan Rier, the farmsteads in the Valley were all moved to higher

new house Zacharias. He moved it
s formmentIhg morihont ot P Lok which is just across the road from my holdings.
That s where the first store and post office at Pike Lake ended. | can look out my bedroom
window and see it sitiing there.

Jim Dowling was a very strong man, as were all the Dowling boys. Dad had sent my
brother, Arnold, and | to bring home some harrows from the farm where | live now. The
harrows were lying inside the fence. We would have had to go another quarter of a mile to
the gate. We decided to pull the wagon and hayrack close o the fence, and throw the
harrows over the fence onto the wagon. We were not very old at the time, and we were
having a bit of a struggle to [oad them. Along came Jim, walking down the road. He

d said, "Would you p, boys." gh the fence, leaned
Over. picked up & section of harfows In one hand, and 556 i over the fence nto the
wagon. He did the same thing with the six sections that were left. Then, he climbed back
over the fence. and said, “See you around, boys", and away he went, down the roa

Jim trapped some, but he did not work very hard at it. He liked to wait until the other
muskrattrappers had their traps set. Then, he would make a trip around the Lake, and pick
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up what rats he could find. Albert Sawyer was trapping once, and he saw Jim after one of
his raids. He said, "Jim, the next time you take a rat from one of my traps, | wish you would
reset the trap." Most people would have been riled at being accused of stealing, but Jim,

with a big smile, answered, “Alright.” It was rather hard to get mad at a man like that

The Dowling boys always dried their muskrat pelts by hanging them from the ceiling
over the kitchen stove. | have been at their house when Mrs. Dowling was frying potatoes,
and the grease was dripping from the pelts into the frying pan

Bud worked hard at trapping. The boys each had a spot where they hung their pelts.
While Bud was away on the trapline, Jim would take a couple of skins and put them with
his. When Bud came home, he would make a count and mutter to himself,"| thought | had
more rats than that."

Lester Dowling was a good baseball player. He was, also, one of the best skaters that |
have ever seen. We were trapping on the lake one fall. The ice was very smooth with no
snow. There was a large rathouse in the middle of the lake. Lester came along on his
skates, carrying a 22 rifle in one hand and a chisel for opening muskrat houses in the other,
and a bag of traps slung over his shoulder. He speeded up when he came to the rathouse.
He jumped right over it. It was at least four feet high. The distance that he was off the ice
was a good twelve feet. He landed and took off down the lake. just as though it was an
everyday occurence.

Bill Dowling was the last one to live in this district. He lived on the home place for a
number of years; then sold out and lived in a cottage near the lake. One time, when the
enumerator was preparing a voters' ist, he asked Bill, "What s your occupation?” Bill said,
+1am a gentieman of eisure.” The enumerator wrote Willam Dowing, Gentleman. After

hat, ill forsquare
ances. Bt andm were Stoam engineers and went for long runs of threshing in the fall.

Jim owned, what | believe to be, the first car in this district. It was a Reo and had
let-down top and much brasstrim. | remember seeing it at a picnic at Pike Lake for the first
time. There was quite a gathering of people looking at it

The only boys of the family who married were John and Frank. The Dowling girls were
Helen, known as Nell, Elizabeth, known as Lizzie, and Maggie, known as Mag. Lizzie
married John Forbes. Nell became Mrs. Teal. Maggie was married to Joseph Smith.

John or Dad Dowling was a tall, slim man with a white beard. He was a very active man
until a bull pushed him through a gate. He was trying to close it, and the bull knocked him
down, breaking his hip. He had been known to walk to Vanscoy,

10 961 tobacco when e had run out; then turn around and walk home again. After the
accident, he just shuffled along and was not able to get very far.

He became a teller of tall tales when he grew older. As he was unable to work, my
brothers and | would cut and stack his hay. We would go to the yard to feed and water our
horses. Dad would come out to where we were eating our lunch, and entertain us with his
stories. He told us that, in ys, when he hada atoon, h
used to plough on a nineteen mile round. He had his grub in a box, tied to the plow beam
When it came to the end of his days work, he just hobbled his oxen, had a bite to eat, and
went to sleep. He would be up bright and early to start the next day.

One time, he told about fishing on Pike Lake, when there was no snow on the ice. He had
cutthree holes in the ice and had a stick across each one, with a line hanging in the water.
He had fished all afternoon. About sundown, he decided to go home, as he had not had a
bite all day. He lifted up the first stick and removed the line. He did the same with the
second line. When he tried to lift the last one, something grabbed it. He hung on and
pulled, but it slid him right up close to the hole. “Well, do you know what happened boys. |
had tolet him go or he would have pulled me in the Lake."




Anather story was abou fishing for atfish on the Missoui River. A big fish pulled him
out fortwo miles. H gothisfeetbracedona
cancbar and held him,

A salesman came into his yard and ran over a chicken. When he asked the fellow to pay
for it, he refused. Dad Dowling said, “I just went into the house and came out with the old
double-barrel shotgun and said, 'Look here, mister, you either putup or shutup. Youitner
shit or get off the pot.” The fellow sure paid him in a hurry

Anothertime, an Indian was camped at the south end of me lake, near where the parkis
today. He was supposed to be stealing from the Dowling traps. Dad said, " went down to
investigate and that neche saw me coming and he broke camp and loaded up his buggy
and took off. | up with my 30-30, and shot every spoke out of his buggy wheel.” The truth of
the matter was that Bud and Jim Dowling were messing around the Indian’s traps. The
Indians chased them with rat spears, but they were on skates and managed to escape.

In the early days, it was the custom for anyone raising chickens to trade roosters. |
remember Gramma Dowling coming my Mother. under
arm and a double-barrel shotgun under the other, just in case she saw a chicken or rabbit

always stopped at Dowlings for a drink of water. We always went to the house and asked
permission. It was always granted with a smile; then we went to the well to help ourselves.

well deepand r raising asa
sweep. It consisted of a log about eight inches in diameter and twelve feet long, set in the
ground about ten feet away from the well. Across the top was a long pole. | think it was
about twenty feet. Two short pieces of wood were fastened to the top of the pole that was
setin the ground and the long pole fitted between them. Aniiron pin was put through which
allowed mslong poleto balance atthe top. It could o reised up and down. The long pole
stuck ui aslender pole, I toreach
ffom the top of the wall o the waler below On . lowes ond of e Siendes pole was
attached the water pail, so that when the lid of the well was open, one could pull downward
onthe pole causing the pail to lower into the well and fill with water. On the opposite end of
the pole, at the top, enough weight was added so that the full pail and the weight were
balanced. Tharalore, it took a very sight oul 1o bing the water to the surface. One had to
ering the pail,
2 minionam o1 tfon T weter o it wel wes very irony, but it was ice cold. To kids
walking home from school on a warm day, it was nectar for the gods. Of course, using the
sweep added tothe attraction. The cribbing in the well was wooden, when | first saw it; but,
later on, the Dowling boys fitted it with a concrete crib. | have never seen another well with
that sort of a setup. There may have been others in different localities but this one was
unique to Pike Lake and surrounding areas.
Dad Dowling did is farming with oxen. One tim. the .M. o Vanscoy wanted to puta
runs east and west along the north side
Srnere! e b ot not
lift his feet out of the mud. With trying and struggling, he would sink deeper and deeper
and would be hopelessly stuck. The earth moving was done in those days by hitching a
team of horses or a yoke of oxen to ascraper or slip, as it was sometimes called. A scraper
was a metal box about three feet square. It was open at the front and the bottom part was
art. Abail ran the scraper, curved outin front
three feet, and back to the opposite side. At the back attached at the sides, were two
wooden handles which stuck back thirty inches or so from the rear of the machine. Tofillit
with earth, a team was hitched to the front part of the bail which was hinged at the sides of
the bucket. As the team moved ahead, a man would grasp the handles at the back and lift




up slightly so that the front of the bucket would dig in and the dirt would be forced back

itwas full, the front would raise up
sothat it was not digging. The teamster would then Gtive histaar by whare he dirwas o
be placed, grasp the handles, and lft up hard. This caused the front to dig in, and with the
team pulling and the hinges on the bail working, the scraper would turn over, putting the
handies to the front and the open part of the bucket to the back, so that the earth slid out at
the back. To prepare it for reloading, the handles were grasped and the contraption turned
back over ready for another loa:

Dad Dowling and his oxen were called upon to start this grade. Some of his language
was rather rough while working, such as "Come on Buck and Bill, you redhearted sons of
bitches, et in there now.” They moved slowly out into the siough and back and forth until
they built up a base of sand brought from the sand hills. As soon as a solid base was
established, several teams of horses were brought in and a fairly good grade was made.

lowever, some years later, the grade settled and had to be rebuilt. | was old enough to
drive ateam by then, and was able to help with this. It was a matter of starting at the top of
the hill, loading the scraper, and then taking it out on the grade to be dumped, and back
andforth all day. It was very tiring work. In spite of his rough talk, Dad was very kind to his
oxen and they really worked well for him. | remember John Dowling, Jr. hauling bundies
on my Father's threshing outfit using the oxen

Dowling tiers in this district. | 1905.
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CHAPTER SIX
PIKE LAKE

Pike L itwas . little lake, quite deep
withver for %
springs along the west bank, and as the water table was high in the area west of the
lake, these springs flowed heavily, both winter and summer thus keeping the water level
quite constant in the lake. When the South Saskatchewan River flooded, whether from an
icejam or June flood, it always filled the lake to overflowing so that for many years it
remamed at very much the same level.
jowever, dry years came along and the springs lessened in their flow. The water in the
ake got lower and lower. After a couple of years, Pike Lake dried up almost comp\elely |
firsttime it dried up, but| 1919. T! asmall
pond in the bottom of the lake, not more han half an acre. It was situated in the middie of
the Lake just a short distance south of where the Pike Lake Park offices now stand. As for
the rest of the bottom of the lake, moss that grew
as tinder and crackled into small bits when walked on. There were cracks an inch wide in
the soil on the bottom and anyone could walk across the lake with his Sunday shoes on
and not get them more than dusty. Then the river went on a rampage and the lake was filled
once more. The Jackfish came into the lake with the flood waters and made for some
exceptionally good fishing.

Along came the Dirty Thirties and Pike L
five years. Slough grass grew in the ends and the farmers aod cutting it for hay. It was
very coarse but as feed was scarce, it came in handy. For those of my readers who know
the lay of the land, | have cut hay on the lake bottom beginning at the Scout camp and

i thatjuts out to
g horses and they never got their feet

where the road crosses the north end now. | was u
muddy.

In the early years there was excellent fishing in the lake. People came from near and far
tofish. Itthe fish were not biting, some of the fishermen would come to Dad and get him to
make them a fish spear. | have an old account book that he used in those days, and he
charged seventy-five cents for the first spears he made. Later on, he raised the price to a
dollar seventy-five. The spears were five-pronged and it took about three hours to make
one. It was iliegal to spear fish but the people had come a long way and were not out for
sport. They wented soma fehforthe winter. Touisa a spear; ona culahole n the cesbat
eighte Then putupasmall house just big enough to
Siin or faston blankets o poles frozan in the icé. It had 10 be Gark Inside 80 that the
fisherman could see to the bottom of the lake. A wooden minnow would be dangled in the
water, and, even if the fish were not biting, they would come to take a look and could be
speared. If a fish was speared just behind the gills, he would stiffen for a few seconds and
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give the spearman time to get him out of the water. The spear had barbs the same as fish
hooks so that they did not slip off. The spear had to be held under the water as the ripple it
would make when putting it in would scare the fish. Sometimes, we used a gaff hook
usually made from a stiff piece of number nine wire. | liked gaffing better than spearing as
the gaff was placed under the fish, and one lifted up to hook the fish. The fish did not seem
to pay any attention to the gaff hook and | have pushed a small fish out of the way so that |
might hook a larger one.

Years later, one of our neighbors was gaffing fish and a game warden came along and
said, "You have some nice fish there.” He replied, “Yes, but you should see what | have in
that bag over there.” The warden took his fish and he had to go to court and pay a fine. |
believe that was about the end of gaffing as | have never seen anyone using a gaff house on
Pike Lake since.

One time, when | was fishing through the ice, a man named Charlie Broughton came
along and asked if the fish were biting. When | told him they were not, he took off his
overcoat and laid down on the ice beside one of the holes where | was fishing. He pulled
the coat over his head and looked down in the water for perhaps five minutes. Then he
stood up and said, "Ralph, you might just as well go home. You will not catch any fish
today.” I figured that he pr he wa I stayed there
and fished for two hours and | never got a nibble. To this day, | wonder how he knew that
the fish were not biting. He might have told me if | had asked him, and then again he might
not have,

Around 1909, people were starting to use Pike Lake as a summer resort and a place to
hold picnics. Four brothers Ira, George, Arthur, and Howard Cook, came to this area. Ira
and Howard filed on homesteads. George started the first boat livery on Pike Lake. He had
several good rowboats, a couple of canoes, and a beautiful little motor boat. The motor
boat was powered by a single cylinder motor which was started by grasping a handle on
the flywheel and turning it. The flywheel was in a horizontal position on top of the motor.
The boat putt-putted its way along very well and George was kept busy on Sundays and
picnic days selling people rides. It heid six passengers besides the driver. | believe he
charged fifty cents per passenger for a trip around the lake.

Ira's homestead was the quarter section where St. Martin's Church now stands. The
quarter was divided by the lake 50 that he owned land on the east side as well as the west.
Art Cook did not stay around these parts very long. Howard proved up on his homestead
and worked several years for us and drifted away. | do not know where. Ira cleared the
underbrush from a patch on the east side of the lake. The spot became known as Ira’s.
Clearing, The land which Ira owned on the east side is now known as East Bank subdivi-

sionan, Irasold his forLake
Athabaska. Ho always ed an reameds of s ik Athabaska coun(ry
ourhome. When theyard, &, young

feller”, and then grab my hat or cap and throw it on top of the nearest bmldmg Teoudnot
climb up there to get it so | would head for the house (probably bawling). Mother would
come outand retrieve my headwear with a long bamboo fishpole. Mother got tired of this.
One day, after Ira had tossed my haton top of the granary, she walked up o Ira and said,
there, young feller", grabbed his hat and sailed it near to the peak of the granary. She
said nothing more. Ira, with a very red face, took the bamboo pole and got both our hats
down from there. Needless to say, that was the end of the hat throwing.

George sold his boats to Harry Forbes and he, too, headed for Lake Athabaska.

People from Saskatoon were coming to the lake more and more. Mr. W.P. Bate built the
first summer cottage there. He transplanted the first spruce trees in the Pike Lake district.
They stand there today as a monument to the Bate family. though | suspect that very few




people know how these trees came to be there. Mr. Bate was secretary of Saskatoon
schools years. When Pike Lake, aModel T. Ford. |
do not know what year it was but the radiator was made of brass. The Bate family often
e to our farm to buy milk, butter and eggs. and got to be very good friends with our
fam

As hme went on, more cottages were built. Sheriff L.G. Calder, Fred Webb, Frank
Tunnycliffe, and Doctor Campbell, who was named "Barney go fast” because he owned a
MeLaughlin car and droveit as fast as it would go, each had a cottage. There were several
other cottage owners whose names | do not recall. They joined together and formed what
was known as the Saskatoon Motor Club. They built a clubhouse on the edge of the lake
just down the bank from where the Park offices now stand

It was a two-storey building and the bottom part was open toward the lake. Half of the
lower part was floored and the other hal, the lake bank was dug away o that boats could
berowad in and uso the loored part a5 dock. The young peoblefrom th cattages often
gathered on this dock in From the
docka door led to the outside of the bunmng and stair steps which led to the upper flooron
ground level. The ioor was covered with maple flooring which made a very good
dance floor. On the front of the building facing the lake was a verandah. It had a fancy
ralling which extended up akout thrse festfrom the floor. tha 1op part was enclosed by

i Insi i

and auegemer itmace avery lovely piace to it on & hot day. To the oredit of the Saskatoon
Motor Club, they did not operate as an exclusive club but allowed the local people to use
the building for dances and other aifairs. Many years later, the building was starting to
settle as the lake bank was quite soft, 5o the top part was cut off and moved back a short
distance from the bank and the lower part was demolished. It was in that building that my
wife, Vickie, and | held our wedding dance.

When Pike Lake was made into a Provincial Park, the old clubhouse was moved to the

itis sillin use. that old building could tell if it could

talk. Tt Auto Club July Ist, Dominion
Day. There were motorboat races, canoe races, diving contests, and log-rolling contests.

I logeroling, #ey dsed s fvanty inch log, twenty feet kg & man [n calked boots

Tho othor o fllin s water. Sometimes, 5ok quits a whila for on of the Contastants o
be dunked. One time, a man gave an exhibition of log-rolling. He was billed as a river driver
who had worked on bringing rafts of Iogs down rivers in the spring of the year. He stood in
the middle of the log that
10 0ne end of the log, causing the other end 1o rise out of the water. Then, he went to the
otherendand torise. Bac} he log he went, and,
s s00n as he was back to where he had started, he jumped a distance of six feet and
Janded on another log and atartad it spinning. He was Just 2 graceful s & ballet daner
On land, there would be a baseball tournament with enough teams to start in the
. Bingo. They called it "Housie, Housie”
then. I think World War|. Another game
they called a coconut throw. Rods three fect long were stuck in the ground with a ring at
the top in which coconuts were placed. For twenty-five cents a player was given three
baseballs and he pitched them at the coconuts. He won any that were knocked to the
ground. About the middle of the afternoon they called it quits as so many coconuts were
being won that they were losing money. There were hot dogs, soft drinks, and ice cream
concessions. A sign by one booth read "Hit the trigger and duck the nigger.” A man with
his face blackened sat on astool. It was rigged so that when the player pitched the ball and
hit the trigger, the stool pitched forward and threw him into a large vat of water.




Onevery popular pastime among the young people was catching a Sreasy pio The pig
black.

gathered around the orate NoIGing the pig. When the pig 6ame out of the rate, he did not
know what was expected of him but he had no intentions of being caught and would run
and dodge in great style. Some grabbed him by the tail and others tried for a leg. A pig is
hard to catch at any time, but a greasy pig is something else. They always used a pig that
would weigh about sixty pounds, small enough to be very active and large enough to be
quite strong. One year, they obtained a pig from the Henry Sawyer farm and Henry's son,
Stanley, was in He had on hi d as the pig ran close to him,
he made a dive and grabbed the pig in a bearhug and hung on. It was hard to tell after the
pig had finished squirming and kicking which had the most grease on.the oy or Stanley.
However, Stanley won. Some of the that
the Sawyer farm, Staniey had it trained fo come wheh he called it. However, the jadges
500n put them right on that score as there was no truth in their protes!

The Saskatoon Motor Club made quite a few improvements such as a bath house with
separate cells where one could change clothes, a tennis court, and a baseball diamond.
They also started a golf course. It was not safe to leave any money in one’s clothes whil
swimming as there was no way of locking the cells. Sometimes, there would be five or six
people hanging their clothes in the same cell.

As time went on, some of the older members of the Saskatoon Auto Club passed away.
Anather club was formed called the Lakesido Couniry Glub. They hired s caretaker and
made many

w many persons were
int. | was hired on waskends o collsct this fee. Mostof the people paid iadly bot some
protested. | would have to go into a detailed explanation as to why they were being
charged. One fallow was nof satisfed with my explanalion so| told him he would have to

of his car and said, "l am so
lal and | am golng lo kick you in he

and 50 and | have never taken any lip from any o
nuts.” He made a at gtodo.
away, he was glad to get back in his car and pay the sevemymve carits, Ono summer was
enough of that for me so when | was offered the job the next year, | declined.

I believe it was the year, 1912, when Hugh and Nancy Forbes and their family came to
Pike Lake from Wisconsin, U.S.A. Their family consisted of six boys and two girls. The
boys were John, Harry, George, Frank, Charlie and Steve. The girls were Mo and
Goldie. They wereall Frankand C n this
area very long and want back to the States. Jonn was marriod and ook up a homéstoad

George never married. Harry never married until years later. Frank and Charlie were
married when the came here. Steve married Mary Dahlen, daughter of Knut Dahlen, one of
the first settlers in the Valley Park district. Their three boys were Ben, Karl, and Charlie.
Their daughter was Elaine. Minnie became Mrs. McComb and Goldie married Henry
“Hank” Mohr, brother of Carl Mohr who was quite renowned as a baseball pitcher. He was.
aspit ball pitcher and | can remember seeing him in the ball tournaments at Pike Lake with

achew of slippery elm bark in he could spiton the ball
However, the spit ball - John Forbes family
are Earl, Robert, and Margaret Hmy had two gms, Jean and Patsy.

When the Forb abuildin

1o be a restaurant with living quarters in e back.l-was ot -top building with a front
‘which stuck up in the air about two feet above the roof top. Across the top of this front was

sign in letters, eighteen inches high, which read Restaurant. Many stores around the
country were built in this style. George, Harry, and Goldie lived there with their parents.
Mrs. Forbes and Goldie served many fine meals there. They were exceptionally neat and
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clean personally and they kept their cafe in immaculate condition. They had some very
busy times on weekends and days such as the Dominion Day celebration.

Hugh Forbes was a big man and a very jovial type of fellow. He had a stoppage in his
speech which made him drop the first letter of aword. One time, when | was at their place,
M. Forbes was cutting up som meat. They had 2 Gordon Setter dog named Sam. This

day, Sam wes barking us o be barking as far a | could see. Mr. Forbes qot tred of the
continual yapping 5o he went to the door with the butcher knife in hand and said, “'am, ‘am,
you'on ofa'itch, if you ‘on't it that 'od 'amn ‘arking, Il ‘ome out 'ere with this ‘od " anin ifo
and'ake you'od ‘amn ‘uts out." It struck me as very funny. After all these years, | can still see
him standing there.

M. Forbes was a small very energetic woman. As o often s the case in large familie.

allthose big is. By that, 1 do
she just ruled the roost in hor quiet way: One time, \ihen the boys were getting a bit
s. Forbes said, "Hugh, speak o these boys.” Hugh turned to the boys and said,

“aio oye." Georas and Frank ianorted a stammet i {heir speech but none of the restof
the family had this. Harry was red-headed and had lost a leg and wore an artificial limb.

They builta building which they called abooth. |t was about twenty fostlong by ton fest
wide
Back where chocolate bars, Ghowing G, popcorn, peanuts, Gracker Jack, soft piy
and ice cream were stored. Their buildings stood just north of where the Pike Lake
Provincial Park offices are today. They had a small barn which stood NW of where the
tennis courts are today. They kepta cow and a team of horses whose names were Bob and
Indian.

Harry Forbes purchased the boats that George Cook owned, including the motor boat
that was the first one on Pike Lake. He built a boat dock just down the lake bank from the
restaurant. He also built five or six boats. They were flat-bottomed and quite heavy but
good serviceable craft. He painted them white with green trim. He also painted names on
them such as Tecumseh, Pontiac and one was called White Hope. He got the name, White
Hope, from the fact that anegro, Jack Johr the
‘world at that time. Any white boxer who came up against him was known as a White Hope.
Harry ran his boat livery for a number of years and sold out to Henry Sawyer, who farmed
west of the lake. Henr, mall cabin close to the boat dock to stay in while looking
after the boats. He also kept bathing suits for rent.

Henry once made a bet of ten dollars that he could swim across Pike Lake with his
clothes on and his pipe in his mouth. He won the bet. The man he had bet with paid up and
shook hands and said he was glad to pay a man who could perform such  fe:

Edmund Lehman, who had purchased Ira Gook's land and built a cottage there, built a
boat. It was the largest boat ever on Pike Lake. It was powered by a two cylinder marine
motor and was quite fast for those times. He painted it white and placed a flag pole on the
prow. Altogether, it was a very beautiful boat. Mr. Lehman was very good friends with Dad
50 he often visited at our home. My sister, Mildred Alma, was a cute little girl. Mr. Lehman
liked her very much so he named his boat, the Mildred A. There was always a motor boat
race at the Dominion Day Regatta which the Mildred A. always won. One year, the judges
decided to handicap this boat. Mr. Lehman got wind of this and changed the propeller on
his boat, equipping it with one that would drive it faster. Much to the surprise of everyone,
the Mildred A. won again. The motor boats of those days seemed quite fast, but just about
anyone of the outboards of today would run circles around them.

Mr. Scott also had a boat and cottage at Pike Lake. His boat was red and was powered by
athree cylinder motor, but it developed less horsepower than the Mildred A. It was the
second largest boat on the lake and it was known as “The Red One."
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George Forbes built a grocery store near the Forbes Restaurant and took over the post
office after Frank Dowling moved away. When the Lakeside Country Club took over.
George's store was on land acquired by them so he decided to move. He placed his store
on the land where St. Martins Church stands today. That store burned and he replaced it
witha larger one. He ran that one until his death: then his brother, Harry, who had taken up.
ahomestead at Makwa, Saskatchewan came back and took over. He operated it until his
demise Then the building was sold to my brother-in-law. Fred Bond. and he moved itto his
farm. It remains Fred and Edith’s home today.

Mr. Underhill buil sat. He put his son,
Harold, and his chum, Howard Schiener. in charge. They did alright for a number of years.
They started buying things such as cars. saxaphones, uitars, and riding horses. Instead
of paying attention to business. they hired a girl to Iook after the store so they could be
away in the hills riding horses It was not too long before they started calling on Dad
Underhill for money and soon they were ready to fold. Of course. they were Forbes's
opposition and George. with his witty ways, named Harold and Howard, "the Doo Dads"
aftera pop: the day When the, hesaidin
his stammering speech. "I guess the DDDDOO Dads have dddone DDDad for all they
can " It is impossible o get George's stories down on paper as funny as they sounded
when listening to him The pause caused by the stammering added to the anticipation of
what was coming next

A couple of George's stories are as follow. They were told to my Dad and | one night
when we were at his store. He took a girl, a "darb" he called her. for a canoe ride and they
were wearing bathing suits. Apparently, her suit was a bit torn and exposing her to
George's view, so she said, “George, have you gota pin?” He replied. “I've got at pin alright
but it's a mighty blunt one.

In the early days. it was custormary to have a chamber pot in the bedrooms. The Pike
Lake school teacher was boarding at the Forbes home. Now. Mrs. Forbes usually looked
after this vessel but she took sick. and it fell to George to empty it Here is the way he told
about it. "Bbby Gggod, Bert, Mmmother took sick and | hhhad to titake over her duties, and

Wwwas $ss0 big tithat tttwo Scotch men could not have rolled over it with prypoles
Wwwhy tttwo tttall Indians could not ssshake hands over it. Wwwhy tttwo greyhounds
cccouldn't jjump over it.”

Onetime, my Uncle Ed Brady was in the store and George started on one of his tales. Ed
said, “Damn it George. | know you are lying and you know you are lying so why don't you
stop.” George said, "Nnnow Eeed”. but he discontinued his story. | could relate some
really filthy stories that George told but | think | shall stop here and try to write something
more interesting

After Harry came back to run the store, he took to drinking quite a bit. In those days. it

th t toseea home from town drunk, but Harry was
the only man | ever saw going to town in that state. He owned a half-ton Ford truck, one of
the first V8s. k nter. About amile from
my place, his truck stopped. He needed some gas to pour in the carburetor, so he
unscrewed the plug in the bottom of the gas tank and dropped itin the snow. His gasoline
all ran out on the ground. He walked to my neighbor's farm. They phoned and asked if |
would take some gas to the truck for him. I hitched up my team and my neighbor and | went
tothetruck. We left blac} y up. | whittled
aplug from a chokecherry bush. pouredin the fuel. and, o and behold, the truck started. |
drove the truck, and my neighbor brought the horses back to his place. | took the team
back home to the barn: then walked back and we got Harry into the truck. It was a quarter
of amile from where we started to my driveway and he got off the track twice. | asked him to




let me drive. He said, “If | can't drive this truck, nobody can.” So| got out and started in the
driveway to go home. | looked back and he was off the track again. | went back and
shovelled and pushed and got him going. Then | said, “Harry, | have always wanted to drive
V8 just to see how they are for power.” He slid over in the seatand said, “Try her out. She
sure has got L." We made t o the store without too much mre troutle. His wife ssried
chewing him out, but he was 100 drunk to pay much attention to her. He ust
wait until | Unioad the grocerios and | willdrive you home.” Ye gods, afer ol nad gone
through to get him there, he wanted to drive me home. | walked down to the edge of the
lake. My brother, Glenn, had driven across the ice. He picked me up and took me home. |
tell youitsure felt good to gethome where Vickie was waiting for me with a nice, hot cup of
tea

John Forbes homesteaded on the NW of 20-34-6-W-3rd. Later on, he sold it to my Dad
and moved to Saskatoon for a while. Gity life did not appeal to him 5o he came back and
bought the SW of 20-3¢-6-W-3rd and started marketing gardening. He called himself the
“Gorn King." He did very well at gardening. He was married to Lizzie Dowling whom he
called Biddy. The way he talked to her was quite funny. My brother, Glenn and John's son,
Earl, went to school together and Glenn often stayed overnight with Earl. Biddy got upfirst
in the morning and started to make a fire in the cookstove. She was making a lot of noise.
John called out, "God damnit Biddy, are you making a fire or taking the stove apart?”

Onetime, | was cutting wood for John. At dinner, there was no pepper on the table. “God
damnit Biddy, where's the pepper?” She said, “In the cupboard.” He said, “Now ain't thata
hell of a place for the pepperto be.” Another time, he said, “Hurry up and get dinner or | will
bounce a plate off your old head.” Biddy was making tea in a syrup tin. When she poured
John's tea, some tea leaves were in his cup. He remarked, “God damnit, Biddy, one of
these days | will have to getyou atea strainer.” All this was said with a twinkle in his eye as
he really thought the world of Biddy.

John was a great storytelier, as were all the Forbes boys. One time, he came to my farm
t4hen | was ctting soed potatoes. He sald,  That i frio way 1o out sood potatoce, Let me
show you how.” He sat down on the box that | had been sitting on and started cutting
Potatoes. | could not aee any difference In the way ho cut them and the way | had been
doing it. | think he just wanted a place tosit down and visit. Elwood Harvey, my brother-in-
law, was staying with us. He was about nine years old. John started telling stories and
Elwood just stood there taking in every word. He told about trapping and hunting and from
that onto many subjects. | saw John a couple of days later, and he said, "Did you see that
God damn kid the other day when | was lying. His eyes were bugged out tilyou could have
knocked them off with a stic

John told about ane time when ho wasfixing Harry's motorboat. He was stting on the
deck
of the boat. She was wearing a skirt Ditas panties. When John Iooked upat her, she said,

. Forbes, what do you think of that?” He replied, I think you had better cover that up
and go home before sems young fellow pries a hip off you."

Onefall, John the lake. Astheice it, he was tending his
iraps on kates. Ho found a lynx n one of i rape <o hegmauunmknmwun Hemadsa
swipeatthe lynx and d heslidrightinto it. The Iy

the trap chaif would et t John scrambled out of here and came over to.0ad's ki
shop where Dad and Unle Bill Kinzie were doing some work. He said, “I have caught the

alynx.Canl quntoshoot it?” Dad and Uncle
8l were interested in soeing such a big Iynx 5o they walked back with him. There in the
trap was a small Iynx kitten a bit over a year old. | have never laid on my back on the ice
looking up at a lynx at close range, but | can imagine it would look extra large.




John was a big man and he had taken on ot of weight. He was at our place buying some
oats 50 he stepped on the platform scale and asked Dad to weigh him Dad pushed the
weight over and the scale balanced at three hundred and five pounds. Dad said. "My god
John. do you weigh that much?” John replied, “What do you think | am Bert. a child.* We
had put the oats in large bags and they were sitting on the ground beside the scale. John
was driving a low-wheeled wagon with just the bottom box and a piece of plank across the
toptositon Hedrove closetothebags My brother. Arnold. and I thought we would have
to it the bags into the wagon John reached over with one hand. picked up a bag of oats
and set it in the wagon. He never got off the seat o we set the bags close to him and he
Ioaded them ail

Anotner time, he came (o buy a pig. Of course. Mother asked him to stay for coffee. John
was telling about a diet he was on_ He told Mother he was eating cracked wheat porridge
“Why Florence,” he said, “| feel s0 g0od | could walk right up to the side of a house and lift
it After lunch, we went to the pig pen where there were about twenty pigs. Dad said take
your pick John chose the one he wanted Then he said “Get in there and get him boys |
darsen't ift with my damned old side * John liked to be called big Jack the Trapper He
said that when he came to this country all he owned was an Old Woman. a 22 rifle. and two
dozen steel traps

After Steve Forbes was married. he farmed his father's-in-law land for several years. We
were threshing there one fall and most of the crew were going to sleep in the barn. We had

for the night wh tosee Hewas carryinga

kerosene lantern. He placed it on the floor and sat down on a pile of hay He started to tell
stories. Ho stayed unil midnight and he never let up talking. Some of the tles ho fold
cannot one he told
intotown post Oneno ot ahead of the other
25 horses often did when rasting. A feliow came along the sidewalk and said, "Say, old
chap. one of your horses is faster than the other.” The Englishman replied. “Oh | don't
know about that. | just drove them twenty miles and that's ail he gained on the other one

Steve was known as a man who did not like to exert himself or as his brother. George.
said he was just plain damn lazy. Steve's brothers liked to tell about him. He was going to
the bush to cut wood 50 he sat in the house all morning sharpening his axe. He honed it
until it was so sharp it would cut a sheet of paper_After dinner. he hitched the team and
droveto the bush. He was not there long when the axe slipped and cut his foot. He jumped
in the sleigh and headed for home as fast as the horse could go. When he arrived home. he
said. "I have cut my goddamn foot nearly off * He removed his overshoe and there was a
twoinch cutinit. Next came his felt boot. It was cut also. Then aheavy wool sock, the same
thing But when he looked at his foot. there wwas not even a scratch on it. “Well.” said
George. “That was one more day he did not have to work * The Forbes family were good
neighbors and they ran their store and concessions very well for many years.

When i Lakeside Cauniry Gl st took over,they hired Hany Sawyer as carstaker
s Sawyer helped with the boats. |
would like to say that Mrs Sawysr e one o1 ing st women | nave Sver Known Shawas
almost like a second Mother 1o me When Mr. Sawyer grew older. he retired and sold his
boats and canoes to Jack Oteskyn who ran them until people started bringing their own
boats to the lake

1 often worked for Mr_ Sawyer on weekends, renting boats and canoes. He told me to
never rent a canoe to a drunk man He was afraid they might tip over and possibly drown
One Sunday. a middle aged man came to the dock and asked for a canoe. There was one
canoe left at the dock. It was equipped with nice cushions. The man had on a suit, white
shirtand tie. | did not notice anything different about him except that he did not have much
tosay Ilethim take the canoe When he was about twenty feet from the dock. he stood up.




leaned over, and put a hand on each side of the canoe. Then he put his feet one on each
side and stood up. There he was standing on the top rim of the canoe, balanced perfectly,
and looking straight ahead. | said, “You are pretty good.” He looked over at me and went
headfirst into the lake. The water was almost up to his chin but he pushed the canoe overto
the dock, gathered up the cushions, climbed up on the dock, pulled a very wet five dollar
billoutofhis pocket, anded ito me and1ook offup the bank. I never saw himagain. There

be
Gutof useuntltcould for boat 1 could tell
Mr. Sawyer was mad but he did not say much.

Mr. Sawyer finally promoted me to driving a motor boat. | was heading down the lake
with a load of passengers. A girl, about fourteen years old, was trailing her hand in the
water when a jackfish came up and bit her fingers. | had to turn back and get some first aid
forher.1 thankful that| pping when jackfish with those
kind of ideas were around.

In 1926, Harry Hoyte rented the store that had been run by Underhiland Schisner. Ha
became d took away agood bit ness. After acouple of
years, Harry bought  farm in the Moon Lake area. His wife, Clara, their daughter, Grace,
andtheirson, Joe, came to the store to live. Grace went back to Saskatoon and worked for
the Hudson Bay Co. there. Joe was still going to school. Mrs. Hoyte ran the store. Harry
farmed and trucked the supplies for the store from Saskatoon. Mrs. Hoyte was very
well-liked by the cottagers and obtained a large percentage of their business. Harry did
some commercial trucking around the country such as grain and cattle hauling. He also
did considerable butchering. He had learned the trade in England. When he was an
apprentice, the boss would say, “Well Harry, you are the head butcher today.” Harry said,
“I thought at first | was being promoted but il he meant was that | would be skinning the
head of the animal.” He learned the trade very well and could kill an animal and dress it
quicker than any man | have ever seen. He boasted that he was fined in England for taking
the skin off a sheep before it had quit kicking. They ran the store and also took over the
post office. When Mrs. Hoyte retired, Joe took over the store. | do not remember whether
Joe was married before he took over the store or after. Anyway, he married Laura Stewart.
Joe served in the Air Force during World War Two. When he returned, he took over the

That houses the Pike Lake

vamcm Park offices.
Mrs. Hoyte moved to the farm with Harry. When they grew older, ey purchitseas

cottageat lived there. jarry and Clara
Haylo passed away whil thoy wera til living n thelr coltage. @ paic ol oldumers aho
their bit. Joe and Laura h ta the Park. They have

two daughlevs Janice and Lynn.

also purchased the quarter of land where the beach and campground are now. He
cioared the brush off along the lake bank. Henry Sawyer, who owned the land before Joe
bought it, had cleared all the trees and brush off the area which is now the park parking
grounds. My brother, Arnold, and | broke that piece for Mr. Sawyer and he grew oats on it
for a number of years. Joe had the idea of making that land into a park and a place for
cottages. He hauled sand from a sandpit on the edge of the hills. He started out using a one
ton truck and was loading the sand by hand, hauling it to the side, and unloading it the
same way. Then he gota hoist for histruck. | had a small front end loader and | went down
there and helped him for awhile one fall. He built up the area with sand where he was
figuring on having cottages; then he built a cottage there and called the spot, Moose
Woods Park.

Itwas not decided to make Pike Lake
into a Provincial Park, so Joe sold out to them. They came in with larger equipment and




builtabeach which s one of that!
in. They pump water from the South Saskatchewan River to keep the water level high in the
lake. They employ a maintenanca crew who kesp things i p op shape, When they were

forthe beach g for sand that was a bit coarser than the
521088 101 lake. | was Gonvarsing with 1 foraman and mentionod that 1 know apout
a gravel pit in the PFRA Pasture where we sometimes got excellent mortar sand. Thes
checked and it was just the kind of sand they wanted. They went to the pit and built a four
foot wire fence with cedar posts and put a padiock on the gate. That was the end of people
in the district getting mortar sand from there.

1 was in the area hunting last fall. The fence has fallen down and it looks as though the
sand has all been dug out of that pit as there are no signs of anyone working there.
However, it was government property. | suppose that when we removed sand from there,
e wore actually steaiing it In th carly days. people fust helped themselves to wood.
fenceposts, or sand ty. T! grewin this area were
Giamond willow and they lasted very well Tert wens type of willow that grew on low
swampy ground and had smooth bark. It did not last much better than poplar.

On the first of July, the Saskatoon Pipe Band came to the celebration at Pike Lake. | liked
the bagpipes and followed them as they marched about the grounds. A band came from
Birdview sometimes on weekends. The name, Birdview, was changed to Donavon some
yearslater. | . One s that it because of
the mail getting mixed up between Birdview, Saskatchewan and Broadview, Saskatche-
wan. The other is that there was a Donavon family who had a relative in England called
Lord Donavon. He made a generous donation to Birdview providing that the name be
changed to Donavon.

After Henry Sawyer retired from the caretaking job at the Park, Fred Reeves took over.
He held the job for many years until the government made Pike Lake into a provincial park.
They built a really good bath house, a concession building, many campsites and picnic
sites with tables and barbecues. In general, it was made into a very nice park. They do not

the Lakeside Country Club and a tennis court. | do not play golf but | am told that the Pike
Lake course is one of the better ones. Altogether, itis a nice place to go. There has been an
attendance of ten thousand on more than one weekend.

Before the park was established, Mr. Elmer Horner moved a dance hall which he had
built at Crystal Beach, Harris, Saskatchewan. He took the building apart and moved it to
Pike Lake in sections, using wagons and horses. It had a maple floor which Mr. Horner kept
in beautiful shape. He was very fussy about his property; so much so, that he was not a

in fairly well, but he datplaying for

square dances.

One night, the crowd wanted to have a square dance so they asked Earl Lennox, who
had ridden from the Gledhow District, if he would play for it. “Sure thing,” said Earl who
‘was wearing chaps, a cowboy hatand spurs. He went n the door and bowlegged his way to
the front of the hall, his spurs cutting two little scratches right from the door to the stage,
where Mr. Horner was sitting with his beloved violin which he did not ike anyone to touch.
Earl grabbed the violin out of Horner's hands. After a few rakes across the strings with the
bow, he said to the pianist, “I play in the key of dee.” He broke into a peppy square dance
tune. The crowd went wild. The people from the city figured they were back in the wild
West again. When that dance was ended, they applauded for more. Earl obliged with
another. iolin (which had never before been put
anywhere but in its case when it was not being played) on a chair and scraped his spurs
along the floor and outside. Horner was too dumbfounded to say anything, but his face
was sure red.




wboy. A coupl the Valley Park Di
horse that pvcved 066 quite a bucker. They Invited Earitotry his handat rding It Earl got
on the horse. It started to buck and Earl went flyi . He ianded so that his face hit th
dirt. He got up and said, “I sure ran my old snoot in the ground that time, didn't 1" It was
getting late in the evening but the boys talked him into trying once more and off he went
again. He said, “Well boys, it's getting too dark to get onto his pitch 5o | will have to come
back some other day, and ride him." But he never did. Another time, Earl was at a sale in
which he had some cows to be sold. He was siting on his horse. Aunt Cora went over to

nher Mother, Earl?” He replied, “Damn
fine, going to boat hell She then asked him i one of is cows was a good milker. Hesaid,
s, sho s an excaptionslly good milkar Infact, | ave never seen abettar milk cow. But
totell you the truth, Mrs. Kinzie, it woul get the milk out
of her'~ Earl was a rough but 8 very fikeabla character.

Horner's Hall was named Fairview. He sold it to the Lakeside Country Club, who ranitfor
awhile and sold it to Gordon Beal. He moved it onto his property and some years later, he
tore it apart and sold the lumber. The house that was attached to the hall was moved to
near where the park offices are now and became the home of the caretaker, Fred Reeves.

jhen Fred retired, he sold his house to Orville Smith. He moved it near to the Eastview
Store. Orville has passed away now, but his wife, Nellie, still lives there.

Pike Lake has seen many people come and go and many so called improvements have
been made over the years, but never again will it be the beautitullittle unspoiled lake that |
knew as a boy.




CHAPTER SEVEN

lumber he would need
20 brought i fo the yard. He hen tore the 016 504 fool off 1he 1 169 house and buil
frame of two by fours around the old log walls. The studs were long enough so that the
building would be one and one-half stories high. The tents, that we had lived in when we
first came, were set up again to live in while making alterations. Dad had the studs up and
the rafters for the roof, but no boards except for a few at one side. It was a warm summer
day. Suddenly, a greyish black cloud formed in the north-west. There was a lot of thunder
and lightning and some large drops of rain, and all at once, down came the hail. | had been
playing around the building. | was bareloot and had an very it cothes. When it startsd
to the west put
oot and
500 warm again, Thalwas my irsthall storm. It was not very bad one. By the time | was
thirty years old, | had seen some rip snorters.

In the fall of 1915, Dad decided to build a room on the south end of the old house. It was
sixteen feet by twelve feet. He did not get it finished before it snowed. He and some others
decided to go moose-hunting in the Tisdale country. They drove there with a team of
horses and a sleigh. Mother was more than a little provoked but she did not get her room
finished until the next summer. Dad finally hired Mr. Walter Davidson Hall to finish it. He
was a carpenter who had taken up a homestead in the bend of the lake. He and his wife,
Edith Evelyn, worked on farms in the summer and lived in their little homestead house in
the winter. When they grew older, they lived there the year aroun

Dad leased all the land in the bend of the lake for pasture excepting the Hall place. | can
remember going for the cows in the evening and sometimes they would be near the Hall
homestead. The Halls often sat outside their house in the evenings and sang songs. It
sounded very nice. One song that they sang was “Silver Threads Among The Gold.” | liked
that one very much and would stand spellbound, listening until they had finished. The
pasture was very large and was heavy bush in spots, making it hard to find the cows. We
always had a bell cow. But sometimes, when the flies were bad. she would stand in the
brushin the shade and the bell would not ring. There was a clump of cottonwood trees not
far from the Hall house. If hearthe bell, we fthose trees and
would get a good view of the pasture. There would usually be several animals out in the
open where they could be seen from the tree.

My brother and | went to the Halls one evening. Mrs. Hall said, “Walty, the lttle boys must
be thirsty. Please get them a drink.” Walty went n the house and came out with two glasses
of araspberry drink. It was sure good and “the little boys” quite often got thirsty. | doubt if
we made a nuisance of ourselves as | think the old couple were very glad of company.
Sometimes they would not see anyone else for days at a time. But what boy considers
whether he is a nuisance or not.

I do not remember the year, but as time  Went or\aid more moriey e coming In/Dad
nd h




The Halls decided to move away so Dad bought their holdings and they sold their
furniture. Dad paid them their money and took them to Saskatoon to get on the train. He
I thom atthesation and went o put isteem nthe barn; then walked back o nestation
& train or at the stat them
again. Mrs. Hall was very good friends with my Mothar and an of my sisters was named
Edith Evelyn after Mrs. Hall. urel 0 Mother to let her
they were. No one knows what happened and as far as | know, the police were never
notified. Dad and Mother took the attitude that "If that's the way they wantt, OK." | suspect
now thatthere must have been foul play. That episode remains one of Pike Lake's unsolved
mysteries.

When going for the cows in that big pasture, | would start on a cow path (for the benefit
of my young readers a cow path is a trail that the cattle followed in single file when they
were moving from one place to another and their hoofs wore a rut in the ground. These
cow paths were never straight but meandered in and out). | would pretend | was a train. |
was the locomotive and one of my arms made circles in imitation of the piston rod on the
engine. | moved at a good fast jog. When | came to where cow paths crossed, | would let
forth a long, drawn out wail as a whistle for the crossing. If anyone had seen me, they

probably would have thought | was l0co. It sure helped pass the time when hunting cows.
in horse outfit. My brother, Gonard, was
sent for the cows and sometimes, our cousin, Arthur, went with him. They decided they
were going to try their hand at making wine so they swiped some sugar from Mother and
took a ten pound syrup pail, about one gallon. They filled it with High Bush Cranberries
and hid it beside a big Balm of Gilead Tree and forgot about it. Sometime later, they were
on the way to get the cows and ﬂemded to check 1o see how their wing was doing. Thero
was lots of juice in the can
When they came home, Arthur o0k i for hts home_Conard came 10 he Rouss and was
babbling away in a very silly manner. Mother was worried. She thought Con had a case of
sunstroke so she called Dad to have a look at him. They finally got Conard quieted down
and he told them what had happened. Dad very seldom touched us boys in the way of
chastisement, but that time he took a switch and dusted Conard's pants.

Onetime, | remember The water tank for
in the yard. It was empty and my sister, Lela, and brother, Conard, were playing in it. The
tank had a two foot square hole in the top with a hinged ld. The id was open and as | was

his head outand said, “Hit the nigger and win a cigar.” He had
baan 13 e Saskatoon Exibition and seon s deal thare whera 13 negro had his head
sticking out through a hole in a canvas wall. For twenty-five cents anybody who wanted to
try could throw three baseballs at him. The barker's line was, "Hit the nigger and get a
cigar." Ithad upsothat, whileit , were lots of
little lumps of clay. I picked up one of these and threw it at Con. He ducked down and came
up again. Then Lela joined the fun. | picked up a handful of clo
henL
charging out of the shop. Without asking any quesﬂons he grabbed me by the hand and
walked me to the nearest poplear tree, broke off a branch and started to switch my
backside. The leaves were still on the branch and, until they wore off, it didn't sting too
much, He wors out three branches on me before o slopped: The whipeing hurt my
feelings more th: Pop thought 9
his duty.

We put in several years pasturing the milk cows in the large pasture. Then we fenced .
smalier one and those Icng chases were over. There were always two bulls in the
ousin, Merrel,
Went to the pasture on horseback and one of the bulls who had horns that stuck straight




outfrom his head using his horns.
lega jab right n the calf and it made a very ugly looking wound. He gave the horse a g in
the stomach. It reared and nearly threw Merrel, but he hung on and the horse soon moved
away from the bull. If Merrel had been thrown, he would have been in serious trouble for EI
Toro was very mad.

We often spent our weekends roaming around in the big pasture, hunting crow nests.
Wewould takea frying pan along with us and some butter, salt and pepper. When we found
acrow's nest with only two or three eggs in it, we knew they had not been set on. We took
them. After we had gathered what we considered enough eggs, we would make a fire and
fry them. The eggs did not have much flavor. They were neither good nor bad. We always
took along some boiled potatoes to warm so together they made a fair meal. If our Mother
had served such a meal at home, we would have disowned her.

The Great Horned Owls nested in this pasture and we o«en visited their nest. Cousin
Arthurand Brother Arnold were the best they usually went up to the nest.

bout halfway o a nest when d grabbed his cap.
The ow flew for a half mile and dropped the cap. We never found it. Arnold was up to a nest
and he had taken a piece of broomstick to scare away the owls if they should come near.
An owl came toward him and he hit at it with a stick and missed. The owl came in and
lawed his face. We took  young owl home to raise a5 a pet, We named him Eob. He
y tame and ob” ith a squawk. His favorite
perch was on top of the radiator on the Barbanks sorse wactor We Jodnim on gophers
and blackbirds. He consumed a tremendous amount of food. A robin built her nest under
the fender and on top of a gear cover on the same tractor. On year, Dad wanted to use the
tractor. The young robins were not ready to fly so he took an old pail and nailed it to atree
near the tractor. He fastened it with the bottom of the pail against the tree. Then he took the
nest with the young robins in it and set it in the pail. The old bird chirped and fluttered
around in a dither. But as soon as Dad left the nest, she went to the young ones and fed and
raised them until they were grown

One time, when we were in the pasture, we met two Indians. They had a wicker basket in
which they had been gathering wild ducks eggs. They had at least twelve dozen. We
thought that gathering duck eggs would make fora ot better eating than crow eggs. When
wetold Dad about the Indians and the eggs, he said, "If | catch you fellers’ gathering duck
eggs. | will tan your hides.” | doubt if the Indians did too much harm collecting duck eggs
as they never took all the eggs from a nest and the duck would always lay more. It was one
of the Indians ways of living off the land

After we got older, we travelled farther afield. One winter, we were following the creek
that ran through our farm and about two and a half miles downstream from home when we
came to a little trail leading up to the east creek bank. We followed it and came to a small
clearing. There in the middle of that clearing was a whiskey still. We went home but did not
tell our parents what we had found. One day, we met But Dowling and he told us, “If you
boys should ever run across a whiskey still, do not say a word to anyone as moonshiners
sre bad bunch and they just might kil you. Right thenand there we knsw who thestill we

nged to. many years later,
e e bt bmes o figured it was none of our kusinees

Armoldand th boat. When we
passed by Kinzie's farm, Arthur and Maunice came toinscrak bank to Tk Aunt Gorawas
miffed about something that day and she called to her boys, “Come up here right now
away from those dirty, stinking, little rat-trappers.”

We often went to th River to fish for gold d spent many Saturday
afternoons fishing and o Itook my gun al don




the way | shot a grouse. When we got to the river, we decided it would be a good idea to
00k the grouse and eat it. We cleaned it and found an old can which wwe scoured well
with sand. Then we made a fire and boiled the grouse until it was at least partly done, and
then wetried it. | have never tasted anything so putrid. A bit of salt and a lot more cooking
might have improved it. The We that | have been writing about in the previous lines
consisted of my brothers, Arnold and Conard, and my cousins, Arthur and Maurice Kinzie.
Alot of the time, though, it was just Arnold and |.
Inthose years, it seemed
tha the lake WouId be on sheot of Clear s from one o1 10 1o otmer. We pid a ot o1
skating in the evenings after school. | skated to the south end one day and there was a
strong north wind blowing. Going with the wind to my back was clear sailing but when |
turned to go home, it was a different story. | had to work hard to make any progress. | had
on a light sweater which did not stop the wind. With sucking in cold air and the wind
blowing against me, my chest started to hurt. | figured | would not be able to make it all the
way, so about halfway, | headed for the bank and made a fire and got warm. One rule that
my Dad made was that we always carry matches in case we needed to make a fire. Woe
betide us, if we were caught lighting unnecessary fires. He taught us how to build
wto

cnmm\.n . aboy | went to school with

howed me how to gatt Kinnicik or Red Willow

mrslamng a lws It catches fire quickly and burns reany well. The Indians made a sort of
Red Willow. T rk and then scraped the inner bark

fromhatrom. 1t comeottin long shreds. Then they dried itand it was ready for the pipe. Of
course, we boys tried it along with the other things we smoked such as tea leaves, dried
rose leaves and small branches of cottonwood that had fallen in the river and become
water-soaked. When these sticks drifted up on the bank and dried out, they became
ry well. The larger the small ones, cigarettes.
For a pipe, we used a piece of chokecherry wood, the right size for a bowl; drilled a large
holein it for the tobacco; then a small hole was drilled in the side to accomodate the stem.
he stem was made from a small piece of highbush cranberry sapling. The heart of the
sapling was easily removed. After a mouthpiece had been carved on one end, it was
pushedinto the small hole in the bowl and it was ready for use. Red Willow made cpretly air
tobacco. All I can say for it is that you sure as hell knew you were smoking. Phew!
din the winter Justeast of Frank Dowllng s
stora, the 5k bank was a sort of AouIS Nl down tne st DAk whicn was quite steep,
and then a few yards on the level, and down the second out onto the lake. We spent a great

deal of time sliding on that hill. George D with us.
Qutotthesteel shos off  discarded sleigh. He fastened a biock to the shoe with  ten inch
siton. His feet the other, and he had to

balancs perfectly or end up in a spil It was the fastest sled on the il
My first pair of skates were clamp on. They clamped onto the sole of my boots with a
strap and buckle that fitted around my ankle. The bottom of the blade was curved so that
there was not very much of the blade touching the ice. If the clamps came loose, a person
could have a nasty fall. Some skates were called bob skates. They had four blades. | think
they were only for beginners
y p: u black, rhesk. Dag
nightw try
them out. The next morning | was on the ice before daylight. When I found out how good
they worked, | was one happy boy. | had one rather bad accident while skating. We were
playing tag and | was chasing another boy when h tripped on somemmg on the ice and
fell. | went down too and the back of one of
gash one and one-halt Inches long. Ther was just oné sharp blow. and than. | fo1 ae




though was sliding down  long hillafvery smooth loe.ltgot darker es | sdand the pain

Isi thatnight but
Toame around sbodt ine o erock ine oouowmg ma(mng The firstthing | said when | came
aroundwas | will never skate againas long a5 1 ive." But after | had. something to eat, | felt
better. At four o'clock that afternoon, | was back on the lake for a skate. | felt rather woozy
but I felt that if | did not go back right away | might not go at all. However, | enjoyed many
happy hours of skating after that

After the snow fell, we would clean off a rink so that we could skate. However. it was
never the same as skating at will all over the lake. Miss Golda Bicknell came to teach at Pike
Lake School. Her home was in Sutherland, a suburb of Saskatoon. When she found how
nice the ice was on the lake, her their Model T_ F
the lake. One Sunday. Bowman Brothers, who ran an automotive store in Saskatoon, also
brought their 490 Chevrolet on the ice. There were four young fellows with the Bowman
carand they hung onto the back of the car and slid along on their skates. Ifthey all turned
their skates sideways and dug in they could bring the car to a stop. The wheels would be
spinning on the slippery ice so they would skate ahead pushing the car until it got going
good again. Then, they would give the back end of the car a push sideways, and itwould go
spinning in circles down the ice completely out of control. But what mattered. There was
nothing in the way and the car just spun until it ran out of momentum. One day, the
Bicknell's were driving down the ice and the Jouns ielrows thoughtitwould boun togive

tover. ust right, they.
100ne side and Into 8 Spin 1twent. Mrs. Bioknell was i ihe back soat. When the oar started
to spin, she stood up and screamed. It finally came to a stop and like the good sport she
was, she laughed with the others. Harry Forbes and | were ice fishing. Harry said to me, "I
bet Old Lady Bicknell peed herself that time."

Icannot remember how old | was but | was very young when | thought it would be fun to
snare some rabbilts. | asked Dad for some snare wire and he said, “Help yourself.” | took
some wire and made a couple of snares. | made the loops an inch and a half across; then, |
went out behind the barn in some bushes where there were lots of rabbit tracks. | set my
snares flat on the ground expecting to catch a rabbit by the foot. | looked at my snares
every day but no rabbits. Father noticed me going out there and asked what | was up to. He
went with me, and when he saw the snares, he didn'tlaugh. He said. “That's not the way to
snare rabbits. You must catch them around the neck.” So he made a couple of snares and
set them to show me how. The next morning | had two rabbits.

Itwas not until several years later that | started to take an interest in trapping. The first
thing | caught was a weasel | ook the hind leg of a rabbit and hung it on  bush about one
went there early in the morning. For two
days nothing happened. The third morning, when | went to look, there in my trap was a
weasel. He was dead as the trap had caught him around the body so that he had died
almostinstantly.  trapped for many years but | never caught a larger weasel than that one.
Thatis not just a figment of a boy's imagination. The nail holes in the stretcher that | used
to dry the pelt were there as proof.

Sometime after | was through school, | set out to trap coyotes. | had been going with my
Dad tolook at his traps but he didn't tell me too much about it. | observed the way he set his
traps. But when | asked him anything, he said, “You have seen me do it. You should know
how." He taught me how to read tracks in the snow, which animal made such a track, and
what it was doing—if it was hunting for food or just travelling through to some other area.
One thing he told me was, "When you are trapping, see everything there is to see and find
out everything you can about it Dad was very good at trapping coyotes. Bud Dowling
said, “Those coyotes just fall from heaven into Bert Pippin's traps.” He also said, "Old
Pippin could fall in a backhouse and come out smelling like a rose.” | learned enough so




that | could catch the odd coyote, but | found that what works for one coyote will not work
for the other. That's why Dad did not tell me too much. He figured | should find out things
for myself. During World War I, Dad caught three coyotes in one night. He sold them for
forty-two dollars each. That was a very good price s in those days, a dollar was a dollar.

During the thirties, a young fellow, who was a boxer and lived in Saskatoon, often came
to the Pike Lake district. There was a bachelor, Nels Peterson, and the boxer stayed at his
house when he was in this area. The boxer's name was Jack Feland. He was a lightweight.
Some of the young fellows would go a few rounds with Jack. One day, when he and | were
sparring, he kept saying, “Come on, hit me," 50 | got in a punch that left him sitting on his
backside. When he gotup, | hit him on his neck. I never knew if that made him mad or not,
but he came after me and hit me right on the button. | was not knocked out completely but
the gloves felt so heavy | could not hold them up.

Jack was a jogger in the true sense of the word. He jogged back and forth between
Saskatoon and Nels Peterson's farm. Jack was the man who introduced coyote snaring to
the Pike Lake country. He set snares along the road as he came from Saskatoon. When he
first told me about snaring coyotes, | told Dad and he said, "He must be crazy. Nobody can
snare a coyote. They are too smart for that.” How wrong he was. Coyotes can be snared
alright, but as in trapping, one must use common sense.

Jack used telephone wire, piano wire or just about any wire that could be shaped into a
snare. That was no good as many of the coyotes broke the snare and got away. | caught a

yote my his neck. Ithad worn
right through his skin and was hanging there on bare flesh. That coyote just walked
straightinto my trap as though he thought | can't stand this any longer; | may as well get it
over. | also shot several that had broken loose from a snare. It was a cruel way to catch
coyotes. Finally, a wire was placed on the market that would hold a coyote. It was a steel

direction and the outside in the opposite.

The first coyotethat | snared was just sitting there. He had not struggled at ll. | shot him
with my 22 rifle. | thought this is sure a good system. The next one | caught had put up a
real fight just the same as when they are caught in atrap. They chew all the brush as far as
they can reach. Some pulled hard enough that they choked and were dead. Eventually,
someone came up with the idea of a lock on the snare o that when the animal pulled, it
tightened on its neck and did not loosen. If there is anything humane about catching
animals, in my opinion, the snare is the least cruel of all. Many years ago, the snare was
declared illegal in Saskatchewan and it i illegal to have snares in one's possession. If the
neighbor's dog gets caught, he is a goner. Deer will get caught in a coyote snare. But it a

i ’shead, it or smell it and walk around it. How
do | know this? | have experimented several times in my years of trapping.

Afriend of mine, Roy Petersen, who lived in the Moon Lake area, told some good stories
about his experiences trapping and hunting. He said, “One morning | was out hunting
deer. At nine o'clock | shota big buck. | leaned my gun against a tree, and got out my knife
tocutits throat. | was standing straddle of the deer and all at once, it stood up. There | was
onits back holding on toits horns. The buck took off across an opening, but it was headed
for some thick bush. | knew that | was in for a rough time if he ran into the bush. But I found
that by moving his horns, | could steer him just like riding a bicycle. So | steered him
around in a circle until he dropped dead.

Roy said, “One time, my Dad, Bill LeStrange, and | were trapping muskrats on Moon
Lake. The lake was lousy 501100k abottle of
scentthat | tothe lake. | ch pof grass
as the place to put the scent. First, | set the traps all around the clump; then | opened the




bottle of scent and it was 5o strong that Dad and Bill passed out right there in the snow.
Yes, they passed right out. | threw the bottle of scent into the grass and ran. The next
morning, when we went to the lake, do you know what | had in my traps? | had caught
fourtesn . . oftheneigheorsdoge.’ Thescent forcoyotes was made by puting chopped

h, small bits of venison, and Ol o tokeep it from freezing) in a bottle and hanging

it the sun for a couple of months. i \was vory smally and 5 rapper using i should be
if he should himselfand come home, | am sure his wife
e family would leave him.

The big pasture, where we spent so many hours chasing cows and camping, has been
sold. There is one big home in the middle of it owned by Joseph Urban. When Dad passed
away, he left the W.D. Hall homestead to my brother. Glenn. In 1978, he sold it to Kent and
Laurel Brace. Kent works with the Canadian Wildiife Service. They have built a lovely
home and live there with their two boys, Paul and Timmy.

Often when on our safaris to the river, we would follow the river upstream about three
imilag and then, heading toward home, we would slop in a s bachelar' snack. His name
was Bax tner, ;
cachamar. Perry's wife ot oy put up with the hardships and loneliness of ramorions
. 50 they went back to Nova Scotia where they had all come from. Baxter, he liked us to
call him Mr. Newcombe, was always glad to see us and always made us a bite to eat. He

together and which did not taste bad. He baked his own
bread and it was really good. With homemade bread, butter, strawberry jam, and his
coffee-tee, we would have a real good luncl

One time, in the fall of the year, we had been to the river. There was a flock of geese
sitting on a sandbar out of shotgun range. We were discussing this with Mr. Newcombe
and I said, “I would like to soak some wheat in whiskey and put it on the sandbar and get
those geese drunk.” He said, “I've got the whiskey, boys.” We found out later that he had a
still and was making whiskey. The still was on land owned by Dad. One of our cows was
due to freshen, and as cows often do, she went off into the heavy bush along the lake to
have her calf. She came across Baxter's still and ate a good big feed of mash and was
drunk. When we found her, the calf was dead and she was sl three sheets in the wind. She
staggered and reeled around so we left her until she sobered up.

Newoombe found outthatwo had discovered st and he moved itorto his own and.
He never made any m«
the ity 6 sell. Ho 3016 1t amgm but failed to pay Newcombe.

After | was twelve years old, it was often my duty to 100k after the younger children while
Mother and Dad were away. Grandma Brady came to live with us when we were still quite
youngand looked after us very well when Onetime. before Grandma
came, my brother, Arnold, and | decided it would be a good idea to give our tom cat a bath.
He was a house cat and very gentle. We got a basin of water and attempted to put himin it.
He let out a terrible squall, gave me a scratch and went beserk. He tore around the room
and ran up the wall of the old log house. We finaly openad the door and h fook aff

o days.
door, shesaid, “Phew! | smell o Nowander e amahed ot sfer o et preamble. After
my Grandmother went to keep house for Uncle Ed, | was left to 1ok after my brothers and
sisters. | had fried porkchops and was proceeding to make some gravy. | put in the flour
and then picked up the can of baking powder and pretended that | put baking powder in
the gravy. They told Mother that | had used baking powder to make gravy and advised her
totry it, as they said it made the gravy real good.

When Grandma Brady came to live with us, she had her own room and no children were
allowed in there unless they were asked by Grandma. She was a small person and, for




some reason, was quite stooped. She was very energetic and pitched right in when there
was housework or gardening to do. As she went about her work, she usually sang hymns.
She really didn't sing. It was a mixture of humming and whistling. Al the same she could
praise the Lord in a voice loud and clear when she was in church.

She bought a horse and buggy so she had her own transportation. When there was a
church service in those days, it was usually held in different schoolhouses. Sunday
mornings, one of us boys would harness Paddy, her horse, and hitch him to the buggy, and
Grandma would be away to church. As she had lost her husband, John Tyler Brady, before
coming to Canada, she dressed in black when going out. Her ress was all black except for
awhite lace collar. Her hat was a small one with no brim. She wore glasses, and, altogether,
she was rather a cute, lttle old lady.

Some years later, she moved toa farm east of Vanscoy, Sask. to keep house for her son,
Uncle Ed. The farm was across the railway tracks from the Lemuel Shockey farm. The
Shockeys were a large family and Grandma Brady looked on them all as her grandchil-
dren. | am sure that the Shockeys regarded Grandma very highly. When Uncle Ed quit
farming, Grandma came back to live with the Pippins. She stayed with us until her death.

When she grew older, she would often spend a few days in bed. “Just resting,” she said.
She called me into her room one day. She was lyingin bed and to me she looked very frail.
Her body was old and tired, but her mind was still very sharp. We talked of this and that and
as usual she reminded me to always be a good boy. Finally, she reached under her pillow
and brought out my Grandfather's watch which he had worn through the Civil War in the
L . She said, “Ralphie, | want have this." | with rather
chocked up emotions as | felt that Grandma knew that the end of her days were near.

When my Mother and Dad were first married, someone asked, "How do you like your

-law, Mr. Brady?" He answered, “Oh, he's alright, but | can just hold him up to
the light and see the worms working in him.” | think by that remark that Uncle Ed probably
inherited his ornery streak from John Tyler Brady.

Uncle Ed was working for my Dad. Grandma was going to entertain the Minister that
afternoon so after dinner, when Ed was leaving for the field, Grandma said, “Ed, the
preacher is coming this afternoon and | would like you to be a good boy. Don't swear or act
rough.” “O.K. Maw, said Ed. The preacher and Grandma were sitting in the shade of the
nking tea when Ed came in from the field. Ed had left the machine he was using in
the field and was walking home behind the horses. He waited until he was as close to the
preacher as he was going to be; then he hit Old Dick a sharp cut with the line. Dick started
bucking and jumping around. Then Ed started, “Dick, you old sonofabitch, whatin hell do
you think you are doing,” and on into a string of swear words that lasted until he was out of
hearing. It sounded silly and poor old Grandma was embarrassed something terrible. If
she had not said anything to Ed, he would never have thought of such a thing. As | said
before, Uncle Ed had an ornery streak

While us kids were still young, Dad went to an auction sale and came home with a

rand inches high. It played
disc records and the turntable was on the top. It had a crank on the side for winding it. A
fair-sized spring was wound up tight and when a brake on the disc was released, the
turntable would start to turn. A sharp-pointed needle was placed in the reproducer and a
screw turned to hold itin. This needle was placed on the record and the music would start
Two swinging doors opened on the front for the sound to come out. There were several
Scotch songs by Harry Lauder and a number of marching tunes by John Philip Sousa and
his band. We played that gramophone from the time he brought it home until two o'clock in
the morning. Finally, Mother said, “It's time you kids went to bed. There will be another day
tomorrow.” | don't remember the names of all the records but there were about twenty. We




played them all and then started all over again. That was our introduction to canned music
and it helped to pass many long winter evenings.

We did alot of reading in those days all by kerosene lamps. At the handy store they used
 gas lamp. It used high test gasoline as fuel and it sure made kerosene lamps look dim. |
was in Birney's Hardware Store in Saskatoon and there on the counter was displayed an
array of gas lamps and lanterns. | decided | would like to have a lantern as they could be
carried outside and used at the barn as well as in the house. | bought one and it cost me
eight dollars and fifty cents and no tax. | took it home, filled it with gas, and pumped it so
that there was pressure through the generator. The pump was built into the tank on that
model. Some of the older kind had a pump separate from the lamp. | took my lantern into
the house at dusk all pleased with myself, and Mother said, “Get that darn thing out of my
house. | won't have any such contraption in here.” Dad said, “Damn it, Florence, other
people use them. Let him try it.” Sol litit and the room was flooded with light such as it had
never known before. The very next time that Mother and Dad went to Saskatoon, they
came home with two gas lamps, one for the kitchen and one for the living room. They made
very good light but along side the electric lights of today, they look biue.

dwould not allow
an play with he Sawyer boys. 16 did N0t abjectto that butthers would bé no cards e

One time, when my brothers and | were visiting at Uncle Ed's farm near Vanscoy, we
went to the railroad tracks lo watch a train go by. We lived thirteen miles from the nearest
railway 50 watching a train was quite an event for us. After the train had passed, we walked
along the track for a short distance and we came across a deck of playing cards. They were
invery good condition but apparently not good enough to play poker on the train. We took
them home and played cards for three or four nights. Pop never said anything until one
night we got into an argument. He walked to the table and swept the cards together, went
tothe kitchen stove, lifted up the lid and threw them in the fire. However, many years after.
when Harry and Clara Hoyte came to this district, they came to visit at our home and the
four of them played cards quite often. They argued too but nobody burned the cards. The
men played against the women. | don't recall the name of the game they played but the
Queen of Spades was the high counter. They were talking rather loud one night. | awoke
and I heard Clara say. "There, take the black bitch."

In 1923, a radio salesman came to our farm. Jack Lensen, who farmed between Pike
Lake and Delisle, was driving him around the country with a team of horses and a cutter.
They stopped at our place for supper. After supper, he demonstrated his radio. As it was
late they stayed overnight. The radio was made on a board at least three feet long and
numerous tubes stuck up with no cover over any of it. Of course. it was a battery set. That
was the first time | heard Wilf Carter sing and | have been a Carter fan ever since. There was
a program on that night called the “How Do You Do Ciub.” People would send in their
names and the radio station would make up a verse about them and sing it on the air.

For example:  How do you do, Andy Gump. how do you do?

How do you do, Andy Gump, how are You
How is Myrtle, how is Min, how's the nakers on your chin?
Growing out or growing in. How do you do?
The next morning Mother sang to the salesman
How do you do, Mr. Brown, how do you do?
How do you do, Mr. Brown, how are You?
Your radio is fine but it's rather out of line.
| want a cabinet for mine. How do you do?
1 don't know if he sold any radios in this area.

80




I cannot recall the year but the Pippin Family decided to form a dance orchestra. Arnold
had taken lessons in Saskatoon and played the saxophone. He started out playing a C
Melody sax but later changed to an E Flat Alto. Conard played the trumpet. Glenn played

bigger than him. H

clarinet, At first, Mother played the piano and some years later, Sister Lola took over and
played for some years. | hammered away at the drums. We called our orchestra, Pippins
Peppy Five. | acquired a guitar and played and sang at the lunch break. | have often
wondered how come | never got shot. Of course, others joined in the program and the
audience seemed to think it was rather nice. After my sister, Lela, lefthome, Arnold's wife,
Marian, took over the piano piaying. She was one of the best dance music piano players
that I have ever known. Her time was perfect. This does not take away from Lela’s playing
as she was also very good. We played for many dances, but | got tired of it and quit after
thirty years. The others kept on playing and Jack Hicks joined them. He played the
saxophone

My nephew, Duane "Buck” Pippin, played in the Lions Band when he lived in Saskatoon
and the Bandmaster said he was the best trumpet player he had ever known. Buck moved
to Lucky Lake and got together an orchestra. They called themselves “The Gold Tone:
andthey I1. Then Buck ginaand played with
an orchestra there. He was not only a good musician, but he was a good entertainer. There
was never a dull moment when Buck was playing. Marian, Arnold, Glenn, Jack Hicks, and
Barry Pippin and his wife, Sharon played and they broke up. Barry, Sharon, Marian, and
Arnold and Jack Hicks played together for awhile. Marian and Arnold retired. Jack Hicks.
does not play with them now. They ousted Glenn from the orchestra and changed the
name to “The New Pippins”. The orchestra now consists of Barry and Sharon on guitars;
their daughter, Rhonda, plays the organ; and Monty Sawyer on drums. They have much
expensive equipment such as amplifiers and they have a sound man to adjust the amplifi-
ers. They play very modern music and Barry and Rhonda sing.

Before we started playing for dances, we often went to dances at Bill and Beatrice
Smith's house. Their house was made of logs with a cottage roof of lumber and cedar
shingles. The living room extended the length of one side of the house. It had a maple floor
which made it very nice for dancing. The music came from a large cabinet gramophone
called a Sonora. | believe it was made by the Victor Company.

Bert and Florence Watson (note that they had the same names as my Dad and Mother)
usually came to these dances. Bert would go upstairs and become engaged in a game of
cards. After a while of dancing to the gramophone, the dancers would decide that they
would like to have a square dance. Frank Bailey, who came from across the river, would
start coaxing Bert to come downstairs and play the violin for them. Bert loved to piay, but
he also loved playing cards. But after a bit of persuasion, he would grab his violin and go
downstairs. Mr. Ernie Lillew, Mrs. Watson's father, accompanied Bert on the autoharp.
They sure played good dance music. After the square dance was over, they continued to
play for other dances. | ikad their music betler than the gramophone. Florence Watson

before the
Thom it hor- S sirs wh generous as rars was always enough o go around
, but D: . Apparently,

dance in the mining town where he lived in the States. A man pulled a knife on him and he

hit the fellow over the head with a chair and went home vowing never 10 go to a dance

again. Dad did not sing or dance and could not whistle a tune. Any musical ability we had
came from my Mother's side of the family.

Dad tausht us thinga which ho knet abou, which were many. | was always nterasted In

butuntil | was about "You have seen me

doit. You should know how." When he finally decided that | was really interested in that




line of work, he showed me the proper way to weld, how to temper cold chisels and gave
me many pointers on how to sharpen ploughshares and cultivator blades. Somewhere in
this book, | shall write a short biography on Bert Pippin.

The first radio in the Pippin home was a crystal set put together by Conard Pippin. It
used headphones. As time went on, we acquired battery radios. In the early twenties, a
telephone line was built through this district. A company was formed known as the Merril
Rural Telephone Company. The phones were a box which screwed to the wall. It was
about twenty inches tall and twelve inches wide. The two bels were situated near he top
Below the bells, was the transmitter beneatht
2 downward slope. This was (or wiiting on. At the 11ght 5 of the box was a crank which
turned a generator causing the bells to ring. On the other side was the receiver. The system
was divided into lines with from seven to eleven subscribers to a line. To talk to a
subscriber on your line, you removed the receiver from its hook and turned the crank. The
subsoribors each had  call umber. For axample, one might be two long rings, along and
ashortor two shorts. was controlled by the crank. Totalk to a party on another
Tine, e long fing would put Ghe In contact with the operator or Central. as she was
known. You then gave her the number of the party you wished to speak to and she
connected you with that person.

The recsiver hook had a catch on it so that one could It the recaiver and listen to @
rubber-
ing but | i et sen el I Hommuat. e had bauat ot fasiiss private
affairs on the phone. After my wife and | were married, we discussed this and decided that
rubbering was not a nice thing to do 5o we stayed away from the phone when someone
else was using it. The upshot of this was that a man who lived a few miles from us, passed
away and was buried before we heard about it. No one had thought to phone us so we
didn't know. Well nice or not, we decided rubbering had its good points.

My brother, Glenn, and some of the neighbor boys constructed what was called a
haywire telephone. That was a very private line and they had a lot of fun with it. They ran
their lines on fences as much as possible. Bill Keindel was line man for the Merril Rural
Telephone Company for many years and when he retired, Glenn took over the duties.
Sometimes, he had some very bad deals. One time the phone was not working and Glenn
went to check and found a full mile of telephone line flat on the ground. He talked to Bill
and he agreed to come help with the job. Glenn, Arnold and | drove with the truck as close
as we could get which was two miles. We carried our tools all the way. This was just after a
big blizzard which had broken the lines. The roads into the trouble were drifted three feet
deep with snow. The crust on the drifts was so hard that we could walk on it. When we
arrived at the trouble, the poles were broken off at ground level, and there was anywhere
from two to lour feet of snow where we had to set the poles. We cleared the snow away and

round g the holes
not more than eighteen inches deep s the poles would have to be replaced with new ones
in the summer. It was a matter of loosening the frozen ground with a crowbar and it took a
good half hour to dig one hole. Before we finished, some of those holes were a lot less than
eighteen inches deep. Bill and Glenn took tums climbing the poles o tie on the wire: The
d up and headed back to the truck
0 the truck. | ide my parka. There was not
room i the Gab for everyoneso| rode n the back. | got chilled so that when | arrived home
sfterdark, | was shivering ke Ieat. | wentto bod. Aftr | got warmeda bit, | had to do my
chores, and before | got finished, | n. So back to bed again. By the next
morning. | was abie to feed the pigs. milk the Gows and take fosd to the catle that | was
feeding outside.
The phone was a very good thing for an isolated community like ours.




CHAPTER EIGHT

Millard Arnold and was the first Pippin to be born at Pike Lake. He was called
Laddie until after Nextin the Conard, born
May ¢, 1608, Then cama a gil Lela Fiornce, born December 16, 1910. Then next arrval
was Mildred Alma on December 4, 1912. Then came Edith Evelyn on December 14, 1914
Glenn Gerald arrived on March 11, 1917. On September 5, 1918 Helen Caroline made her
debut. Geraldine Charlotte was b May 22,1920, on August4, 1924,
Thus four boys and four girls made up the Pippin Family. They are all living in this year of
1980 with the exception of Conard. He went down East to work in a factory during World
of a heart attack on a hot afterncon while mowing his lawn.
decided in 1917 that he needed a means of transportation 50 he went to Saskatoon
and bought a Model T Ford car. It was known a3 @ Touring Gar. The top could be folded
down and fastaned by a clamp arrangament. When the tap was up. sids curtains which
the sides. When the curtains were
in place, the anly. p\acs the driver could see was straight ahead. The curtains were
eq with small isinglass windown which let some light into the car but it was
impossible to see into or out of the car. The windshield consisted of two flat pieces of flat
glass set in frames and arranged so that the top half could be folded over the other when
the top was down. It was powered by a four cylinder motor.

The car dealer in Sasktoon drove Dad outside the city limits and, as Dad put it
meloose.” He got home without mishap and we all piled in and went for a ride. If everything
was just right on a Model T, the driver could expect to get a top speed of forty miles per

thirty miles per hour.

o n August 29, a second son was born to Bert and Florence Pippin. He was named

thoseti
The on o the lft was sed {0 advance o retard 1ne spark: e othar one controled the
speed of the vehicle, down for fast, up for slow. The horn was controlled by a small button
clamped to the steering column. It would not blow unless the motor was running. After
Dad had driven this car for a time, he devised a foot accelerator such as the McGlaughlin
and Chevrolet cars used. The transmission in a Model T was a system of bands, more or
less the forerunner of today’s automatic transmissions.

When | was about years old, D: me. The
firsttimo 11ive now, which is two miles
lunch to take outto the outfit. Dad
was "busy around the mcmne 50 he told me to take the car and go for the lunch. | was
two boys on horseback. | could r okt out o8 the-(ute 1  was driving in were deep !
thought, “Oh boy, " 15l
horaes kept comting, When they ot noar the car. they. ovmad out, one on each side -
went galloping past me. When we grew older, we drove that old Model T to many dances.




There was no speedometer on it so | cannot say how many miles it made, but they were
many.

Somewhere along in this era, Bert decided he needed anew blacksmith shop. He made a
frame building in which he housed all his smithing equipment. He moved the water pump
from where it stood outside the old log barn and installed itin one corner of the shop. After
anumber of years, we moved the shop to another location and added a granary onio the
endinwhich T phadaline shaft. P
what a lineshaft was. It was a shaft, one and one-quarter inches thick. It was mounted on
bearings and was near the ceiling of the shop. The shaft extended into the granary. The
shaft was driven by a three to five horse McCormick Deering Motor, three h.p. at slow
speed and five h.p. at full speed. The shaft was equipped with pulleys which were placed
above the machine to be driven. It turned all the time that the motor was running. But some
of the machines had idle pulleys and the belt could be slipped onto them so that it was
possible to turn one machine ata time. The end of the shaft that stuck outinto the granary
had a pulley for driving a fanning mill. The mill was known as a bulldog and had a decal of a
bulldog on each side. It was not a fast way to clean grain but it sure beat the old way where
a man stood at the side of the fanning mill and turned it with a crank. The crank was
attached to a large sprocket, about sixteen inches across. This gave the mill good speed,
but it also caused the crank to turn quite hard. One spring, I helped Dad clean eight
hundred bushels of flax for seed. It seemed a never-ending task. He advertised the flax for
seed and sold it for one dollar and fifty cents a bushel above the elevator price.

The Pippin family teadily so there had to ions to the house.
A cottage that had been built on the west side of the lake was purchased and skidded
across the ice in the winter. A concrete basement was made and the cottage was butted up
tothe side of the house to be used as a kitchen. Later. a leanto was built onto the side of the.

bathroom. T! itfor the old homestead

house.

new barn was started on the Pippin farm in 1923, The main part was twenty-eight by
forty feet. After the barn was finished, a leanto was built on one side. It was twenty-four by
forty feet. The main part had a loft for hay storage. The loft had a wide door so that hay
could be taken in at the peak of the roof and, over the loft door., the roof extended out in an

it extended out to the end of the A-shaped point. What was known as a hay car ran on that
track. A rope, one and one-quarter inches thick, was fastened at one end to the hay car. It
thehay oar from 0. puliey atthe roar peck end of the bam, dow thioughe puueya« the
eave, and toanother p building. A
Ting was braiced on the outside end of the rope b Wi  team of norses ool be
attached.

When loading hay. a rack sight feet by fourteen feet was used. What was known as slings.
was a contrivance consisting of four hardwood strips about two inches thick and seven
feet long which laid crosswise on the rack and four ropes running the length of the rack
The ropes were fastened to the strips and brought together at each end and fastened to a
ring. The sling was spread out on the bottom of the rack as even as possible and the rings
on the ends were placed on a hook at each end oftherack. One had o be carsful o get the
hay loaded o ven manner. It was better to have a man on the rack to keep
ihaloed aven Aftor e rightamount of hay had been loaded, another sling was placed on
top of the first layer. We used three slings to a rack load of hay. When unloading, the hooks
on the loop hanging from the hay car were hooked into the rings at the end of the slings. A
team was then hitched to the rope at the rear of the barn and were driven ahead, causing

fromthe hay car to shorten the hay




held in the sling. The hay car had a block at the end of the track with a notch cut in to keep
the car from rolling into the barn. When the sling load had lifted high enough, the hooks on
the sling came ageinst o Jever causing the car (o release from the notch and Into the [of
wentthe sling load of h g gether in the middle and a short piece
of rope hung down at e botiomat e sling load so that when the rope was pulled, it
loosened the hooks and the slings separated and the hay was spilled into the loft, Then the
hay car was run back to the starting point with the slings hanging down. Then they were
unhooked and hung on the back of the rack to take back to the hayfield.

The hay had to be well-cured and dry before it was put in the loft, as green or wet hay
piled in tight would cause internal combustion and cause the building to burn. The only
drawback to this system was if the hay was not properly placed on the slings it would slip
out and fall back onto the rack lfthat hapoened, the loose hy had to be forked onio the
groundand the sling ackand 1t dealon
ahot July afternoon, but we eomod 1 1oan 20 ot wa didn't have that (rouble oo otton.

b the pasture
in the spring and taken from their mothers in th fall and foa and watered in this pen over
winter. It would only be cleaned once a week or sometimes ten days. Dad had a habit of
waiting until the day before we were going to a dance. He would say, "You Fellers had
better clean the calf pen today.” We overcame that by not waiting to be told but making
sure that the pen was cleaned before dance day. Cleaning that pen was a heavy chore for
1wo boys. It took the better part of a day 1o do it. The manure and wheat straw bedding
would be tramped very hard and had to be forked onto a stone boat and usually spread on
theland. Another thing that Dad did thatirked us was calling us in the morning after we had
been to a dance the night before. The heating stove was in the living room and we siept
upstairs. He would rise at least a half hour before his usual time and sei oker, he
would bang on the stove pipes and call out, “Come on you Fellers. Those Ma(dance must
pay the fiddler.” Ds i g
bothered us.

Itwas getting latein the fall. We had not finished the barn 50 we were shingling on some
rather cold days. Baxter Newcombe would get up in the morning and do his chores and
then walk three miles to help us. One morning, when we were ready to start work, Dad was
notaround. Mother said, "He got up early to go huntin, wcombe didn't think much of
that and he said, “It seems to me that he should leave the hunting until after the barn is
finished.” Newcombe went across the lake to the store. While he was away, Dad came
home with a big buck he had shot. He didn't want anyone to know about it so he skinned it
As luck would have it, Newcombe did not come back from the store for a couple of hours.
Everything was put out of sight when he arrived. The next mor d took the deer into
the kitchen to cut it up. Mother covered the meat with some white cloth as Dad was not
ready to cut . Newcombe came along and seeing no one at the barm came to the house.

hesaid, "So th bigbuck.” He never

said anything more to us or anyone else.
Tho cattle herd was building up at the Pippin farm. By the early twenties we had one
y polled Hereford bull. He grew to
aweight of unds u to ride him. One
of s would stay on the Ground and whon wo wanted Rim 10 stop, we would take a mai
stick and scratch his bag. He would stand perfectly still as long as someone scratched.
We builta shed, sixty by forty feet. It had a manger across one end and we also scattered
feed outside. The cattle all went inside at night and the door would be closed. Sometimes
when neighboring boys came to visit, we would take the lantern and hang it near the
manger. Then we would climb on top of the hay and sit there and talk. It would not be long
before someone would suggest it would be a good time to ride one of the big steers. The
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steer would have his head in the manger and whoever was going to ride would drop from
the top of the manger onto his back. For some reason, the steer never bucked but would
run around the shed. When he came back to the manger, the rider would get off. The cattle
were packed closely in the shed and the rider's legs got rubbed against the other cattle.
However, all the cattle were full of hay and their stomach was the widest part of them and
quite soft so the rubbing didn’t do any harm. It was a very dangerous practice. If anyone
had fallen off, he would have been trampled.

We had a couple of horses broken to the saddle. We owned three more that we wanted to
break. A couple of boys in the district bragged about their prowsss at riding bucking
horses. Their /e can rid hair onit.” My sand|
made a date with those two to comeand Tido our rorses. The horeas were o a ney
stallion and were very high-lifed. We told George Forbes about this and he said, et
horses willbuck those ellows so high that the Bluebirds willbuildanest nthelr ass before
they come do

i as built with i and shiplap nailed on Tharagiwas
twelve four inch st led over the cracks. about three
years so considering the work it took to build it, | would call it a flop. The next shoawobunn
was dug into the creek bank. The bank was quite high and at the bottom was a level space
and then a small bank with the creek below.

the shed. A round hole
two feet across stayed open all winter with the cs at the sides of the hole from twenty-four
tothirty inches thick. There was no danger of the cattle falling in the creek. The roof of the
shed was logs covered with earth. The log ghso that if
on thetop, they would not break through. The manger was square and the top was open to
the outside so that hay or straw could be forked in. We usually filled the manger twice a
week. This worked very well through the winter as there was no cleaning to do. The
manure and straw packed together and heated, making it warm for the cattle to lie on. But,
oh boy, the next summer the problems started when Dad said, "I think it's about time we
cleaned the cattle shed.” It was "we" at first, but as we grew older, it was " think you had
better get started on the cattle shed.”
I the early years, we drova our atte that we were seling o Saskoon. The stockyards
ast of and Fee

now. Tno day before the drive was to tart we went 10 e big pasture to saddle horses and
broughtall the cattle, including Uncle Bill's, to the homeplace. We put them in a corral and
chased out the ones not for sale. They went back to pasture. The ones that were for sale
were left in the corral with feed and water.

Thefirst time that | went on a drive, we arose at four o'clock as we wanted to get the cattie
on the way while it was cool. Cattle that had been on pasture il summer are fat and not
used to walking twenty miles sothey could not be hurried. Merrel Kinzie, Orville Smith and
I'were to do the driving. Orville had a well-trained saddle horse. Merrel, also, had a fairly
good one. | was riding one of our hackney colts, named Duke. He was three years old and
was developing into a good saddle horse despite the fact that | didn't know much about
training horses. His mother was Daisy, one of the mares that Dad purchased in the
beginning of his homestead years. Duke had a star on his forehead and one white foot. He
innerited these from his Mother. His ire was a hackney stallion owned by George
Buchanan. They were botha bay. Duke’s hair was al
Though he was a gentle horse, he had lots of life. He loved chasing cows o we a0
rounding them up. If an animal did not move into the herd fast enough, he would give ita
nip which usually produced good results. When he was chasing a cow, the rider had better
be aware as he could turn quickly and change directions in a flash. He made me pull
leather more than once. For my grandchildren and young readers, “pulling leather” means
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grabbing the saddle to keep from falling off the horse. This horse was to be my companion
on quite a number of cattle drives. He was one of the first ones to die when our horses
developed swamp fever. | felt sad when he went but not so much as when Old Dick died.
Dick was one of Dad’s first horses and he was with us so many years.

On the morning of the drive, we left the homeplace at five o'clock with thirty-eight head
of cattle. They headed out quite well, but about two miles from home, a big steer decided to
leave the herd and he took off into the brush. Dad was there in the car to help and see to it
that everything was going as it should. He told me to o after the steer, but f he gave too
much trouble to leave him for another day. It was a frosty morning in the early fall and Duke
and | hazed that steer back into the herd. Duke and the steer were soaking wet from the
froston the d tert r got back to the herd, he took the
lead b I

the
Darbellay's Slough and the cattle waded in for a drink. After that, everything went
smoothly until we came to the city. The cattle were not used to so many people and
buildings. They gathered as close together as possible and made their way slowly along
the streets.

Allat once, a couple of steers decided they would go for a run. Then the herd scattered
and ran through gardens and across lawns. They spread fertilizer as they went regardless
whether it was on a lawn o garden or sidewalk. We were sworn at in English, Ukrainian,
French, Italian, and some of the women just stood in the door and screamed. We could not
ride our horses to chase the cattle so Merrel held our horses while Orville and | went on
foot and gathered them into a herd again.

They were tired from their long walk and did not give us too much trouble. Twentieth
Street West was paved and Twenty-first Street was not, so we drove the cattle in on
Twenty-first. We had just turned on to Avenue A when  street car came along. Instead of
stopping, the motorman attempted to drive through the herd. He was moving siowly when
three of the bigger steers stood on the tracks and lowered their heads. They were standing
close to the streetcar. The conductor clanged his bell, but the steers refused to budge so
he came out with a cane and whacked them over the back. But no action. He started to
swearatus. Orville, in his quiet way, said, busti uth
would help matters any?” In other words, you had better shut up. He did and got out and
reversed his streetcar and backed away from the cattle. We took them around the corner
into the stockyard.

We took our horses to the Palace Livery Stable to feed and water them and let them rest.
Merrel and Orville intended staying in the city over night, but my parents told me | was to
come home. We went to a cafe on Twentieth Street and had dinner. Then we parted
company. | walked along the street. The Jews were standing in the door of their store and
would grab one by the arm, saying “Come into my store and buy. | have many bargains.”
They would almost drag one into their store. It was an embarrassing situation. | hated it
and the Jews who did it. | was just a shy lad from the country who did not understand how
to cope with such a situation. However, as | grew older, | became friends with the younger
generation of Jews and lost my dislike for Jewish people. | realized that coaxing people
into the store was just an old-fashioned Jewish way of doing business.

1 wentto a movie. It was a Western. There was no sound and talking bits were flashed on
thescreen in print. One old character in the show had a saying, “Aw Buffalo Chips.” A pair
of boys sat in front of me, one about eleven years old and the other about eight. The older
one read the expression “Aw Buffalo Chips aloud. The younger one said, “What does that
mean?” The older one said, “That means Buffalo shi

After the show, | went to the Livery Stable, saddled my horse, and headed for home. On
the way outof the city, | stopped at Gropper's grocery store and purchased a bag of Fancy




Biscuits, as they were called. They were cookies with all sorts of fancy icing. The Gropper
boy, Nathan, grew up to become a dentist and he did my dental work for many years. Duke
was just as anxious to get home as | was, but | gave him his time. Twice | got off and walked
foramile or. my legs. | ight o'clock and that was the end of my
first cattle drive.

In the winter when we were feeding cattle, we hauled straw from the farms in the Valley
Park area. Most wheat farmers burned their strawpiles in the fall. But as this left a mess of
ashes on the field, which if not scattered, would cause the patch of land where the
strawpile stood to be sterile for at least two years, some farmers left their straw and we
hauled it home as needed.

p itin the manger of
the rest was spread out in the willows that grew in the creek bottom land. This was on land
which we planned on breaking. The cattle did not eat all of the straw. In the spring when it
was dry, the straw was lighted on fire. It killed the tops of the willows, but sprouts would
grow from the roots. All the small brush was burned making the willows easier to chop for,
as yet, we were still clearing land with the axe.

One year, at threshing time, the Pippin family came down with scarlet fever. Dad was
away threshing. The rest of the family were placed under quarantine. We were notallowed
to go anywhere or to have anyone come to our house. Dad bought the groceries and put
them on the step and went away. It was lucky that he was away when the quarantine was
imposed as he could stay at the place where he happened to be threshing. Also, he was
free to ook after our needs.

After threshing was over, he moved the Walter Hall house to our yard. He had purchased
it several years before. He placed two good sized logs under it for skids and hitched the
Fairbanks Morse tractor to them and dragged it home. The skids dug into the ground and
left two ruts across the pasture. The ruts were there for many years and often caused
people to wonder what had caused them. The ruts are gone now and the grass has grown
back and there is no sign of them having been there.

The Hall house was made into a summer kitchen and wash house. A water pump was
installed; also, a coal and wood-burning stove. The washing machine was a wooden tub
seton legs. | thinkit water. T onabearing at the
top of thelegs. It could be moved to and fro about half a turn. A spring arrangement on the
bottom of the tub stopped the tub from turning too far. A handle about six inches high
stuck up on the top of the tub. There was what was known as a Dolly inside the machine.
When the water and soap plus the clothes had been placed in the tub, the lid was closed
and the operator grasped the handle and started swinging the tub back and forth. When
the tub was swung to the left, the coil springs took over and checked the motion and
likewise back to the right. The operator swung the tub back and forth for fifteen or twenty
minutes, depending on how dirty the clothes were.

Atfirst, us kids argued over who would turn the machine, but that wore thin. If Mother

wasall setto . she had better appoint dayatthe
breakfast table as after breakfast was over, we often were hard to find. However, Mother
‘was very fair i i theirturn. As | I il

king out on this job. | realized that if we all disappeared, Mother would have to turn the
machine herself.

machine, ascrub in It
was a corrugated piece of glass set in a wooden frame. There was a bar across the top to
hold the bars of s0ap (no one had heard tell of powdered soap or detergent). A popular
s0ap of the times was Sunlight. It was yellow bars. Homemade soap was quite common. It
was made by saving all the fat from the kitchen. | do not remember the process so | shall




say no more about homemade soap except that it was very strong and stinky. One had
btter not use it on the face unless he was prepared to grow some new skin
Touse the scrub board, the washer woman placed a tub of very hot water on abench ata
convenient height. The board was placed in the tub so that it sat at an angle. The soap was
added to the water by slicing off thin shavings with a knife. Then whatever was being
washed was placed in the water and allowed to soak for a short time. Then the scrubbing
began, up and down the wash board, swish around in the water, and, if needed, rub the bar
of soap over what was being washed and back to the rubbing. When the wash was clean, it
was placed in a tub of clear water and rinsed. Sometimes the clothes were wrung dry by
hand. There was a type of wringer that clamped on the tab. 1t was two rubber rollers with
pressure springs which could be adjusted for more or less squseze. The rallers were
wringer builtintoit. After
ringing, the thes wore hung on an outside clothesline to dry. Hanging out clothes was
nice in the summertime, but a very disagreeable task in the winter. If the weather was cold
with no wind, the clothes would freeze stiff and would be brought into the house to thaw
out. The men's underwear would stand up straight if placed int he snow. | was nevar ableto
figure out why the weather was cold ings such
as i be placedin ped tub known asawashbonlerand placed
T

on d D)
could sit over two holes in the stove top.

The bathing facilities were somewhat different in those days compared to today. Satur-
day night was usually bath night. We seldom bathed in the week days. | think the reader will
see why when | explain the ritual we went through to have a bath.

‘The kitchen stove had a reservoir which held about four gallons of water. This was kept
full as much as possible and would be hot as long as there was  fire in the stove. A tea
kettle of water was heated along with a couple of pots. When everything was ready, a
washtub was placed in front of the heater in the living room o the kitchen stove. One ata
e, the boys would have a bath, all in the same tub of water. In the meantime, more water

Theg i

turns.

Mother often kepta “hired girl”, as they  and the Is had
Fortheir bathing facilities, they carried the tub and water to their room. mep.pesnom the
heater ran through the room so that it was nice and warm. One night, | went upstairs to
retire for the night. The hired girl was having a bath and the door to her room was open.
She was standing in the tub completely naked. | stood for a minute having a good look and
then | turned and tiptoed back downstairs. How is that for a stupid young fool? My Uncle
told me afterward that she expected me to come into her room. One thing | know for sure,
Uncle Ed would have gone in whether she expected him or not

The first dog on the Pippin farm was black with tan colored legs. Dad got him when he
was just a pup from Joe Rayburn so the pup was named Joe. In those days, it was the
custom to name any animal purchased after the one it was purchased from. Housewives.
came in for their share as cows were often named after them.

The second dog was called Teddy. We got him from Perry Porter when he left his
homestead and went back East. Teddy was already named when we got him but the name.
was shortened to Ted. He was a very good cattle and watch

After Ted died, the next dog in line was Tony. He was a big dog weighing fifty-five
pounds and almost black with a white chest. Some people were afraid of him. Nels
Peterson, our neighbor to the east, would never walk through our yard when going to the
store for his mail. Nels was driving through our yard and his dog was following behind the
sleigh. Tony ran outand the two dogs started to fight. Nels' dog was small and Tony was




getting the best of him. Nels leaned over the back of his sleigh box and it Tony with a
scoop shovel. You could not blame Nels as | think Tony might have killed his dog.
However, Tony never forgot being hit and he would not allow Nels to get out of his rig
whenever he came to our place.

The spring season for muskrats opened on the first of March in those days. The muskrat
houses and pushups would be drifted under considerable snow. Tony could smell these
and he would walk along until krat house. Then he
and come down with his forepaws on the house. He would dig away a bit of the snow and
take a sniff at the rathouse. If it was open and being used, he would walk away. If it was
frozen and not in use, he would lift his leg and sprinkle it. He was never wrong so it was of
no use to look at the ones he indicated were no good. This was very disgusting to other
trappers on the lake as they had to go by guesswork to find the rathouses.

One spring, when the ice was getting quite rotten, Tony fell into a round hole. There was
nothing that he could get hold of with his hind legs 5o there was no way he could get out
Dad realized this 50 he took a pole, ten or twelve feet long, and went out and caught Tony
by the back of his neck and gave him a heave onto the ice. Dad's reward was a good
sprinkling with ice cold water. He had taken the pole with him so that if he fell in, he would
have it to help him get out

y was a very good retriever and would bring in ducks that were shot. He was
exceptionally good at finding wounded birds.

One time, Dad and | were going deer hunting. Dad wanted to take Tony along. It was
open season on deer but | was afraid some hunter would shoot the old fellow. The game
law read that beshot on thespot
and no repercussions. We went to the sandhils to some poplar bluffs whers deer usually
Rung out Dadand Tony 9ot out of the car and ad sad, You g around 1o the ter side.
Idid that and got out of the car and was looking around when | heard a noise behind me. It
sounded like something hit a barb wire fence. | turned around and a big buck had jumped
the fence and his feet had ticked the top wire. Behind the buck, were six more deer and
close behind them, was old Tony. The deer were running all out and Tony was keeping
pace. The deer all cleared the fence and Tony went underneath the wire. In about ten
seconds they were out of sight

When Dad came to where | was, he asked what had happened and | explained it to him
and he said, “What was you doing with your gun?" | said, “I'm damned if | know." He said,
Oh well, | guess it is just as well you didn't shoot. You probably would have missed them
anyway.” 1 agreed that | might have missed. He said, “I doubt if you are ever going to make
ahunter. You might make one someday, but | don't think you'll ever be one.” He had to eat
those words on many occasions after that. Some years later he was telling the neighbors
what a good shot that there Ralph is.

The dser kept on running with Tany ight on thelr til. There was not enovigh anow for

hich headed and could not
find any signs of the dear or Tany. We returned home and-Tony came imping home that
afternoon about two o'clock. He had run until his legs gave out. His legs were sort of bent
and they never straightened out. He was not able to run very fast the rest of his days. We
had noway of knowing how far they went, but he sure moved that bunch of deer away from
their stamping grounds.

After Dad had retired from farming, he owned  lttle dog called Sandy. He taught Sandy
agreat many tricks. As Dad was getting older, he was looking for a home for Sandy so he
gave him to mysister, Mildred and her husband, Ted Rose. Ted and Mildred were out fora
walk with Sandy and a car ran over him ending his life.
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CHAPTER NINE

or many years, the mail for the Pike Lake Valley Park, Gledhow and Omalley Districts
was brought from Saskatoon by TAS. Campbell | bellevs ho was called Tom. He
kIt heels and . Mr. Campbell
couldbe calnds pioneer in trucking s he was the first one In this area to use a truck,
winter and summer. He did not stick to the roads, but drove through the fields. He often
crossed my farm. One winter, he cut the fence on the south side of my home quarter in
places Hadid e just took out his pliers and cut it. When
d cutanother. When |
cutting 10 i, ho said, “The Royal Mail must g6t through.” Ho gave vory 660 sarvice 16
the people along his route, but he got paid for what he did. | always resented the fact that
he disregarded other people’s property.

Mr. Campbell's son, Angus, drove the truck some of the time. People on the route could
order goods through the Campbells and they would deliver as near to the person's home
as possible. Angus got a pilot's license and bought an aircratt. It was a Waco and he often
flew between his home at Saskatoon. Hi beflyingas
though ono wing was shead of the oiher. There was not tao many planes araund butane
could always tell by the way it flew that Angus was the pilot. Angus with Dick
Mayson and formed the M & C Aviation Company. They flew out of Prince Albert,
Saskatchewan and were among the first bush pilots in the North.

Eddie Scissons from Omalley took over the mail route after the Campbells. He tried to

30 hs truck as much as possible In the winter time. Ho esked pormission to drive across
farmers' fields. When he had laiditon the
ground so that in the spring all a farmer hec 1o o was risa t up and staple it. Sometimes
he would shovel the snow out from a gap in the fence rather than make a new one.
was a very good-natured fellow and through all the trials and hardships of mail
I never heard of him getting mad. He gave good service in freighting as well as
ery for many years. When the snow got too deep for the truck, Eddie turned to a
b slelgh pulled by four horses. The ceboose hed a small stove in it o that the
driver Ithad a fair-
on each side. It had an open space at the rear for mail bags and aricios that would not
freeze. Cream cans were placed inside behind the passengers.

Mysmsv Edith (Mrs. Fred Bond), brought her first baby home in Eddie’s caboose. They

was|iving
to feed and rest the horses. At that time, | had a litter of young pigs in the barn. | walked
over to see Baby Linda. | remember telling Edith that | would trade her a pig for the baby.

Eddie s retired and living in Saskatoon now. He is one of the pioneers who certainly did
his bit vm Suska(chswan

In mail delivery, my by
ardor. One ai rdor naves was Sears Roebuck. Ghicago, US.A Another was the T




Eaton Co., Winnipeg, Manitoba. It was quite a thrill to look through a catalogue and order
what one wanted; then a spell of anticipation; and finally the day of arrival. At first parcels
ordered by mail were shipped express to Vanscoy and had to be picked up there. The
Company would mail a letter stating the date the parcels were shipped and the date that
they should arrive at Vanscoy. The letter would be delivered to the Pike Lake post office.
Then there was a change and the parcel post delivery took over and parcels were sent to
Pike Lake along with the mail. The Timothy Eaton catalogue became known as “The
Wishing Book."

Caboose. Haull
Piko Lake, Gledhow Valley Park, and Omalle)

In 1928, a Company moved a rig into the Pike Lake area and started drilling for oil. The
site was a mile and a half west of the Lake, just off the road that leads from Pike Lake to

truck was loaded facing the direction they intended to move the outfit. Another truck was
placed atthe end so that it would be travelling in reverse. The truck at the rear was used to
push in heavy going. But when on the highway, it just acted as a trailer. The trucks used
were International trucks. | do not know the tonnage, but they were very big. When the
outfit came out of the hills, the road made a turn in front of Forbes Store. When they had
turned the corner and stepped on the gas to pick up speed, the vibration from those big
motors shattered two windows in the store.

The head driller's name was Bob Smith. Bill Dowling worked a shift running the steam
enging which drove he g.Tex Bremer worked antherig but | don'trecall what ha dulies
were. Tex y
vourdnd at Crars Hoyte's.
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Tex dtoag; good friend y My brother, Conard,

the time, visited at ' frequently. y Tex'swife

were pestering “Connie” as they called him to take them to a dance at Valley Park School.

Tex was reading a paper and after the coaxing had gone on for some time, Tex lowered his

paper and said, "Say Pippin, if you know anybody that you want to see scratched and

clawed and bit all to hell, you just send them around here to take these two girls to a
dance.” The girls didn't get to go to the dance that night.

No one ever knew whether they struck oil or not. When they were ready to leave, they
dragged old worn out bits and things that they did not want and dropped them in the hole.
Some people took that as a sign that they had struck oil and wanted to plug the hole untii
some future date. | think that was just wishful thinking by some who had purchased shares
inthe oil well. T) ,andthe land dby cattle. Th t
many signs of the activity that once took place there.

As time went by, Bert Pippin kept increasing his holdings by buying land. Considerable
land in this area belonged to Thomas Scroggin who lived in the United States. The agent
forthe Scroggin land in this area was W.K. Mercer. The west half of Sec 20-34-6-W 3rd was
forsale. Mr. Mercertold Dad to b itan
Scroggin and get the transfer made. Dad and | broke forty acres on the half that summer
only to find in the fall that Uncle Bill Kinzie had bypassed Mr. Mercer and gone directly to
M. inand

q g an
gotnochance to buy the land. That started a feud between Uncle Bill and Dad. Itwas nota
knock ‘em down, drag 'em out feud. Dad told Uncle Bill to never set foot on his land and
Uncle Bill told Dad the same. They never spoke to each other and they carried their
grievances with them to their graves.

However, the younger members of our families did not go along with the old fellows.
Merrel Kinzie, who was as fine a man as ever came down the Pike, remained good friends
with Dad and the rest of us went along as though there was no trouble. To ease Dad's
feelings, Mr. Mercer sold Dad the east half of Sec 9-34-6-Ward at a very special price. Mr.
Mercer felt that he was at fault in not going through with the deal on Sec 20.

The land that we had leased for pasture in the bend of the Lake which belonged partly to
Thomas Scroggin and the rest to The Hudson Bay Co. was purchased by the Pippins. The
Walter Hall place was included in that. In September, 1926 Dad decided (perhaps | should
say gincluded more i of the Pippin
farm) that we would buy a different tractor.

We had traded the Aultman Taylor separator for an International. It was the same size
machine and we used the Fairbanks Morse tractor to drive it for a number of years.

In 1926, it was decided that one of the smaller type of tractors that were coming on the
market would make a replacement for the old one. Walter Lock and William Tracy were the
dealers for the International Harvester Co. in Saskatoon. Their dealership was known as
Lock & Tracy Ltd. Walter was a stout, jovial fellow and Bill was a lean, jovial chap. In build,
they were as different as day and night, but they got along very well together and

y otin contact with them and told T a
thinking of buying a tractor. Tracy launched into his sales pitch. Dad argued a bit. He said,
“I doubt if that ittle tractor will pull our big breaking plow.” Tracy said, “Oh, she'll wallow

9 ight.” He offered to y a lling

He was rightin hi Iwas o find outin later years that it did not

take as much power to pull a twenty-four inch breaking plow as some of the other
implements.

T Lock & Ti McC k Deering. T! 15-30;
that was 15 on the drawbar and 30 on the belt. There were so many of these tractors sold




that if one mentioned a 15-30, it was immediately associated with McCormick Deering
Dad bought one of these tractors in 1926 and a second one in 1928 and we were in the
business of power farming. The cost price of these tractors was fifteen hundred and
eighty-five dollars each.

The motor was four cylinder and it sat lengthwise of the tractor. It started by a crank
which was at the front of the machine. The radiator was on the front the same as car rads.
The motor was covered by a hood which folded up when the motor was being serviced
The driving wheels were equipped with A-shaped lugs. They dug into the ground to
provide traction. The front wheels were equipped with skid rims. Skid rims were made of
angle iron bent to the curve of the wheel. The rims cut into the ground to prevent the
wheels from slipping sideways when turning. All this driving lugs into the ground and
pulling them out took away a certain amount of power from the tractor, but without the
lugs such a light tractor would be helpless,

These 15-30 came from the factory as kerosene burning tractors. They were equipped
with what was known as a hot manifold. The manifold to the carburetor ran through the
exhaust manifold in such a way that it was red hot when the motor was operating. The
carburetor had two bowls, one for kerosene and the other for water. The fuel mixture was
controlled for fuel, the motor

for a short time, but decided that it caused too much fooling around and switched to
gasoline for fuel. With the hot manifold, the tractors were hard on gas.

Acompany in Calgary, Alberta came out with a cold manifold. With this attachment, the
tractors developed more power and used less fuel per hour. Glenn Pippin, who was
mechanically inclined form the time he could talk, devised a cold manifold for the 1928
tractor. He also obtained a variable speed governor from a W-30 International tractor.
Equipped with this set-up, it seemed that one was driving a different tractor. When we saw.
how good his cold manifold was, we also made one for the 1926. For the curved part of the
manifold, | used a piece of pipe from a John Deere binder beam. It was curved just right so
that it fit the intake manifold holes. | cut out the plates to fasten it to the cylinder head and
Glenn welded them on. We used a model B Ford carburetor. It worked very well, but was
notas good as the one on the 1928 tractor. It had a larger carburetor which may have made
a difference.

InSaptember, 1926, wo brough the irst15-30 homs Idrovo it fom Saskatoon. Thelugs
and skid onsoitwasa ride. 1 lostnot e lugs on
and Dad sent me to disc a piece of breaking that we had done that summer i e
Fairbanks Morse.

For discing breaking, we used a double disc ten feet wide and two sections of lever
harrows behind. The Boss said, *I think you should leave off the harrows.” I said, “O.K., but
1 willtake them to the field and if it pulls too heavy, | will just drop them off when | get to the
field.”  set the disc at the proper angle and started off in low gear. The tractor did not seem

hard, so | tried itin anditrolled along just the same. Dad
drove outo the field o sae how  was doing, He sat up on the fenderforide and got a big
“It d goes, doesn'tit” It was a long way

rom working harses im e fild

1 think forh time, no matter how
good aman Iooked after his outi, there was the heat and flies to contend with. On some
farms, did notunderstand orses,
shoulders from the collar rubbing sweaty shoulders. It was a good thing that those farms
were in the minority as the larger percentage of operators took great pride in their outfits.
Dad was not the best horseman | have known but he never abused his animals. He was ever
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mougmmr of how much work a horse should be doing and to be sure and not overload
ther

g behind the h; Th

worst ek ovar erformed on the fam, Onespring, | was harrowing and wavkmg onind,
. ltwas hotand

and sore Amout then time, the orey matier started to work and at dinner time, while the

old pair of
longer piece for a tongue. | attached s 10106 grambar on the narroms and hitched the
outfit and started working.

Dad walked outto the field when he had finished his afternoon nap and took a look at me
riding along on my high wheels. He sort of smiled to and [ could tell that he was
pleased that | had made conditions better. But he said, “Do you not think that s hard on the
horses?" | said, "l doubt if between the six of them, they even know | am riding. Anyway |
treat them a lot better when | am not suffering from aching feet.” “Well, | reckon you are
right,” he said. That was the end of walking behind the harrows. Anyway, there | was sitting
on a power plant that was as good as any in its day.

Shortly atter bringing the tractor home, it time. Dad
erable time going over the separator getting it in shape for threshing. | hooked onto the
separator and pulled it near to the creek bank as we intended blowing the straw over the
bank for the cattle in the winter time. We got the machine set and I backed into the belt. (I
forgot to mention that the belt pulleydid nottur ona 15-30 unlass theclutch that drovait
rollit
oves. The “highball” was a ircuiar matlon with the hand. | taried hings rolling and he
stood for for The throttle on the tractor
Twas at 1055 for more speed. Than t dawned on me that when e Fairbanks Morae wae
driving the machine, a vibration could be felt at the separator through the drive belt. A load

dles pulled in and we started d itjust chewed them up without any fuss
orshaking. Knut Dahlen’s son, Elling, forusthatfall
Elling came back near the tractor to eat his afternoon lunch. He pulled a two and one-half
inch nail from his pocket and stood it on its head on a flat place on the radiator cap. The nail
shivered slightly but did not fall over. Elling said, "Gawd just look at that. It's almost as
steady as steam.

One morning at breakfast, Dad said, “I guess | had better go see Merrel Kinzie about
running the engine for threshing this fall. I think | can e Him forten dollars o day. | sat
for a minute and let this sink in and then | said, “f 10 run the engine for
thres! attor hire him for working in'the isld next spring because | won't be
doing It Ho said if you think you can do it, go ahead and try.” He never argued

bout it so | wondered if he was just feeling around to see how | felt about it. | would have
liked it much better if he had said, “Would youlike to have a go at the threshing this fall." |
y at atage, | thought | knewitall. |

=
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took
1id not have a separator man that fall e rad very i raole ‘except for a few days of
wet weather.

In 1927 Dad bought aMcCl i touring car. In 1928 Dad and Mother, my sister,
Edith, and brother, Glenn, took a trip back to Kansas. They saw those of the relatives still
living. Dad's brother, Henry, was a barber and Dad went to his shop for a haircut. They
started talking and Dad mentioned some of the things they did as boys. Henry said, “Who
are you that you know these things." Dad said, “Don't you know your own brot

The crop was up and looking good when the folks left for their trip. Dad said, “If that crop
Keaps growing ke 1 should, you had botter but on some more hialinsarancs.” n July we




added another forty dollars per acre onto the twenty that he had insured for before he left
on the trip. Most of the crop was on new land and it looked like a good fifty bushels to the
acre. It hailed just before they returned from the trip. The first thing Dad said was, “I hope
you fellers put on more insurance like | told you to do.” We were sure glad that we had
increased the insurance. | cannot recall what percentage we were paid but it was
satisfactory.

The wheat was not ripe when it hailed but the straw was broken and the heads hung
down o that a stem of wheat, instead of being tied in a bundie in the usual manner, the
straw folded with the result that it took more binder twine to tie it into bundles. Two and
one-half pounds of twine per acre would tie a fairly heavy crop. We used four pounds per
acre on that crop. It was a bit harder to thresh as there were almost as many heads facing
toward the bottom of the bundle as toward the top. Bundles were fed into the thresher
heads first as that gave the cylinder a better chance to knock the wheat from the head. The
wheat yielded twenty bushels of number one wheat to the acre even after being hailed

While the folks were away. my brothers, Arnold and Conard, and | broke one hundred
and ten acres of bush land. On some of this, the brush had been cleared, but quite a lot of it
was tough going. When D: , Uncle Bill
around to look at the breaking. Uncle Billy said, "l tell you, Bert, that tractor does not owe
You a thing. It has paid for itself already.”

In 1924 we built a sawmill. Aboutthe only thing that was purchased was the mandrel and
saw blade. The rest was made of parts from scrap piles. It sawed a lot of lumber and was
finally sold to a man who lived near Kelvington, Saskatchewan

Arnold and | did most of the log cutting in the winter time. We became quite good at
falling trees and could fall them exactly where we wanted them.

1am reminded of a tree falling tale. Alex Corry, an Irishman who lived near the south end
of the lake, liked his liquor to the extent that he was often drunk. Two ladies who owned a
cottage atPike Lake daclded that they should removo s rather arga troa from their yard
After i hey could thetree t
cut on to make it fall sway from the cottage. While they were debating about this, who
should come along but Alex Corry. He had been to Vanscoy with a load of wheat and was
on his way home. Also he was feeling no pain. One of the ladies said, "Oh, there's Mr.
Corry. Let's ask him.” So they did. “Ah. Begod!" said Alex. “Just cut around it and it will
fall." He started his horses and took off,

For the sake of my young readers, a tree should be chopped on the side toward where
you want the tree to fall. In using a saw to cut down trees, a notch was cut with the axe to
choose the direction of fall and then the saw is started in from the opposite side. If
everything goes right, the saw cut will start to widen and the tree will start to lean in the
direction of fall. When the tree starts making a noise such as squeaking and popping (this
is called talking). t i best to step away rom the stump s somatimes ths tree will come

too near. If the saw cut

doos not pen and the ree shows signs of leaning back, a wodge Should be driven n 10

force the cut to open. If the wedge is not put in soon enough, the tree can lean back and

pinch the saw so that the sawyer can no longer cut. The saw cannot be removed so the

sawyer has to figure outa way to get the saw out of the cut. Sometimes a long pole may be

placed against thotree high up and then pushing willususlly causs the tres tofall he ight
way.

One time, when | was a very smal boy, my father got hur aling s e, It jumped the
foot neve ersawadnctorsewe

neverkne
was really bad hewould call for Mother to hrlng s s ot ot water o sodk mi footin




One night, when he called for water, Mother did not respond at once so he swung out of
bed and stuck his foot in a pan that he had used the Itwas sitting on
the floor and was cold. It eased the pain more than the hot water so from then on it was cold
water o ice packs. It was not long before he was up and around.

Here was where that pioneer woman that my Mother was got her share of the trouble.
She not only looked after Dad’s needs which were many. He was cross and peevish and
forever calling “Florence, get me this or get me that.” He did not try to spare her one bit
She did all the chores, milked the cows, fed the pigs and looked after the horses.

One evening when she was feeding the horses oats, Old Dick could not wait until she
had poured the oats into his trough and he made a grab for a mouthful and bit Mother's
finger. His teeth bit onto her wedding ring which saved her from a real bad bite. However, it

) ying
tion as much as from the pain. The Old Man never offered one word of sympathy. All he
said was, “You should be more careful.” This is just one of the many hazards that pioneer
farm women came up against

One winter we obtained a permit to cut logs on a piece of ground on the east side of the
river. Arnold and | went there with our outfit, We had been working for about an hour when
aman with a team and sleigh came along an , “What the hell do you think you are
doing." I'said “It's quite evident that we are cutting logs.” He said, “This is government
property and you cannot do your logging here.” It so happened that we had taken our
logging permit with us. | showed him this and he did an about face. He said, "Would you
mindif| come and take some of those tree tops home for firewo0d?" | felt like telling him to
goto hell, butas we did not have a use for the tops, | told him to go ahead. That put him in
the position of poaching wood off government land. There was no problem as it was a
good thing to have the tops cleared away,

One afternoon, Arnold and | were scouting around in the bush and we came across a
huge cotton wood tree. We decided tomorrow morning to cut that one. We did
y-eightinches in diameter. The tree trunk was straight up to twelve feet and
branched outin all directions. We felled the tree and cut off a twelve foot log. Then we had
to chop a trail through the willows to get the sleigh in. We cut several other logs nearby. |
went in with my sleigh and loaded the smaller [ogs and by that time, it was near dinnertime.
We figured it would only take a few minutes to load the big one on Arnold's sleigh. We
loaded and started out of the bush to go home. | heard Arnold yell. | looked around and he
had upset the sleigh. The sleigh was on top of the log with the runners sticking straight up
in the air. Arnold, being very active, had jumped off and was not hurt. We could not get the.
binding chain loose as the hooks were under the log 5o we took a chain from my load and
putitoverthe top of theteam turned
its runners with the log stillin place. As soon as we backed the horses to loosen the chain, it
started rolling back over again. While Arnold kept the chain tight with his team, | hitched
my team to the sleigh and pulled it ahead onto level ground. We arrived home at three
o'clock, hungry as hunters, but happy that we had conquered the big log. The end of this
episode was that the log was too big to fit on the carriage of the sawmill so it laid there for
many years and started getting rotten so we burned it

In 1927 we . The beam of this cutter was
an eighteen foot piece of rail the same as used on the railway track. It was turned up at the.
front with a clevis for hitching to a tractor. At one side and beginning about six feet from
the front, a heavy piece of flat iron stuck out a forty-five degree angle. This iron was
well-braced across to the beam. Along the angling part were attached iron blades three-
eighths of an inch thick, made in the shape of mower sections. On the opposite side were
two star wheels which ran in the ground. They were supposed to take the side thrust as the
machine was dragged along the edge of the brush. Most of the trees and brush fell either
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against the standing trees or fell where they would be in the way when starting the next
round.

Sometimes we would get a crew of men together for moving the brush before the next
round. Many people came to see this machine work and they pitched in and helped move
brush so that for the first few days, it sure seemed a real fast way to clear land. When the
tractor operator was left alone, it was very slow as he was forced to shut off the tractor and
move brush. | cuta few trees that were ten inches in diameter by making several passes at
them

In the winter of 1928, Arnold and | attended a tractor school put on by International
Harvester Company. They lectured on the care of tractors and explained many things
regarding the use of tractors. They showed several films of tractors working at different
things. One of those films was of a McCormick Deering 15-30 pushing a V-shaped brush
cutter. Some farmer in North Dakota had built it. He was sure cutting brush and they
speeded up thefilm and it made quite ashow. We came home and old Dad about this and

d that d material together
tomake one. He figured that s coudfindanord oo engine plow. we could getalot of
the material that we needed from it. We found one west of Delisle. Dad and | went there one
afternoon totake it apart and bring it home. The plow was rivetted together with five-eights
rivets. We took along seven chisels. We started cutting, me on the sledge hammer and Dad
holding the cutters. One by one, the chisels gave out; either they broke or were not hard
enough. We finally got to the last chisel. It was one Dad had made. We cut one hundred
and eighty rivets out of that plow and the last chisel cut over one hundred of them and was
still in good shape. Talking of shape, | would like to be in half the shape that | was then

Thebrushcuttor we buit was V- -shaped seven foet wide atthe back. The cutting bladss

ht aninchthick
The blades aid flat on the ground. Each biade was slght factlong irom the point I ront 6
the wing. That meant that there was sixteen feet of blade to be sharpened. We did this by
heating them in the forge and drawing them out to a thin edge. Dad would heat the metal
and bring it out onto the anvil; then take a fairly heavy hammer and hit the hot metal. | stood
on the opposite side of the anvil with an eight pound hammer. My job was to strike the
metalin exactly the samo spot as Dad hil with his hammer. We kept up this turn about unti
theiron started to n backinto the forge to heat another section. It was quitea trick
tokeep the sharpened 2050 of the blads straight as drawing it out tended to lengthen the
sharpened edge. A onthe thick
that side and we ended up with two nice, straight blades

‘There was no such thing as a farm welder in those days so everything had to be bolted
together. Any iron for braces had to be heated in the forge and cut off on the anvil. The
blacksmith held the cutter and the helper laid on the blows with a big hammer. There was a
place on the anvil to hold the metal for cutting. This spot was not tempered the same as the
face of the anvil. When the cutter went through the metal, it hit this untempered spot and
did not damage the cutter or the face of the anvil. Woe betide anyone that a blacksmith
caught cutting on the face of his anvil

To push this contraption, two beams extended from the front of the cutter back under-
neath the tractor to the drawbar. This was not good as often when one got into heavy
going, iharactor whels would spin anddig inand the gear casson the rearo thotractor

e. To getout of Xl
Carriod two short p166aS o1 10g and with oo of inese Lanind sach wheal and batween the
lugs, | could usually back up and get free. More than once, I got stuck and had to be pulled
free by another tractor. T as very hard to steer thetr 1d be
thicker on one side of the cutter causing it to veer to the other side. More often than not it
would head into the standing trees. When | first used this machine and it headed for the




timber, | just let it keep going and quite a few times got stuck so tight that | had to chop
numerous trees to get out. However, | found that if | stopped, backed up and drove insoas
1o get the trees more even on each side, | did not have so much trouble. Sometimes on
rough ground ) . When , it meant
backing out and trying anather angle

Ralph Pippin cutting brush with 1530 McCormick Deering and home-
made brush-cutter in 1928.

When we had finished building this machine, Dad said, “Take it down to the pasture.
There's about five acres of chokecherry bush that | would like to get rid of.” In two hours |
had cut this five acres. The trees were no bigger than two inches thick. The next spring we

been, makinga t
the pasture. Several years later, the land where the chokecherries had stood was broken
and farmed and is still being farmed today.

Th truck that we used in hauling the plow home was an Imemahona\ one ton. It was
Special because it in th

six speeds Hc\wavd and two in reverse. We bought it in the fall of 1625 and | hauled

thirty-two thousand bushels of wheal that fall. Mosl of it was hauled to Vanscoy. Harry

Y
rhome. | drove up behind him and
blow the horn. He took off as fast as his truck could go and | followed after him. | blew the
horn once in a while to make him think | was going to pass him. There was no way | could
pass him as the two trucks were even in speed. We came over a hill on the road past Bob
Wright's farm. Down the road a couple of miles, Hoyte signalled that he wanted to stop so
we stopped and he jumped out and came back to my truck. He said, "Did you see that?" |




said, "See what.” “Damn it, | ran into a big, white sow back there at Bob Wright's.” | said,
“Did you kill her?" He said, "I bloody well knocked her cuckoo.” The next day Bob came
out to the road and stopped me and asked if | had run over his pig. | said, “No." He said, "I
wish who ever did would have told me because she was lying close to the fence. She was
dead and mortified when | found her.”  did nottell on Harry. If | had and Harry found it out,
I might have been dead and mortified t0o,

The first truck that we owned was a one and a half ton. It was a used truck when we
acquired it and we had lots of grief with it. The Six Speed Speical was a dandy little truck
and did the hauling on our farm for many years. Glenn owns it now and starts itonce ina
while to haul away his garbage.

In the fall of 1939, Dad purchased the first combine to operate in the Valley. It was a
McCormick Deering with only @ six foot cut. We used the 1928 tractor to pul it It was
driven by power take off which meant th
it. | was working summerfallow with the old tractor on a field away from home. oo ioh
for work about nine o'clock, Arnold was getting ready to start with the combine on a
twenty-seven acre field close to the house. The grain was not swathed; he was combining
it standing.

When | returned in the evening, the field where he was working was all cut and threshed
with a lovely golden stubble standing there. It sure seemed a good way to take off a crop.

After Arnold left to go farming on his own, Glenn took over the combining. He had built
an electric welder out of an old street car motor. He used the welder to add a two foot
extension to the cutting bar on the combine making it an eight foot cut. Glenn did
considerable combining rye in the sand hills west of Pike Lake. The farmers there
ploughed the land quite deep thus it was often loose and dry in the fall. With the tractor on
steel, it was very hard to steer in the loose sand. Sometimes on a sidehill the tractor would
start skidding sideways with the result that the combine might be cutting only a couple of
feet. The tractors had no wheel brakes so there was no way to get it back in ine again.
Some of the newer ith rubber tres. he
would put the 15-30 on rubber. He bought a set of tires and rims, cut the spokes in the
wheels and removed the steel rims, welded the new rims on, put on the tires. It was a big
improvement. It showed up also when plowing or any field operation.

The 15-30's on steel worked in second gear when on a heavy load. With the rubber tires
and the cold manifold, Glenn pulled a four bottom plough, a packer and press drillin high
gear which gave a speed of five and one half miles per hour. Glenn still owns that tractor
and he often started it to do the 0dd job. He acquired a back hoe to use in his work of
sewage and plumbing and it is easier to start than the 15-30 50 he uses it when he needs a
tractor.

In the twenties, we did considerable road grading for the R.M. of Vanscoy. We hitched
both tractors to the grader, one ahead of the other. When we did our first grading, Bob
Rowatt, who was the councillor for Division One, advised us to hire Herman Shillington
who lived near Delisle to run the grader. We enjoyed working with Herman and we ended
up with a good road.

Oneyear, Herman was not available so | decided | would have a go at running the grader.
We were working north of Pike Lake close to the river. There were some really tough

o | wished However, | kept
atit. We were working on a two mile stretch as it was hard to get turned around on account
of so much brush at the roadside. We putup road closed” signs and "detour” signs as we
knew that travelling was going to be rough for awhile. One day we were at the north end
and had turned to head back. | noticed some of the bolts were working loose on the grader
blade. We stopped so that | could tighten them. A big fat man smoking a cigar pulled up




beside the outfit with a shiny new car. He started swearing at the boys on the tractor. Just
about thattime, | came from underneath the grader with a big wrench in my hand. It was in
July. | was hotand my face was dirty. Altogether, | was a disreputable looking character. |
walked over to his car and asked him if he would like to repeat what he had been saying. He
never answered me but put his car in gear and took off. He had driven in past the detour
signs. Once he started, there was no turning back as there was a big ridge of dirt right down
the center of the road. If we had been on the way back instead of at the end, he would have
had the pleasure of backing his car to the detour signs.

Another custom job that we took on was moving the C.G..T. Hall at Pike Lake. McKee
Moving & Storage were in charge of the job and they hired us to come with our tractors to
furnish the power. When Arnold and | arrived, the building was already loaded on steel
dollies. They had settled into the sod about four inches. Arno will never pull it.”
He was right. The tractors dug in like a couple of badgers. The foreman said, "We will have
to use a dead man and pulleys.” They dug a piece timber, ten by ten inches square and
eight feet long, six feet into the ground.

A long cable ran from the dead man to a pulley attached to the building. The tractors
were hitched to the end of the cable where it came thraugh the pulley. We started shesd
and the deadman came out of the popped into the air about six feet. It was
Saturday evening so the foreman 4aid That's al for this week. We wil see you Monday
morning.” Monday morning, McKees brought rubber tired dollies and placed them under
the building in place of the steel ones. They also brought along fourteen axles that had
been removed from old cars. These were driven into the ground at a bit of a slant. A chain
was wound around the ends of the axles that stuck above ground and the end of the cable
attached to the chain. The procedure was the same as with the dead man except that the
exles id not come out of the ground. The building moved siowly forward to where the

theground. Thentl the length of cable
ot been driven in asecondtime. The
building moved ahead about on hundred and fifty feet at a tim

A fellow driving a two ton Ford truck dragged the loose cable back through the pulley
and ahead to the pins. He said to the foreman, “| can pull more with this truck than either
one of those tractors.” The foreman replied, “Don't be silly.” The truck driver hooked the
cable to his truck and started ahead. He had pulled out about half of the cable and Arnold
had attached his tractor to the other end ready to pull as soon as the cable was attached to
the pins. The foreman saw this and told Arnold to go ahead. He said, “I want to show that
truck driver that he can't pull more than a tractor.” Arnold went ahead and the cable

pulley, the truck thetractor on the other. The tractor
went steadily ahead and the truck wheels started spinning on the green grass. The truck
driver leaned out of the window to check his rear wheels. The wheels were turning ahead
alright, but the truck was going backwards. The driver stepped on the gas and the wheels
spun faster but he was dragged right back to where he started from. The foreman went
over to the truck and said, “I don't want to hear any more damn fool statements about how
much your truck can puli.”

We finally got the building moved but not before Mrs. F.H. Webb, who was the President
of the Club at that time, came along. A lot of our ripping and tearing had been while
crossing the golf course. She collared the foreman and started chewing him out. The first
she said was, "Why the idea, right here on the golf course.” She did quite a bit of
talking. The foreman’s name was Laird. | o not know if that was his first or his last name.
He was a gentleman of the old school and handled the situation quite nicely.




CHAPTER TEN

started looking around to see if | could find a used one. Bruce Sawyer had a

Winchester 30-0. 1 had a guiar that Mrs. Kissack had given me. Bruce wanted the
quitarand The guitar therifle
was alemon. It was the only Winchester gun that | have ever seen that was no good. It was
impossible to hit a target or any game more than twenty yards away. After hunting with
Dad several times and taking the usual ribbing about being no good as a hunter, | finally
convinced him that the 30-30 was at fault instead of me. The next time he went to
Saskatoon he took the Winchester with him to Sharzers Second Hand store and traded it
on a 303 Savage. The Winchester was in beautiful shape on the outside. The Savage was
rather weather beaten so | was very disappointed.

We had butchered a steer and the offal was left in the field about two hundred yards from
the house. | got up at daylight and loaded the Savage and stepped outside. There was a
coyote having his breakfast on the remains of the steer. | took careful aim and | shot over
the coyote. and | dropped bed
and came out in his pyjamas to ask what all the sho
coyote out in the field. He said, “So you missed aga
had killed it.

Asnmu wentby, | did more trapping and hunting. | had not acquired a Hi Power rifle. |

g was about. | said there was a
I'sure felt smart when | told him |

After breakfast, it was my job to take my younger brothers and sisters to school. | was
driving the car and | took along my rifle. There was a coyote sitting on a hill so atfter | had
delivered the children, | drove over near to the coyote. It was sitting there with its head
thrown back and howling. | parked the car and walked to the top of a hill: the coyote was
still there and howling. It was only about fifty yards from me. | cut his how! short by
shooting him inthe head. That afternoon | went for a short hunt. A coyote crossed the road
in front of the car and | shot him. | had shot three coyotes and | had not had my rifle
twenty-four hours. At last the ribbing about not being able to shoot was over.

Uncle Billy Mcintosh (not really my uncle) who farmed in the Grandora, Saskatchewan
district decided in 1929 to move out of there and go to the Meadow Lake, Saskatchewan
country. He hitched four horses to either the bunk car or the cook car from his threshing
days and headed out for Meadow Lake. He painted a sign “Meadow Lake or Bust" and
to be his home on the long trek and also on

his homestead once he arrived there.

Aroving Star Phoenix reporter

what his name was. He pointed lo the sign over the door and said “You can call me
A

n the Star Phoenix and | saved
a copy of ft. Somehow | have lost 1. In @ phone. onversation with Mrs. Grace Mcintosh,
who is Haywire Bill's sister-in-law, she told me she had also lost her copy.

Haywire made many trips between Grandora and Meadow Lake getting his equipment
and belongings to Meadow Lake. The 125 hp steam engine purchased from George
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Buchanan was shipped to Meadow Lake by rail. Two other tractors that he owned, a
McCormick Deering 15-30and an International Titan 10-20, were driven to Meadow Lake.
On a high grade, somewhere north of Glaslyn, the driver ost control of the 10-20 and it
ended up in the ditch upside down. He left it there for the time being and proceeded to
Meadow Lake, and from there to the Makwa district, where he had taken a homestead.
Haywire Bill was back and forth many times until he got all his equipment to the
homestead

One time, when he was back. he was staying at the King Edward Hotel in Saskatoon. He
and a couple of other fellows were standing on the sidewalk in front of the hotel when a
policeman came along and arrested him for loitering. Haywire Bill was a very good friend
of the Chief of Police, George Donald. Bill asked the policeman if he could make a phone
call before being locked up. He phoned the. Chief and aid.Chief, oneof your damn pimps
has taken me into custody. Will you come and bail m: Donald came and told
e policeman that he shauld b a e mare sure of hmself before arresting someone.
The policeman had a very red face, but he apologized and everything was okay.

That same time, Haywire came to our farm to stay for a few days. We went daar hunting
and my brother, Arnold, and Dad chased a big doe out of the bush. She was running across
an open field and Bill toherthan | was. | toofar
away, but Bill opened fire. He was shooting a Winchester 32 Special Carbine and the deer
was totally out of range of his gun. He fired five shots in rapid succession. When Amold
and Dad came out where we were, Bill said, "God, she was a big slut. Land she was a big
slut. | just kept popping it to ner. wasn't going to et her get away.” | doubt ifany of the
bunals came clnse 10 the dee

Haywire Bill in the north country.
sakaworkes tor i the mries and Jake now lives on his farm in the Moon Lake area.
Haywire had built himself a sort of semi truck out of a Packard car and various parts of
other cars. They drove far into the north country 1o hunt caribou. They were returning
home when the After much fool d, they found that

for cap was crached so they had to walk outninety miles They never returned to bring out
the old Packar

Haywire naa been at our place for three days when he persuaded Dad and | that we
should drive to Meadow Lake country to hunt. We asked Merrel Kinzie to go along.
Haywire just wanted a ride home as there were not as many deer at Makwa as we had at
Pike Lake. We built a caboose on the back of our International truck. loaded up our
belongings, and headed for the north country.

When we left home, there was about twelve inches of snow on the ground. The road to
Meadow Lake passed through Biggar at that time. When we had gone as far as Biggar,
there was very little snow, and before we had gone a short distance north of Biggar, there

/as no snow. We made it to Meadow Lake, and then headed off into the bush to Haywire
Bills cabin. We arrived about eleven o'slock at night, twisting and turning around stumps

was cold so it was very nice {o arfive at the cabin where Ed Kvande, who worked for Billy,
had a good fire going.

We had supper and then sat around and talked for awhile. As | felt sort of mixed up in my
ections after driving in, | asked which way the door was facing. Ed Kvande answered,
‘West.” | thought, well, | am mixed up as | feel as though the door is facing south. The next
morning, when | went outside, the sun was just coming up and it was on my left so my
feelings were right. The door faced south. They had lived there two years, believing that
the door faced west.

The next morning, Merrel, Dad and | started out to hunt. Dad suggested that we
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separate, butto try and keep in touch with each other until we became used to the country.
Ahalf hour later, | had become lost from them. | called but could get no answer. | setouton
my own as | knew the way back to camp.

Allatonce | came across a track that was not big enough for an elk; but if it was a deer, he
would be the biggest one | had ever seen. | started trailing him and in about an hour he got
outof his bed and took off. | keptafter him. Several times | caught glimpses of him, but had
no chance for a shot

Isatdown on alog atnoon to eat two sandwiches | had with me. When | had finished and
rested for a few minutes, | stood up and so did the buck. He had laid down about
seventy-five yards from me. | heard him go, but did not catch sight of him. Several times.
during the afternoon, | saw his white rump disappear in the trees.

It was getting late in the evening and the sun was aimost down. | decided that | would try
leaving the track and circle around to try and get ahead of the old boy. On the first circle |

made, | came to a slough. There standing in the middle of it was the buck. | looked at him
and he looked at me as though he thought, what i hell are you doing there when you have
been behind me all day. | thought, | didn't come here and walk all day just to look at youso |
shot him.

| field-dressed him and then started to think about making my way back to camp. |
headed oft i the direction | thought camp to be and started biazing trees so that | could
find my way back to the deer the next day. It got dark and | gave up blazing trees. | stopped
and fired three shots and away in the distance | heard an answering shot. Oh boy! | was
headed straight for camp. | did not have to shoot any more as Merrel fired about every ten
minutes. | must have crossed a creek at least a dozen times as it was 5o crooked. Over
deadfalls and through the brush with a willow branch taking a cut at my face because |
could not see it in the dark. There was not much snow so the footing was not too bad. It
took me two and one-half hoursto make it home to camp. | was tired and hungry and after |
had eaten, | started getting charlie horses in the back part of my legs. | stretched outon the
bunk and Merrel rubbed my legs until p: away. | was pretty but
I'had my by

e next morning | told Ed Kvande what the slough was like where | had shot the deer.
3 wwhere tis,” and he led us through Iogging roads and old trails, straight to
e tasr. Winonwe had locked at the busk, Eq said Tbare s a ranchhouse abouta quarter
of amile from here. We will borrow a horse from them and drag the deer to their place; then
you can drive up with the truck and pick it up.” If | had known the country the night before, |
could have walked to the ranchhouse and followed a well-beaten road right to our camp.
Such is the life of a hunter.

The people at the ranchhouse came there from the Vanscoy district. Their name was
Ludrickson. When we brought the deer from the bush, the lady of the house came out to
look atit. She harangued her husband and boys. Apparently. they did not have any meatin
the house and she felt that they should kill a deer. | wished after | got the deer home that |
had left it there with them. The meat was tough and stringy and didn't even make good
soup. It should have been made into sausage, but it turned out that our dogs ate most of it

Harry Forbes had taken a homestead at Makwa. He came over to where we were staying
and suggested that we go hunting with him. The next day we loaded our bedding and grub
into the truck and drove to Harry's homestead to pick up Harry and his tent. Then we drove
fourteen miles down an old logging road. We were headed for an old sawmill site. We
stopped at an Indian log cabin on the way. Harry asked the squaw if we were on the right
road to the sawmill. Two little kids came to the door with their mother. They were barefoot
and did not have on too much in the way of clothes. They took a look at s, and then hid
behind their mother's skirts and peeked out at us. When we got to where we intended
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camping, it was on the bank of a ltle stream s0 we cut a hole in the ice to get water,
Harry was very proficient at setting up a camp in the winter. First, we cleared away the
osit. T dry logs near at hand. Harry selected four
of these, about six inches in diameter. and cut them to the size of the tent. He laid them so
the logs were the size of the tent. When the tent was pitched, he nailed the bottom of the
tent to the logs with roofing nails. Then we banked the tent with snow allthe way sround
except the door. placed e tent. That was
to spread our blankets on. We did not have sleeping bags and | doubt if o things were
being manufactured in those days. For a stove, we used an air tight heater. The air tights,
as they were known, were made of sheet steel and heated up very rapidly.

Harry did the cooking. | cannot recall what we ate, but it was good and plentiful. | had
broughtalong a “swede" saw and | was detailed to cut a supply of wood for the night. | was
to sleep closest to the stove, and if it started to cool off in the night, | was to replenish the
fire. We stayed nice and warm, but | had to put wood on the fire three or four times during
the night

Harry had brought along a little thermometer. He hung it on a tree just outside the tent.
He got up first the next morning and said, “It's 32 below out there.” We had breakfast and
sat around until the sun came up. It didn't feel that cold as there was no wind in the bush.

“Itanyb adeer that he shoots at, he should have his
ass kicked.” That comment backfired as such comments often do. Merrel and | were
hunting together; Dad and Harry took a different direction. | went into a patch of spruce
trees and three deer came out. Merrel fired five shots at them and missed. | blamed the cold
for the reason he missed as Merrel was a crack shot and seldom missed. When | came out
where Merrel was, he bent over and said, “Go ahead and kick me." | declined and we had a
good laugh over the way things turn out.

We stayed at that camp for three days and never came across any more deer. In those
days, antifreeze was unheard of so we had drained the water from the truck. When we were
ready to leave, we heated water and filled the radiator. After the first day, the weather had
moderated somewhat. We went back to Haywire Bill's cabin.

The second night we were there, | woke up in the night. The wind was blowing hard. |
thought | could hear water dripping, 50 | went outside. The wind was a chinook. It was
really thawing and the water was dripping off the eaves. At daylight | was up and saying
whatawonderful day it was for hunting. Dad went outside. When he came in, he said, “No
more hunting. We are getting out of here because it is going to storm.” Well, Merrel and |
were very reluctant, but we loaded up our gear and took off for home. We made it back as
far as Biggar that night. Merrel stayed with his wie, Regina's, relations. Dad and | got a
room at the hotel. We were able to get the truck into a heated garage for the night.

The next day we arrived home to find that the twelve inches of snow, on the ground when
we left, had melted into ice. It snowed very little until March when there was a very heavy
fall of wet snow. Back at the Meadow Lake country, it snowed two feet of wet snow the
night we left. Some other hunters who stayed had to be taken by horses and sleigh to
Meadow Lake and catch thetrain for home. They had to go back in the spring and bring out
their vehicles. Nobody had any trouble with bringing out their game as no one had any
luck,

We did all this preamble and had not taken a spare tire for the truck. Two days after we
arrived home, | was hauling wheat and a valve stem broke; of course, the tire was flat. It was
stupid of us to go without a spare tire. If we had got a flat when we were in camp at the old
sawill site, | dread to think of the trouble we would have been in. This is the story of my
first safari into the north country.

Ihave gone to the north many times since to hunt and fish. There is something about the
north that appeals to me. All the trees and lakes are very attractive, but | would not like to
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live there full time. The people of the north are more friendly and neighborly than in more
thickly populated areas. | could tell many stories of my trips to the north, but | believe they
should be told in another book.

However, there is one trip | will write a few lines about. | was at a dance one night in
Vanscoy Circle Hall. Albert Vanderkooi and Ed Morgan were there. Albert is quite a hunter
and the conversation got around to moose hunting. Albert asked me if | would like to go
with them on a hunt north of Paddockwood. | said, | sure would,” so we made plans to go.
Albert had a used school bus which he had converted to a mobile home. It made a very
good hunting cabin.

party consisted of Albert Vandarkool, Ed Morgan, Wayne Bowes and myself. | told
the fellows that they would have to do all the cooking as | could not boil water without
burning it. Albert, being a very fine fellow, Shid, ~Don'ty00 worty about that." | got away
with it that year. But one time, we took the moose to be cut up at a place in Sutheriand. The
butchers were throwing the bones in a box and | said, “Don't throw away all those bones.
They are good for making sou low do you make soup from moose
bones?" | wentintoa twinkle in Albert's
eyes, and he said, “Listen to that, boys. This quy o says he can't boil water without
burning it is a damn chef.” Guess who did most of the cooking on the next trip.

One evening, we were breaking camp to go home. The boys said, "You get supper and
we will get everything loaded.” | went into the camper and decided that | was going to have
agood shot of whiskey before | made supper. On an empty stomach it hit me pretty good
and | was really feeling fine. After | got the potatoes and meat on to cook, | had another
drink. By then | was feeling no pain. Albert apackage of
home. The package contained five pieces, four really nice steaks and one piece that was
almost all bone. | cooked the steaks, including the bony piece. | made sure the bone was
nicely browned. | mashed the potatoes, and Albert said, “Just imagine, creamed potatoes
in a moose hunting camp.” 1 took the frying pan to the table and placed a steak on each
plate. But when | came to Ed's plate, | put the fried bone on it. He filled his plate with
potatoes and whatever else there was to eat, grabbed his knife and was aiming to cut
himselfa bite of T Edletoutaroar. “This
is nothing but bone.” “Thi bone." By
then the others had caught on to the fact that | was fooling around. They started to laugh. |
did notwant the joke to o 100 far so | brought out the pan with the good steak and gaveit
to Ed. | will never forget the look on Ed's face when he tried to cut that bone. But he was a
good sport and laughed along with the rest of us.

I may be getting my dates mixed and who was with us on the trips, but one time Wayne
Bowes was in the party. Wayne and | started telling dirty jokes and this went on for awhile.
Then it got sort of quiet. Albert said, “I will turn on the radio and see what's going onin the
outside world-"1 listened for a minute and hare was 2 voice on the radio telling one of the
jokes Ihad e before. Tt and Alberthad taped
for s wife and {rionds. We sur had a 1ot f fun and | am sorry that | am getting too old ©

ack it

Going back to the “dirty thirties” as those years became known, | must tellof some of the
trials and hardships that came along with them. It was very dry, and the wind blew
incessantly. The farmers had been working their land for many years with the idea that it
was 2 disgrace o leave any trash showing on.a cultvatod lild. The resuit was that when

the soil got dry anc the air was e. There was
s0 much dust in e a1t that one could look directly at the sun at 12 'ciocx noon and it
appeared The heavier soil the ground

edge of the fields or drifted out into the road allowance making the right of way |mpassable
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for cars. | have seen fences along the fields that were completely buried by the drifting
topsoil. Many people loaded their belongings on whatever means of transportation they
owned and headed north to take homesteads in the forested areas. Machinery that was left
sitting in a field would be completely buried.

Before the 2nd World War, scrap iron was much in demand. A man from Saskatoon who
ownedatruck forol | went with him
to the Gledhow district looking for scrap iron on abandoned farmsteads. We found a spot
where a grain binder was almost buried in sand. There was an oblong-shaped pile of earth
near by. We dug into it and discovered a fifteen foot International Harvester Co. land
packer. It produced about two tons of cast iron. I do not know f the fellow had any right to
take these old machines, but no one ever protested and he got away with it. Some of the

covered by sand If he had not dug up
the ones that were buried, | imagine they would still be there rusting away.

Many things have been written about the “dirty thirties”, some true and some fiction. |
will mention a few things that happened at our farm. Dad had always raised a number of
pigs. All at once, there was no market for pork. It was no use to take them to the city as no
one was buying hogs. We had about thirty-five pigs at the time. The porkers would weigh
about sixty pounds each. Dad let it be known that he would sell his pigs for twenty-five
cents each. He sold most of them as other farmers who did not keep pigs would buy two or
three and finish them out for their meat.

The dairy farmers would sell their newborn calves for fifty cents each, but one had to be
on the spot and take the calves or they would hit them on the head. | bought some of these
calves and fed them on milk replacer which was skim milk powder mixed with water. It cost
one dollar and eighty cents for a fifty pound bag. As soon as the calves were old enough,
they were putto pasture. We were lucky to have pasture along the lake 5o that the grass on
the low lying land stayed fairly green

Oneyear| asked Dad for some money so that | could go to the Saskatoon Exhibition. He
told me he could not afford to give me any. He said, “Take the truck and take one of your
best calves to the stockyards.” | loaded a three hundred pound calf and took it to Wieller
and Williams at the Union stockyard in Saskatoon. | received a check for nine dollars. |
cashed my check and went to the exhibition. One could buy a good meal at any of the
church booths for fifty cents. were five cents
would be. If you just said, "An ice cream cone, please,” and the cone was filled, you would
be charged ten cents. Chocolate bars were five cents and were nearly double in size
compared with today’s bars. Good lemonade was five cents a large glass. The merry-go-
round and all other rides costten cents. T 1 cents with
of Harlem in Havana which was twenty-five cents a look. It was a show put on by colored
people with the girls in various stages of dress and undress. For thoss times, it was
some of today's acts. My nine
dollars took meto all the mldway Laanotrememer fihad any money left over, but I think
it was likely that | was broke. Anyway, | had a real good day at the exhibition. | have never
been able to work up 50 much enthusiasm for the fair with the exception of another time.
That time | took Vickie, the girl who is my wife now, and that was the best day | have ever
spent at the Saskatoon Exhibi

There was no work to be had so there were not too many ways of making money. |
trapped considerable, but raw furs were ata low price. My brother, Arnold, and | discov-
ered that there were quite a few beavers in the South Saskatchewan River. There was no
season for beavers so we decided that perhaps we could make some extra cash by
poaching beavers. We loaded my boat, our guns, traps, blankets, and enough grub for two
to three days on Arnold's truck. Brother Conard drove s up river about twenty miles. It
was a hot, dry afternoon when we got the boat in the water and started drifting down-
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stream. We had not drifted very far when we noticed a dark cloud in the west. It turned out
10 be a dust storm driven by a terrific wind. We were closer (o the east bank of the river so
we headed fo it

Itwas arocky beach where we landed and we dragged the boat about twenty feet up on
the bank. When the wind struck, it drove the water up on the bank until it was splashing in
the boat. We dragged the boat higher and tied it fast to a tree. Then we went up the bank to
see if we could find a building of any sort. We were in a government pasture and there was
no shelter in sight. We found a piece of board about six feet long and took it back to the
boat with us. We hoped the wind would go down in the evening, but it blew harder than ever
and the air was so full of sand it Iooked like it was night. We decided we had better try to
construct some sort of shelter for it looked as though we would be there for the night. With
the piece of board and our hands, we dug a cave in the sandy bank. It started to rain and the
air turned very cold. We gathered some wood and made a fire in front of our cave. The rain
stopped after a short while, 50 we made some supper and sat in our cave out of the wind.
We sat there for awhile and Arnold remarked, “I think | know how a coyote feels on a
stormy night." When it got dark, we wrapped our blankets around us and half sitting, half
lying, we went to sleep.

When | woke at five o'clock, the wind had abated somewhat so | woke Arnold. We
decided to go downstream to the west bank of the river where we would be more out of the
wind and could make breakfast. We had gone about a mile when the wind let go and it
started to rain, We krew that around a bend Inthe rive tne wind would have a good, long

p the river. not be ableto
Whoro here was planty of dry wood Madea firs and nad breakfast. We were il about ten
miles from home. There was no sign that the rain was going to stop so we turned the boat
upside down and put our equipment under; then started to walk home. We slogged along
in that heavy river bottom soil with mud building up on our rubber boots. Every so often we
would be forced to stop and remove it. We arrived at Arnold’s home about ten o'clock. We
never even saw a beaver 5o there was no profit in that trip.

After it stopped raining, we went back for our equipment. | brought the boat down the
river while Arnold took the truck back home. | saw one beaver on the way back but he got
outof sightin a hurry. Another time, | went alone and went through the same procedure of
hauling the boat up the river and drifting down. We got the boatin the river about sundown.
We had supper before we left home and there was not much to do after Arnold went home
with the truck so | sat on the river bank for awhile. It was getting dark so | spread my
blankets and laid down. It was a beautiful mooniit fall night. | found it hard to go to sleep.
However, | dozed off and was suddenly awakened by someone walking in the dry leaves. |
could not figure out why anyone would be walking there unless he was looking for me. |
decided to keep perfectly still and msybe I would not be noticed. The footsteps came
closerand closer. handsome by
He walked past four feet from my bed and never even saw me. If | had moved o spoken, |
would have given him a worse scare than he gave me.

| awoke at daylight, rolled up my blankets, and went down to the boat. | looked
downstream and there coming from the far side of the river was a beaver. | got into the boat
and started drifting towards it. When | got to the spot where I thought the beaver came
ashore, | grabbed a tree hanging out over the water so that | would not drift away
downstream. | sat there for perhaps five minutes; then | noticed a movement in the water
beneath an overhanging willow. The beaver had just poked the tip of his nose out of the
water so that he could get some air. It was no use to shoot him in the nose so | just sat and
waited. Finally, he decided it was time to have alook around so he poked up his head and |
shot him. A beaver should never be shot anywhere but behind the ear as for some reason,
he will not sink. If shot in the eye or the front part of the head. he will dive under the water
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and may never My
not be shot at all. That beaver was the largest one | have ever seen. | guessed he would
weigh seventy-five to eighty pounds.

Igot three more beavers on that trip and after we had them fleshed and stretched, the fur
buyers in Saskatoon gave us five ollars a beaver. There was no arguing or bargaining; it
was five dollars a beaver, big, litle, old or young. When the buyers had enough skins tofill
a suitcase, they hopped on the train and took them to Winnipeg, Manitoba where they
would receive anywhere from twenty-five to forty dollars per pelt. Our moneymaking
escapade didn't last very long as we were doing all the work and getting the small end of
the stick.

The last beavers | sold | skinned but didn't flesh. | rolled the skins with the fur side out,
putapiece of brown paper around each one, and presented them to the fur buyer. He p
me fifteen dollars without looking at the skins and | got away from there as quickly as
possible. If he put them in his suitcase without checking them, he would sure have a fine
smell by the time he got to Winnipeg. If he opened them up, he would have found out how
much work fleshing a beaver skin is,

Onespring, | was fishing in the river. The ice had just gone out and a pair of beavers were
swimming near the mouth of a creek. | went down there with my boat the next morning and
got them both. Mr. Emil Van Impe, who ran the Belgian Dry Cleaners and Furriers on 20th
Street in Saskatoon, sometimes came to my place. | showed him the beaver skins and he
said, “l want those two to make a pair of mitts.” He gave me twenty-five dollars each for
them. They were the darkest skins that | ever came across and were really beautiful. If he
made them into mitts, | never saw them, but | am sure they would be nice. Thisis one of the
ways that we picked up a few doll p lief. People on
the prai 0 way of making any extra money.

The dry years did not startas soon in the river valley as on the prairie, but eventually they
Hitherst0o, ke Lk i up making timpossibleto catch any mud snakes, but fishing
in the river remained fairly goo«

Sometime in the aaviylhlmes, I purchased my first car. It was a 1926 Chevrolet. A young

this carin thelate fall. radiat

and one pight when at a dance, his.car froze up, boiled the water out and got not. He
poured cold water intoitand cracked the head of the motor. He had bought it at a dealer's
in Saskatoon for two hundred and fifty dollars. He did not bother to repair it, but parked it
until spring. He asked me if I would like to buy it for fifty dollars so Itook it home. | found a
head off a 490 Chevrolet. The 490 was a forerunner of the 1926 and the head was the same
except that the holes, where the valve lifting pushrods went through, had to be drilled
larger. | drove that car one hundred and ten thousand miles. The wheels had wooden
spokes and eventually, the spokes dried out and became loose. Therefore, when the car
was driven ahead, the spokes leaned back in the wheels, and when in reverse, they leaned
ahead. | took the hubs apart and drove wedges between the spokes to tighten them. The
‘motor was four-cylinder and was one of the best for starting in cold weather. It made very
good mileage. My brothers claimed that ninety-nine percent of the miles | made with it
were chasing girls. | drove that little car until it was bushed and as | had no money to buy
another car, | did without one for several years.

When times got a little better, | bought a used 1935 International Model Cl half ton. It was
asix-cylinder, flathead motor. If it was parked in the shade of a tree, it would not start. It
atrip. | drove it mat tell more

uld
about it in another chapter.
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CHAPTER ELEVEN
BATCHING

land among his children. My land was the NE 20-34-6W 3rd. That is where | live today.

Dad had purchased the SE of 17-34-6W 3rd from Ira Cook. That quarter was divided by
the ake, and he sold the west portion to Edmund Lehmann. He leased the spot on the east
side, known as Ira’s Clearing, to Frank Gasall from Saskatoon. Frank built a cottage there
and when he decided that he was going to move to a farm at Lac Vert, Saskatchewan, he
sold the cottage to Dad. He said that | could buy it and move it to my iand. The price was
two hundred and twenty-five dollars. It had a living room, two bedrooms, a kitchen and a
screened verandah across the front. The cottage had one ply of siding and was painted
brick red. It was lined inside with small pieces of gyproc with no insulation in the walls. It
was built for a summer cottage.

With the help of my brothers, we moved it to the same spot where my house stands
today. We placed it on wooden blocks. It was getting late in the fall and Mother persuaded
me to stay home for another winter. The next summer. | moved in. Being very busy with
farming and other work. i nothave much ime towork on ixing up he shacic as Tt was
fwood the winter before. It was a good
thing | did because when it ol my one ply shack sitting on blocks about
afoot above the ground level.

The first snow storm was a blizzard with a very high cold wind. It blew through the shack
and | had to keep a fire going all night to keep warm. | looked outside and my dog, Sport,

\g around the yard 9 place the wind. | went outand
leaned a stone and dand some hay
underneath for Sport to sleep on. The next morning, | went to the door and called, but no
dog. It had snowed and drifted a lot and the stone boat and dog were buried. There was a
crack 9 Idug him outand h: the snow as
though he really enjoyed it

Later on, | built a porch over the back door and that was Sport's sleeping place. He would
never come into the house, not even if he was coaxed with food. I trained him to do many
things. | would open the kitchen door and he would stand with his front feet on the door sill.
| would ask, "Are you hungry?” and he would answer with a loud, sharp bark. | would say,
“Hey. you are in the house.” He would answer with a soft woof,

Ihad a pasture with a lane one-half mile long leading o it. | kept two cows there. When it
was milking time, | would tell Sport, "Get the cows.” He would go to the pasture and bring
them home walking at their own pace. He never hurried them. One evening, | sent him for
the cows. They did not come, so | walked to a ridge where | could see to the pasture. Sport
was on the side of a ridge in a hole with just his hind legs and tail sticking out. A gopher had
crossed his path and the temptation was 100 great. The gopher ran down his hole and

I 11935 | decided that | would like to leave home and go on my own. Dad had divided his.
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Sport was intent on digging him out. | yelled, “What do you think you are doing?" He
backed out of the hole he had dug, and stood there looking like a kid caught with his hand
in the cookie jar. Then he ook off as fast as he could run and brought the cows

1 often took him hunting with me and | found that he was a first rate deer hunter. He
always walked behind me. Sometimes, he would get excited and chase a rabbit. | never
whipped him, but scolded him when he came back. He soon learned not to go unless | told
him he could. | let him chase a rabbit once in awhile. He sure enjoyed it, but he never ever
went unless | told him to “get it

The first time that | discovered that he was a deer hunter, | was walking beside a poplar
bluff. There were lots of deer tracks, but so far | had seen no deer. All atonce, | noticed that
Sport had stopped and was sniffing and gazing intently at something in the bush. He
looked at me and then looked at whatever it was he saw in the bush. It was as though he
was saying come and take a look. | took a couple of steps backwards and there, standingin
the edge of the bush about ifty yards away, was a young buck deer. He stood perfectly still
as| walked by. If Sport had not spotted him. | would not have known he was there. | shot the
buck and Sport did not get excited as | figured he might. He just sniffed at the deer and did
notattempt to bite or eat it, but he sure liked to get his share of bones and scraps after the
butchering. Sport had one fault that | could not cure him of. He chased cats. When he
caught one, it was a dead cat. He would grabthe catand give it a shake and break its back.
Aslongas [ had Sport, | could not keep a cat as sooner o later he would cateh up to it and
killit.

After the first snow storm of my batching days, the weather warmed considerably and |
dug up some dirt and banked the house. | removed part of the inner wall of the kitchen and
putin some insulation. We used wood shavings as insulation in those days. | put the wall
back in place and papered it with a layer of builder's paper, a heavy brown paper. Then |
covered that with wallpaper. Atleast | now had one room that was warm. In the bedroom, |
pasted pages of magazines on the walls and ceiling overlapping the pages until | had a
good three layers of paper. Then | covered it with wallpaper. | used newspaper to cover
those walls because there was just no money to buy anything different. When people were
laying linoleum or carpet on floors in those days, they always used newspaper for backing
Ipapered my living room with brown paper and never did finish the second bedroom. | dug
acellar under the kitchen for keeping vegetables. | also put on storm windows, This joint
was to be my home for the next eight years

1 built a barn sixteen by twenty-four feet from the lumber we cut at our sawill. | built a
frame and nailed the boards on i a vertical position and nailed four inch strips over the
cracks. | made the roof the same way so the only money | spent was for nails. For about
three years, the building was quite warm and dry. Then the strips started shrinking, the
roof started leaking, and the wind started coming through the walls. | removed the strips
and put on rubber roofing and replaced the strips. It served very well as a barn for many
years.

One summer evening when the flies and mosquitoes were very bad, | built a smudge to
keep the insects away from the cattle. | had acquired several head by then. | went over to
the neighbors. When | came home, the barn was on fire. A spark from the smudge must
have drifted to some hay at the end of the barn. There was no livestock in at that time, but
the harness for my team of horses went up in smoke along with the barn

Since | would need a barn for the coming winter, | made forms, poured a footing
twenty-eight by forty feet, and started building a barn. | designed it to have a loft if | could
ever afford to finish it. | had bought the Dowling farm from Bill Dowling who inherited it
from his father. | tore down the old Dowling house and obtained a large number of two by
six planks; also, shiplap boards, many of them twelve inches wide. | used the two by six as




studs and the shiplap on the walls. | put poles across the loft floor joists and covered it with
enough slough hay to round the top like a haystack so that it would shed the rain. That was
to be the roof until| could afford lumber to build a proper roof. I built stalls and a couple of
pens for pigs.

1 got water for the house from a well halfway between the house and the barn, and used
this as long as | was batching. Sometime later. | put a well inside the barn. | used a stock
pump which had to have the cylinder dug into the ground below frost level. The hole for the
cylinder was about four feet across. The soil contained enough clay that no cribbing was
needed, but | made a plank cover for the hole.

One time in the winter, | had some trouble with the pump. | removed the cover, put a
short ladder in the hole and climbed down. | bent over and suddenly my breath was shut
off. The hole was filled with gas, apparently from a pen in the barn which had not been
cleaned for sometime. If | had not had the ladder, | would not have been able to get any air
and would probably have stayed in the well until someone found me. After | got out, |
lighted a kerosene lantern and hung it on a rope down in the well. It started to flicker and
went out. No oxygen

Another time, | was digging a well. | was well beneath ground level and had stopped
digging to have a rest. Dick Smith and two of his sons stopped in the yard on their way to
Dad’s place, but seeing no one around, they drove away. On the way to Dad's, they met an
R.C.M.P. car. The police had taken a man into custody. The Smiths, thinking it was me,
hurried down to tell my father. He came right away to see what had happened to me. | had
resumed digging and was throwing the dirt out of the hole so he had no trouble finding me.

| used the barn with the pump inside for several years. | had acquired a Ford tractor
which | used for doing chores. One afternoon. it would not start and flooded. | pulled the
air cleaner hose off the carburetor and a lot of gas ran out i the straw on the floor. Then |
stepped on the starter and the motor backfired. The gas made flames so high they set the
straw roof on fire. | phoned to Kinzies for help and went back to see what I could do. There
were two cows inside. | managed to get one untied and she ran outside. The other was
jumping back and forth. | figured that f she knocked me down, | would be a goner so | had
tolleave her to burn. | had twenty-nine pigs in the barn and | got fifteen of them out. When
Derry Kinzie came, he hooked a chain on the tractor and dragged it out of the fire. The tires
were burned, also the wiring. | rebuilt the tractor and could not see any difference in how it
worked.

The Pike Lake School barn was up for sale so | bought it to replace the one that burned.
The cow that | saved from the fire was milking at the time and she went dry completely
Some of the hair on her back was singed and she was trembling all over. She was never any
good as a milk cow after her ordeal 5o eventually | sold her for beef. The cow that burned
was due to freshen in about a week. When the fire had burned down some so | could see
her carcass, a hole had burned in her side and her calf was moving around. It was a very
sickening sight to see and many times after | would dream at night that | was back at the fire
again.

The first year that | farmed on my own, | raised six hundred bushels of flax and some
wheatand oats. | sold the flax for fifty cents a bushel and that was the final payment. The
last year that | farmed before retiring, | 5old flax for eleven dollars and sixty-one and one
half cents per bushel. How much better it would have been if the price of flax could have
averaged out at about five dollars over the years. Fifty cents a bushel was not much to a
young fellow just getting started at farming.

I spent a great deal of my time in the winter trapping. | had trapped muskrats on Pike
Lakeaslong as | was living athome and a couple of years after | started batching. The Pike
Lake Fur Co-op was formed. It included members around the lake, some of whom had




never trapped in their lives. It only lasted eight years and broke up. | liked trapping on my
own so | was glad when the Co-op folded. However, | never trapped muskrats on Pike Lake
again.

My brother, Arnold, has held the trapping rights on Pike Lake for many years. One
morning, when | was doing my chores, | noticed that a badger had dug a hole on a ridge
west of my house. | set a trap for him and the next morning I had him. It was beautiful fur
and | took oxta pains with caring for it .| hipped the skin to The Saskatchewan Fur
Marketing [ Inever cashed it but kept it
for a souvenir.

1 had been batching for several years when an insurance salesman came in the yard and
insisted on selling me life insurance. | had no money to pay the premium and told him so,
but he kept on pestering me. One day. | saw his car coming down the road. My boat was
leaning against the side of the garage. | tipped the boat down and dragged it away from the
wall. By the time the salesman came into the yard, | had put the oars in place and was
sitting in the boat rowing it on dry land. The man turned his car and got out of the yard as
lnst as he could go. | never saw him again. | guess he figured that damn farmer had flipped
lid.

In those days, it seemed there was always someone trying to sell something door to
door. Some of the salesmen were honest and some were deadbeats. One young fellow
came to my door selling a special kind of shaving soap. He spit on his arm and rubbed on
some soap and it lathered beautifully. My Dad had fallen for this same deal at the
Saskatoon Exhibition and when he got home and opened the box, it contained Sunlight
washing soap. It was very hard and of no use at all for shaving. Jim McQuarrie, who was
travellingastallion had stopped at my piace for supper. When the alosman had mads his

itch, | was mad because | knew he was running a skin game. | told him to get to hell
Throtigh the gate whare he had coma in. e said. “Smart gay. ohi” and away he went. Jim
said, “Do you always treat salesmen like that?" | replied, “Only if they are crooks.”

I had been batching for some time when my cousin, Maurice Kinzie, came to the shack
oneafternoon. He told me that he and his wife were going to a dance at Beaver Creek and
he would like me to go along as there was a girl who lived in that area whom he would like
me to meet. We crossed the river in a boat and landed near the hall which Dorothy's father
(Dorothy was Maurice’s wife) ran. It was there | met the A.V. Lawley family with whom |
have been friends ever since. Lillian Lawley was the girl that Maurice wanted me to meet.
She was a very fine girl and | liked her very much, but somehow right from the start | had
doubts that she would ever be my wife. However, | made many trips across the river to see
her. | would take my truck down to the river and row the boat across, and walk up to the
Lawley farm. Sometimes, we walked back to the river; sometimes, we got a ride. Then we
crossed the river back to my truck and would go to a dance wherever it happened to be.
After the dance, usually about two o'clock in the morning, | would reverse the process and
take her back across the river to her home. | guess | was born thirty years too soon because
Ihed s pertactly good shack on my sideof theriver. Lillan et o work n the sanatarium at
Prince Albert, Saskatchewan and it was there she met the man she was to m:

Eddie Lawley and | good friends and day
or night. We cut logs to be made into lumber at the Pippin o Womere cutting on
government land. A certain man, whose name | shall not mention, objected to this and |
was afraid that Eddie and | were going to end up paying a fine. Eddie said, “Do not worry. |
will go up there tonight and put him in his place.” He came home and we kept on cutting
and never heard anymore about it. Eddie could not tell me what he had on the man, but |
found out many years later that he was having sexual intercourse with his daughters and
Eddie knew it.
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1 took Eddie on his first deer hunt. He was using my rifle and | had borrowed my Dad’s. |
chased a deer past him and he shot at it hitting t. When | came out where he was, | said,
“How come you stopped shooting?" He said, “I emptied the gun.” The riffe held six
cartridges and as | had only heard three shots, | could not figure that one out. We were
hunting in Lawley's pasture. The next spring when Eddie was looking for the cows, he
walked up theridge whero ho had shol the desr and picked up six cartridges, three empiles
and three loaded. In his ex nt he had pumped three out without firing them. | think
{his speaks vory wellof the Kind of man Edche was. He ownad up 1o his mistaks in pite of
the fact that he knew he was going to get razzed many times about it. | hunted with Ed
many times after that and he became a good hunter. He joined the Air Force during the
Second World War andgava i ifefor his country. We had many good imes together and

' d sisters, Lillian and Fay, live in Saskatoon. His
brolhar Rovortp psssed away phedd ‘early age.

Raloh Plopin and £d Lowley teking o trallr buit In Ralph's blacksmith
Shap ctont s Saith Sesselonswen AP

Iwas going to Lawley' y my dog, Sport
I never saw him again. |
ﬂgureﬁlhal he folloned meafter | was outof ightand maybogot caught n asnarosatfor
co butif they did, th far away.
b6 had bosn iree, | Know that h would have found his way home.
When | was farming alone end stl using a binder to harvest the crop, | bullt an
from the binder seat. Oscar Chiswell was much
mpressed by this and achertised me fact that he thought it was a smart idea. My brother-
seeding a field of wheat and was going
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to harrow it. Elwood was about eleven years old and not very big, but | decided to let him
try- 1 rods with himfor aGouple of rounds and left i o is own, Osoar came driving by.
Oscar did not see him.
e his way to my Dad's place. ohonne gotthere, he told my father, “Ralph has
sure done it this time. His tractor is out in the field harrowing and there is no one driving it.”
Dad said, “That'simpossible.” Oscar said, “It's so. | saw it with my own eyes. Ralph was in
the yard and he waved at me.

Ifarmed for quite a few years with the 1926 McGormick Deerin: steel lugs. | did not
Havs moneyto changa e to bk L s hardly worthwhile to change as the tractor

ined a pair of off. After taking
off the spade mgs I stretched them on over the rear wheels. | cast wheel weights of
the rear wheels and gripped fairly well, tractor wa

very rough to ride.

Quite a bit of the seeding was done in those days with a plow and what was known as a
pony drill. The pony drills were builtin sizes to fit whatever size plow one happened to be
using. The drills were equipped with wheels on the back which pressed the soild down on
the seed which gave very good germination. It was a slow way to seed as a three or four
bottom plough did not cut a very wide strip. The pony drills proved to be very good for
seeding flax.

Then came the one way disc, The discs sat at an angle and threw the sofl to the right

ith this type of “once over and
[t all over." It was twice as fast as pioughing

Then came the wide level discers. The seeder box was mounted on the discer and
packers were pulled behind. This type of outfit is still widely used today although many
farmers are seeding with wide press drills. The first press drills were up to fourteen feet
wide and built in one section. They worked very well on level land but on rolling land, one
end of the drill could be seeding too deep and the other end not deep enough. This
problem was overcome by building the drill in two or three sections as to whatever the
width might be.

My bachelor days were moving along with nothing very unusual happening; farming in
the summer, lool ter cattle and pigs, and trapping in the winter. | had more or less
settled to the factthat | was destined to remain a bachelor. Now | will leave this chapter and
tell about a new phase of my life in the next one.
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CHAPTER TWELVE

Board at that time and still playing Dad Cupid, came to my shack and told me they had
hired a teacher for the nextterm. He said, “She is going to be boarding at your Mother's
house and | think you should go down there and meet her.”

1100k his advice. After supper. I drove to my old home and was introduced by my Dad to
Miss Victoria Harvey. She was a very beautiful girl with the loveliest blue eyes | had ever
seen. Itwas a case of love at first sight. The lightning flashed, the thunder rolled, and | was
agoner. | had thought | im
her if she would like to go to the dance at Fawwew Hall and she said, “| would love to

1 was pl d 1 knew by v, that
so0ner oriator. | would sk his Gr1 16 be my wile. So o you. my grandomiidran, tnat s how
met your grandmother.

While she was still teaching at Pike Lake, i
to Bausley School to teach. Bausley was a few miles north west of Perdue, Saskatchewan.
The time | put in batching while Vickie was away at Bausley teaching was the only lonely
time I spent in my years of living alone.

/e were married on August 24, 1943 at St. James Anglican Church in Saskatoon by
Archdeacon Samson. Our reception was held at the Harvey home on Murdock Avenue and
our wedding dance was held in the clubhouse at Pike Lake. Getting married was the best
thing I ever did. We have been married thirty-seven years at the time of this writing. Vickie
has been a good wife and mother all those years and she is still tops with me. Vickie's
family are all wonderful people and | am glad to be associated with them.

| had started building a house twenty-four by thirty-six feet. My brothers helped with
digging the basement. We used Arnold’s W6 tractor on one scraper, and my team of
horses, Nick and Bess, on another. We dug the hole square. with the walls straight up and
down, 50 that no forms were used on the outside wall below ground level. This meant
considerable shovel work, but it turned out okay in the end. | had been collecting rocks to
use as filler as we poured the concrete, but figured I did not have enough. | talked with a
friend of mine who lived at Aberdeen, Saskatchewan. He said that if | would cut him two.
I0ads of wood, he would bring me two loads of stones in exchange. | did not know what
size trucks he had, but one morning, he phoned and said he would be coming to my place.
He came with two three ton trucks well-loaded with stones just the right size to use in my
forms. My basement walls cost me sixty-five dollars for cement.

When Vickieand  came towhat wasto beour home after ur wedding dance,thero was
our house with ight. | had pul
where | was building, cut a Roletor  window, and netalod awoed bummg cookstove, a
bed, and acupboard. The granary was old and rough, so Vickie can say. along with others
older than herself, that she is a true pioneer. Would you believe she made curtains for the
windows in that granary?

I nthe fall of 1941 my cousin, Maurice Kinzie, who was serving on the Pike Lake School
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We lived in there through September and most of October. The weather was getting
quite cold at nights and the wind blew through that one-ply granary. Therefore, as much as
Thated to stop work on the house, | covered the outside of the granary with tarpaper which
stopped the wind very effectively. | also installed a small heater. By then, there was not
much room to move around inside.

One day, my Dad fong. It the end of October.
1 had been working as hard as | could and had not put the Windows in place. He sai
“Young feller, you had better get those windows in. Itis liable to snow any day.” Dad geve
methe advice, but he went on his way Ip. | The
second night, after | had them in place, it snowed. It did not snow much and it melted in
few days.

On the eighth of November, as | had two rooms in the house fairly well finished, we
decided to move in. We had purchased a new cookstove and it was stored in a shed. |
brought it into the kitchen and removed the crate. There, on top of those nice, shiny lids
ware five or six rust marks where mice had peed. When Vickie saw this, she started to cry

nd | However,

Since I did not have money to buy siding for the house, | covered the outside with
tarpaper with laths nailed on to hold it in place. One of the first things | had done was to
build a chimney. Itwas bt from the basement floor. There was a hole [or the smokepipe

rom Iso, onein foraturnace. | h the kitchen
stove would make enough heat for the two rooms that we were gomg to use for the winter,
but found it was not warm enough. | installed an airtight heater in the basement and
sheet of tin. putinto the heater from the top, | had to cut
a hole in the tin on top. An eight inch pipe ran from the top of the tin to a register in the
bedroom. This was a makeshift deal, but it worked very well for the first winter. Before the.
inter us, I had built was to heat our home until we

got power in this area.

I bought a land roller at an auction sale. It was made of quite heavy sheet iron. It was in
three sections; the middle section about sxx(y inches long; and two sections, forty-eight

i put theshort
sec(mns Guta hole in one end, and made a door for . The smoke pipe was in the top near
the back. | enclosed this contraption with galvanized tin and ran an eight inch pipe from
the furnace to a registerin each room. This worked very well. It would take large pieces of
wood, and the fire lasted over night without replenishing the supply of wood. The ashes
had to be carried out upstairs and this was a disagreeable task. When taking ashes out of
the furnace, a certain amount of fine ash floated into the air and settled on everything in the
basement. it worked its way into the upper part of the house 5o that dusting was a lot of
work.

Iwasstill fter | was married. | found a ni toskin
the animals | caught. When | finished skinning a coyote, | would open the furnace and
heave the carcass into the fire and burn it. | had skinned six or seven and burned the
remains with no static from upstairs. One night Vickie came downstairs just as | was
dispasing of a coyote carcass, and said, “Just what do you think you are doing? You are
stinking up the house something terrible.” What | could not understand was why the ones |
had burned that she did not see never caused any trouble. Anyway, that was the end of
caring for my furs in the basement

I was still farming with the 15-30 tractor and still harvesting with a binder. | had rented a
piece of land that laid just across the road from my buildings. The wheat on it looked like a
thirty-five bushel crop. It was almost ready to cutand | had pulled my binder in front of the
shop to check it over so that | would be ready to start cutting in 4 couple of days. One




afternoon, before | got started, hailstorm
When it was over, the felds 15ked ko & G15cer had qone over them. Some ieids on ine
south side of the farm did not get hailed so much. But the above mentioned field was gone
one hundred percent. It did not hail the next year but the two years following, it cut the
crops up rather badly. We were hailed three times in five years.

One spring, when | was seeding, | came i from the field for dinner and Vickie asked me if
1 would mind removing the storm windows. | removed them, but being in a hurry, instead of
putting them away as | should have, | leaned them against the north side of the house, one
on top of the other. | intended putting them away, but in my slipshod way, they were left
sitting there until the middle of the summer. A hailstorm came along and broke every one
of the panes. It also broke windows on the north side of the house.

Between the hail years, we had many dry summers. | cannot recall the year, but my
wheat crop averaged seven bushels per acre; not much profitin a crop like that. However,
wesurvived that period and grew some very good crops. There is a large slough .;long e
edge of the sandhills on the west side of our farm. | was always able to cut t
thirty-five tons of hay per year on this. It was a big help in dry years.

In the last years before the combine, we harvested with a power binder. It was driven
from the power take off on the tractor and was a ten foot cut. but it made very ragged
bundles. After | started farming on my own. | rigged up a hitch so that | could drive the
tractor from the binder seat. It worked very well and | used it for a couple of years.

My brother, Glenn, had taken over the farming on the home place and was thereshing
with me combine 1 hauled the grain from the combine and he ook of my wheat and fax at

fowland next (o ho orack. Thewheatwae makingsixty-five bushels o the acre. Glennhad
fixed levator for g the wheat y. Ithad a hopper
10 back the truck over. There was 1o hoist on {he (rUck S0 the wheat had (o be pushed o
shovelled into the hopper. It was driven by a three HP International motor. No matter how
hard | tried | could not get back to the field before the combine was full so Glenn would
have to wait. One afternoon, Glenn said, “Get on the tractor and drive the combine and |
will show you how to unload wheat."” I got on the tractor and took off. | was sure hoping that
1 would not have any trouble with the machine as | had not driven it very much. | threshed
the hopper full and stopped but there was no sign of Glenn with the truck. | waited about
halfan hour and the elevator and the chain
inside broke so that had to be fixed. After about an hour, we went back to the field. We
emptied the hopper and Glenn got back on the machine and started threshing again.
Needless to say, | never heard anymore complaints. Anyway, | liked hauling the wheat
better than driving the combine.

Glenn kept his machine in good shape and did a lot of custom combining. The combine,
had a chute and a door to open to let the wheat run out into the truck. Glenn decided that
he would like to dump on the go so he obtained a short auger and fitted it to the bottom of
the hopper. He could set the auger in motion from the tractor seat. It had one drawback.
The auger was so short that it would not clear the cab s the truck could not be driven in
from the rear. One had to drive in alongside the tractor and slow down until the auger was
over the truck box; then keep pace with the combine until the wheat was unloaded; then
move out forward and away from the machine. This worked fairly well until one evening,
after dark, | drove the truck into position to unload the wheat. There was a sharp little gully
in the field and I rolled into i, killing the truck motor. The truck stopped, but the combine
kept going. Crash, bang, the auger hit the truck cab and it broke loose from the combine
and the wheat was running on the ground. | sure felt foolish. Glenn did not say much, but
we never repaired the auger, and went back to the old way of unloading.
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One year, we threshed a field of my flax in November. It had snowed and melted. The
ground was frozen. The flax threshed okay but it sure was a cold job.

As my old 1926 Chevrolet sedan was on its last legs, | was looking for another vehicle. |
went to the Automobile Glearing House in Saskatoon. As | could not afford to buy a new
truck, | purchased a used half ton. It was a 1935 Gl International, and a fairly good truck for
its day. It made good mileage, but was a terror to get started in cold weather. | drove it
many miles, usually overloaded. This was the vehicle | was driving when | was courting my
wife, Vickie.

In the fall of 1948, | decided that | should have a larger truck and this time | was going for
anew one. | went to Saskatoon Motor Products to buy aone ton Chevrolet. The cost price
was $1465.00. They allowed me $325.00 for my half ton which was what | had paid for itin
the first place. | made a down payment of five hundred dollars and the remainder was put
through the GMAC Credit Plan, to be paid for in monthly installments.

That winter, | had a contract with Empire Meat Go. t0 supply them with willow wood for
smoking meat. | received per cord for this. |
for cutting the wood into lengths. As chain saws were unheard of in those days, | choppsd
the wood with an axe and threw it into a pile. Then | would start the saw and cut the wood
into eighteen inch lengths and load it on the truck. Some days, that winter, were thirty-five
and forty below zero. On those days, | would start a fire and burn the branches that were
trimmed from the wood. If | happened to be in good cutting, | could fill the truck in a day
and have time to deliver it. But most of the time, it took all day to cut aload and it would be
delivered the next day. | kept working at this and had a small mountain of wood back of
Empire Meat. One day, Mr. Hansellman, the owner, came out, took a look, and said, “I had
o dea that you had brought that much wood.  think you had ustter siop untll wo se up

some of that." T} each oad. | ney to

pay my dusson inetruck. uwas,amemamworkmramle “money. The EmpireMeat never
tr p that pile. They tu

When metimes ina y. The old

fellow, who looked.after the meat, shviay plcked them out and told me not to bring
anymore cherry as it made the meat

Vickie, the boys, and | used that Iiuck Kndnve(o Waskesiu fora holiday. However, it was
used mostly on the farm, from The truck was red
and around so long it became known as “the old red truck.” When | retired from farming, |
gave itto my grandson, Grant. His father still uses it to haul wheat from the combine to the
granary. It is worth as much as an antique as | gave for it so many years ago.

In 1951, | decided it was time to pension off the 15-30 tractor so | went to Spence Farm
Equipment with the intention of buying a new W6 McCormick Deering. Spence had taken
over the dealership from Lock and Tracy. | talked to Bill O'Hara who had worked at that
dealership for many years. He asked if | would like to save myself a thousand dollars. He
said, "We have a tractor in the back that we took in on atrade. | have checked it overand it
i first class shape.” | had known Bill for many years and he is a very reliable person so |
bought that tractor. It hoses

ind ram for remote control of machinery. It was the first tractor with hydraulics in this
district. The sad part of it was  had no machinery equippedto use with it. | ook my one way
disc to Glenn's garage. From some pipe and scrap iron, he welded up an attachment so
that | could sit on the tractor and put the disc in ground or lift it out, simply by pushing or
pulling a lever.

I used the one way Vith two pony drill for seeding for & number o years Sseding that
way was okay if the land was well-harrowed after. The W6 was a good tractor and worke
very well, but Wil my acreage. | had to spend too many hours in the field
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Before | brought the tractor home, | bought a front end loader. the first front loader in the
valley. It was a far cry from the loaders of today. It had a heavy bar across the back which
bolted to the drawbar and stuck out past the tires on the rear wheels. Two heavy pipes ran
from the drawbar to the front of the tractor and a frame on the front held the bucket. It
swung between two arms and had a locking device that could be tripped by a rope to the
driver's seat. When the rope was pulled, it caused the lock to release and the weight of the.
dirt caused the bucket to swing downward thus dumping the dirt. Once the dirt was off, the
bucket was balanced so that it swung back and locked the bucket in loading position
again. | made a dozer blade to fit on in place of the bucket. It was very good for moving
snow, but was not too good for dirt. | still have this outfit and have done a lot of work with it
such s cleaning cattle corrals and filling low places in the yard. | made a bucket for it from
an old wheeler scraper. It works very well for spreading dirt; just drop the load of dirt and
drive ahead and it will spread very evenly.

Before the day of balers, | built a buck rake for bucking hay. | have stacked as much as
eighteen tons of hay in aday with it. Before that, | used a buck rake, aiso homemade, that
had a horse hitched to each end. With it a stack could be started; but as it could not be
raised, it was necessary to push the hay close to the stack and then use a pitchfork o build
the stacks quite high. | used this system for many years and finally bought a hay baler.
Handling bales was harder work than bucking the hay up loose. But when it cameto taking
itoutof the stack to feed, the bales were far ahead. When using hay out of a stack, itwas not
considered a good idea to take all the top off the stack at once.

There was a tool called a hayknife although it was more like a saw with very large teeth. It
had two handles; one grasped a handle in each hand and by pumping up and down could
cuta gash about twenty inches deep across the stack. probably ten or twelve feet from the
end. When that layer was taken off, another cut would be made and so on down to the
bottom of the stack. Another type of hayknife had teeth on the bottom and a handle about

one , placing the the cutwas to be
made. There was a projection on the handile at the top of the cutting blade on which the
operator would place his foot and step down hard. It made a cut ten inches wide and a foot
deep. It was a lot easier on the back than the saw type; also, much slower. Having been
blessed with a strong back and a weak mind, | liked the saw type best.

In those days, the hay had to be cut with a team of horses hitched to a mower. Then the
hay was raked, also by horsepower. It was first raked into cocks to be picked up by the
buckrake or loaded on a hayrack. If the hay was 10 be left standing in the cock for any
length of time, it was usually rounded out on top with a pitchfork so that if it rained, the
cock would shed the water better.

1 remember mowing hay on Dad's homestead. The meadow was low lying land from the
northeast end of pike Lake and had numerous willows growing on it. We mowed hay
amongst the willows for some time and then we started removing the willows. We cut them
as close to the ground as possible with the axe. This lefta hump. But if they were cut close
to the ground, the mower bar would slide over the top with no problem. One day, | had
been mowing for some time when | came to one of those humps. Instead of the bar sliding
over the top, it dug into the side. The horses stopped as they were trained to do if anything
caught and out of the stump came a swarm of yellowjackets. The hornets had made their
nest in there and they swarmed around the horses’ legs and started stinging them. | was
doing my best to keep the team from moving ahead. If they did, something was going to
break on the mower. T}
out of there. | held them in and finally convinced them that they Shoutd back out of the
stump and | raised the mower and we moved away. | did not get stung but what about the
t time | came around? They would be very mad. | always carried an axe in a holster on
the mower tongue. | cut along slim willow and tied a bunch of dry grassto the tip end of it




with a piece of wire. | lit the grass on fire and held the flame over the stump. The hornets
seemed to be drawn to the fire or else they were mad. However, in a short time, they were
lying on the ground with their wings burnt off. A few swipes with my work boots soon
finished them off.

In 1850, | decided that | should have a combine of my own so | started looking for a used
one. Albert Sawyer had retired from farming and the combine that he had used had been
repossessed by Spence farm equipment. | boughtit from them for eight hundred dollars. It
was a Massey Harris No. 15. The cutting bar on it was eight feet. Massey Harris manufac-
tured three different combines at that time. They all had the same separating equipment.
The No. 17 was a ten foot cut and the No 18 was twelve foot. No. 21 was the first
salf-propellod Massey Harrs. A groat many of thoss machings were sold with he tan foot
being the most popul

These combines ware a very simple maghine. The shoe which held the sieves and
chaffer was driven by a shaker
inch holes in . this hole
Would wear oblong. when this happened, the operator could hear a thump, thump in the
combine. If this was not corrected, the jerking motion caused by the looseness would
cause the sieves to come apart

| tried several different ways to shim the hole such as leather and tin. One time, | tried
pouring tull of babbitmetl, Thiswas alot ofwork as the shoe had o be removed from the

e and none of 1.1 overcame the problem
By Gutting six inches off the end of the shos that had the hole it There was a band of ron
around the part that | cut off. | obtained some oak and made blocks to fitin where | cut the.
piece out. A long bolt ran the length of the shoe with wing nuts at the back for tightening
the sieves in place. I drilled holes in the long bolt went held
them in place. As there was plenty of room, | was able to use thicker wood which made a
better bearing. The oak lasted better than the original wood. With a few extra blocks on
hand, it was about an hour's work to replace them. This was before the days of farm
welders. These days, one would probably weld a sealed bearing to the iron on the shoe for
a permanent fix.

1 had the No. 15 for several years and it was getting rather badly worn so | decided to
wreck t. | had no cutting torch and took it apart with wrenches and chisels. If a nut would
not turn, it had to be cut with a chisel. | found out why it costs a ot of money to build a
combine. | saved any iron from it that would be useful around the farm and any parts that
might be used on another machine.

My next combine, a No. 17, | purchased from my brother, Arnold. It was in very good
shape, but had no pickup. My brother, Glenn, gave me a pickup off his McCormick
Deering. | devised a drive for it. As Glenn had a welder, he did any necessary welding. The
No. 17 was not as good for picking up as the No. 15 because the No. 15 had a wider
platform which handled long straw better. | had rigged both of these machines for using
the hydraulic for raising and lowering the platform.

By today's standards, those machines would be considered junk. However, they
threshed ma of popular combine in their day. Massey
Harris combines would always take in more wheat at the front end than the sieves were
ableto handle. If they were not fed too fast, they would make a perfect job of threshing flax.
1 pulled these two combines with my W6 and got along fairly well. The W6 did not have a
live power takeoff, which meant that when the clutch on the tractor was released, the
combine stopped turning. In threshing rye, this was a nuisance as the swathes would be
heavy in the hollows and thin on the upland. | usually threshed in second gear on the light
swath. | found that by just touching the clutch lightly, it was possible to shift down to low




gear without jerking the machine. | was never able to shift back to second gear on the go
One had to stop and wait for the combine to stop turning and then shift and start over. The.
result of this was that most of the time | ran in low gear.

1n 1966, | bought a M WD 90 from
Is owned by Lorne (Buck) Gampbell and hs brother, Wayne. Buck had blough\ this tractor
to Dad's homestead to put on a demonstration. | liked this tractor and when the show was.
over, I drove it home. | traded the W6 on this tractor and then | wished | had not done so. |
asked Buck if he would sell it back to me and he did ata very reasonable price. The ninety
proved to be a very good tractor for a small farm. | used it until | retired from farming and
sold it to my son, Harvey. It is still going strong.

I hitched the 90 to the No. 17 combine and it was hard to believe what a difference the
extra power and live power takeoff made. | threshed with that outfit for two years. Then as |
was farming | decided to buy a self-propelled combine. Buck Campbell had
aused No. 80 Special. He said it was ready for the field o my brother, Arnold, and | went to
look at it. It looked just as Buck said so | made the deal. Buck delivered the machine late
one evening. The nextafternoon, | was ready to begin threshing so | pulled out to the field
and started. | went about twenty yards down the swath and the machine plugged up. |
cleared it out and tried again. It was going to do the same thing so | stopped and tried to
figure what was wrong. | had no luck so | phoned Buck. He came down in the evening and
wo iried it, but no dice. It would not thresh. We were busy digging the plug out of the

Itwas next ble towork sl told
Bock ne snoud 50 home and | wauld try and 10ure out wha was wrong the next day.

The next morning, | was checking around when | noticed the belt that drove the
separator was not very tight. | examined the tightener and found out that the rod that was
to pull the idler had been straightened and was striking the frame of the machine; thus the
idler did not move far enough to tighten the belt. | took the rod off and put a bend in it so
that it cleared the frame, pulled the lever, and tightened the belt. Everything was rosy.

The second year that | owned that machine, | harvested four hundred and forty acres of
crop. | was working alone and hauling the wheat myself. Besides that, | was driving a
school bus. My run took an hour and fifteen minutes. | did not mind the morning run as it
was usually too damp to harvest, but the afternoon run cut into the best hours for
throshing. Howevar.t was a airy dry fall and | did not have much trouble. The No. 80

rty sat just above the feeder and
there was always a cloud of dust and chaf Slowing onto the diver. The motor, (ocated
under the machine, was Ve s awkward to service and it ran in really dirty conditions. It
atime saver. When | was working ona
feld close 1o granary. | setup the augerin the granary with the truck box tipped up, drove
in with the combine spout over the truck and started the auger motor. The combine
augered the wheat into the truck. and by the time the hopper was empty, the other auger
had put it in the granary.

1 was born (00 so0n as | never had the pleasure of owning a combine with a cab. My son,
Les, ownsa it machine. | drive elping him with
the harvest, tIs a far cry from the old machines without a cab.

I have described the equipment that | used for harvest when | was farming. | will just say
that | had the usual line of machinery; a plow with pony drill attached, a one way disc, a
wide level discer, a John Deere seed drill, two cultivators, harrows and swather. Some of
these machines were purchased new; the others were used

When Glenn stopped farming and started into the garage and electrical | purchased a
two and one-half ton 1946 Maple Leaf Chevrolet truck from him. | still have this antique. As
time went by, | purchased a three ton Ford. It was a real good truck, but we had trouble with
the transmission. | sold this truck to my son, Les, and he is still driving it
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alongthe line, have a car so | went to Saskatoon and
boughta Chevrolet Torpedo. It was not much of a car and had seen better days. We drove it
for a couple of years and sold it. Vickie learned to drive using this car.

When my Dad passed away in 1958, his Plymouth Sedan was left to his second wife,
Mabel. Vicki bought it from her. Itwas avery nice car and madevery good mileag It hada

g in cold weather. Of course,
s was before w had power 5o there waé no lock heater. We traded tne Plymouth on a
61 Chevrolet four door sedan. It was a beautiful car and in very good shape, but it
eventually grew old.

As Vicklo was tesching school, she needed a dependable car to drive so she bought a
Chevy Tinonit. Ido ha for it, butitwas not
e Wi drove e Chevy 1l many miles. It developed a habit of hard starting and finally,
one night at a dance in Delisle, it refused to start at all. We had taken this car to several
garages, but no one seemed able to find out the problem. After fooling around awhile, it
would start and there was no way of finding out just what the trouble might be. When it
finally refused to start, my brother, Glenn, checked it over and found out that the coil was
causing the trouble. Our daughter, Elaine, was training for a nurse and needed a car so
Vickie turned the Chevy Il over to her and bought a Chevrolet 1971 Caprice which she still
drives. It has been a very dependable car. It is over the one hundred thousand miles and
still runs good.

1 1967, | decided that a new half ton truck would be very handy around the farm. | did
not have money to buy a truck at that time so | decided to borrow part of it. | went to the
loans manager at the Royal Bank of Canada and stated my case. He said, “You had better
kick this around for awhile because we will notoan you the money.” | was a bit peeved for,
after all, | had an account with that bank since | was five years old.

| left the bank and went to Saskatoon Motor Products and bought a 1968 Chevrolet with
adown payment and the remainder to be paid in monthly payments on the GMAC plan. |
had no trouble with the payments as | was driving a school bus. | finished making my
payments ten months later and was in the bank on some other business, when the loans
manager called me over and said, “How about the money to buy a truck today?” | pulled
the receipts from GMAC out of my pocket and threw them on the counter. | said, “Thereare
the receipts to show that | bought a truck ten months ago. GMAC collected the interest
Instead of you.” He did nat ik that very much, but it was not oo long after that he was
sither fired or do the Royal Bankall my life. |
madi e stgtemant thatthe ek boughtwould be the last onein my fetime. However, |
bought a 1973 Chevrolet and am now driving a 1978 Ford.

BERT PIPPIN

Somewhere in the early part of this book, | stated that | would write a resume of my
father, Bert Pippin. He was a pioneer in every sense of the word. He owned the first
ga50line engine 1o PUIpING Water In ths ares, e firt power wood sawing outit, thefirs
oil burning tractor for threshing and breaking land, and the first combine to be used in the

Pike Lake area. He was the firstto turn farming. He built the-
shop in Vanscay, but sold it and came back to the farm, Besides farming and bresking
land, he alley Park and Pike Lake districts. He

builta sawmvll end sawed many feetof lumber, some of which he sold and the romaindr,
he used on t

Dad was a reaaer in many things and the people looked to him to show the way for
improvements in the district. The reader must understand that this is written about our
immediate area. The prairie country to the northwest of us was farther advanced than our
bush country. | cannot help bragging about my Dad because | think he deserved .
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The author's father Sert igpinuat
from fishing. Note the fish
hlnwny In thotreo to he right. The

The Pippin sawmill in 1924. Fair-
anks Morse Tractor. Arnold Pippin,
atlft; Bert Plppin, at center; Conard

Pippin, at right.
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN

urfarm consisted of the north half of Sec 20 Twp 34 Range 6 W3rd, the SE qicstina
46

eight thousand dollars. | borrowed the money from the Farm Credit Corporation. When |
a8 finished paying fof I, the interest had broughl the cost of hat quariar to twelve
thousand, five hundred dollar:

The NE Qtr. of 20 was hcmes(saded By Clarsien el Haaold 10 Dad ard ent firihat
north tolive.On € quarter was
barn had been built there. By i b Dag bought the land, the hu‘ldmgs o tner boen
burned o rotted down. The house could have been made of sods. The cellar had caved in,
but any wood. As oftrees handy, | think it must have
been made of logs. At this site, | found horseshoes, an old brass lamp which was battered
almost beyond recognition, several large English pennies, and a twelve gauge brass
shotgun shell, There was & pisce of paper rolled inside it | though that | had found
something th: lived there. It withanad
for soap. oo wasa picture of two little negro boys with big smiles. Undemealh it, read
“the Gold Dust Twins." | had to unroll the paper very carefully. Anyway, it fell apart into
little pieces.

Dad and | were breaking near the southeast corner of the quarter. He was on the tractor
and | was on the plough. There was a patch of thick buckbrush. Dad did not stop the
tractor, but pointed towards the brush. | got off the plough and walked into the brush.

hero wes a squara hole about four fast by three feat and around thirty inchos docp

Ithad metal metal handles toliftit by.
Firo had dedtrayed mostol It Apparenily, semaona had buried something in the chest and
when they dug it up, did not bother taking the chest. | wish | had been blessed with enough
foresight to at least save the metal parts.

Hfound an axa on this same land. ¢ was mada by bending s flat bar of meta nto 2 loop
and bringing 1 expect
fogethar and sharpened. Thé 1oop was for the handle. 1 Kept his e,V atan nave one it
my son, Leslie, found in 1977 when he was cultivating on the NW 2134 6 W 3rd. There is a
big slough which runs close to the line between the quarters on the north half of twenty.
The NW quarter s in the sandhills and abuts Highway 60 on the west. Some very good
building sit on alevel spot near wher mle!haslcug |

this T i to
make a bank barn. One the bank of a spring was another dug out spot. Some potpiovay it
was a place to hide from the Indians. | figure it was a cellar for keeping vegetables.

The southeast quarter was the Dad Dowling farm. | have written about the Dowling
family in another part of my book. The hill that is used to go from the Valley to the hills has




long been known as the Dowling Hill. This land was left to Bill Dowling and | bought it from
him. | have picked up quite a few artifacts on this farm, mostly on the sandhill quarter. |
usnea looking for arrowheads when | was shH going to school and had gathered about

nd m; Mother gotin
touch with her shewas cl my
room. What a cheerful liar.

Nels Peterson, aneighbor who lived on the quarter lying east of Dad's homestead, found
amedal in his field. It was a bit bigger than a silver dollar. It showed an Indian and a white
man shaking hands on one side and crossed guns and tomahawks on the other. | am not
sure, but | believe one side was frosted. Dad sent a stencil of this medal o the United
States. They that James Madison, the President of the U.S.A., had four of
these medals made and presented them to four Indian chiefs. There was a hole in these
medals o that they could be worn on a string around the neck. They told the name of the
chiefs, but Dad turned the letter over to Nels to keep with the medal. J.W. Chovin of
Vanscoy, who had awonderful collection of Indian artifacts, offered Nels a quarter section
ofland for the medal but partwithit. In 1946 Nels in the Barry
Hotel fire. Someone must know what became of the medal but | have not been able to find
out where it is.

Inlhe winter of 1940, we were cuting ice on the Saskatchewan fiver. The R.C.AF. had

in this are flying formation. I do not
Kiow H they were00iing around or f t was partof their training, but they kept changing
positions. All at once, the plane flying in the rear attempted to pass the others by flying
above them. He hit the top of the plane that was in front. A large sheet of fabric tore loose
from his plane and the one that was hit headed for the island in the river. The pilot must
have been knocked unconscious o killed. His plane headed down for the island just like a
shot duck. His motors were running full speed when he hit. The plane that had the fabric
torn offlanded on Brown’s Lake about a mile and a half away. We jumped into my truck and
headed for the crash on thesland_ twas hard o beleve how bacly the plane was smashed
up. I looked for his face: even
his hair was in place. His parachuie had broken cpen and his body was underneath it. |
together until it was no morethan
three feet long. The others who were with me 100k a look and we knew there was nothing
e could do. The molars of the wrecked piane plougned two furrows, hity feet long and
in that fr broken off and was lyingin the
hrush sboutity yards o thecraah. oot § hera uas e wore part. Everything was
sm

Yhe(hlrd plane from the formation was circling around and suddenly decided to land.
There was a strip of ice just west of the wreck with a sandbar at one side. He attempted to
land on this bar. He was down on his wheels and it looked like he was going to make a
perfect landing when his undercarriage dropped into a rut made by the water in the
summertime. It folded back and the plane was sliding on its belly. The propellers hit the
frozen ground and they bent ahead in the direction the plane was going. The pitch of the
props caused this as they were still turning. They radioed back to the airport and three
RCAF officers came out. Of course, they did ot drive ihelr vehicle. The ciriver was 9

plane who had anempled the landing Yinat v ycu ihink you was doing?” e
answered, "l just thought | might be of some help, Sir."“Well | admire your guts but damn
your judgement.” He then asked what we were doing there. | explained what had hap-
pened and he said, “You will have to guard this plane until we can get someone else out
here. | will take your name and address and you will be paid.” | never was. About ten
o'clock that night, six RCAF personnel came out and took over
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The next morning one of my neighbors came to my house and wanted to go and see the
wreck. We drove tothe river. The men guarding the plane had pitched a tent, and when we
got close to it, a young fellow came out with a rifle and fixed bayonet. He said, “Close
enough, men." My friend was all for getting out of there, but | was not about to give up so
easy. | said, “I am one of the fellows that guarded the planes until you came.” He replied,
“Oh, | did not recognize you as it was dark last night.” | said, “My friend would like to take a
quick look at the wreck.” He said, “OKay, but if you see any of the top brass coming, you
disappear in the brush.” | was told afterwards that if we had insisted on seeing the wreck,
he could have shot us and no questions asked. | met this young lad later at another wreck,
but that is another part of my ston

‘They brought outa crew of mechanics to repair the plane. They replaced the props and
undercarriage. They brought out a different pilot to fly it back. He was chewing hard on a
wad of gum and was walking around in rather a nervous manner. When the plane was
ready to go, an officer came over to him and saluted. He said, “It's all yours. Take it off."
The pilot said, "I would like Smitty to make one final check before | take off.” Apparently,
Smitty was a mechanic to be trusted more than the rest. Smitty made a fifteen minute
check snu working on his gum, the pilot wheeled out onto the river ice and took off.

) was down at my Dad's place doing some wark n tho blacksmith shop when |
noﬂcadap\aneﬂylngvery low the shop. that
one propeller was not turning. | live two ies northof my old home, and the pilots (there
wera two men in the pane) decided they would make a landing on my fieid, We piled into
Dad's carar tothe eastend of my
flld, we could sea the piano. t was down alright. It was in the willows on the west side of

'y hay meadow. Its tail was sticking up in the air at a forty-five degree angle. When we
arrived at the plane, the plots were walking around. Nobody was murt. They wers two
Australians. One said, "We came in over the phone line at five hundred fect andtried toset
itdownon ddock. We saw going to make totryto

in lower." The plane refused to gai

on one motor and they crashed intothe willows. They hit with considerable force. A couple
of willows were torn out by the roots and the propellers cut the tops off many others. One
wing was broken and the other was badly damaged. | heard the two aviators talking. They
had forgotten to turn their auxillary tank on and that was why one motor stopped. They
opened the valve on the auxillary tank after the plane was down. | asked them if they would
like to go over to my shack and have coffee. They said they were not allowed to leave until
help came and they were not supposed to eat until a doctor had examined them. After
about four hours of waiting, no one had come. One of the pilots said, "I say Old Chap, if you
would make some coffee and bring it out here, we would appreciate it very much.”
made them sandwiches and coffee and they ate it before anyone showed up.

When the crew came to ook after the wreck, there were fourteen men. An officer also
came. | do not remember his rank or else | never knew. He strutted over to the wreck and
said, “There is danger of fire here.” He opened a valve and let the gas run out on the
ground. lasked him if | could bring a drum from the house to catch the gas. He said,"There
is noway | would dare to let you have that gas.” By this time, it was almost dark so four men
were detailed to guard the wreck and the rest left. One of them was the young fellow who
presented his rifle and said, “Close enough, men,” at the wreck on the island. They did not
have any tent or shelter of any kind and were going to spend the night around a campfire.
They did not have an axe, but they broke small branches and got a fire going. It was not
going to be much to spend the night by. | went back to my shack and brought my bestaxe. |
had some misgivings about the axe when | saw how they used it. | figured the handle would
be broken before morning. They just dic not understand the art of chopping wood. They
hitthose hard willow sticks straight across the grain instead of hitting atan angle. After ail




four of them had a go attrying to chop, | took the axe and cut enough wood tolast all night
They marvelled at the way | could chop, but after all, | had spent many days working in the
bush from the time | was a boy. | asked them if they would care to come to my shack, two at
atime, and sleep as | had an extra bed. They decided they would all stick it out together.
After | got back home and was doing my chores. | could hear them whooping and
hollering. Then they started to sing and | must say they were much better at singing than at
cutting wood.

The next morning | was up before daylight and making breakfast when my dog. Sport.
barked. | looked out the window and saw two of the guards coming. They were carrying a
large box between them. It had handles at each end. It was their grub box. It contained all
the food that had been sent out; also dishes, pots and pans. They said they would
appreciate it very much if | would let them make their meals in the house or better still,
would | do the cooking. | made their breakfast and they went back to the plane to watch
while the other two came u

One of the second ones to come was the man from the island episode. He was a pilot in
the United States Air Force, flyin Canada until his training
here. His home was in Los Angeles. | had cooked a pot of beans. American style which was
just some ham or bacon boiled in with the beans with salt and lots of pepper. The beans
were done and were on the back part of the stove to keep warm until dinnertime. This
fellow raised the lid on the pot to see what was in there and he said."That's what | want for
breakfast.” If he wanted beans for breakfast, it was alright with me. | made bacon and eggs
with toast for the Canadian. He started eating and said,"Man, oh man, but these beans are
900d. | have not tasted beans like this since | left Los Angeles,” He ate a good-sized bow! of
the beans and then helped himself to more. When those lads left, they emptied the grub
box on my kitchen table. There were a dozen loaves of bread, three pounds of bacon (I
have never been able to buy bacon as good as that in the stores), two four pound tins of
jam, enough tea and coffee to last me six months, several pounds of butter, ten pounds of
sugar, and saltand pepper. They took back the dishes but left me aknife. fork and spoon as
asouvenir. | asked them how come they did not take this food back. They said, "If we do,
the cooks will just chuck it outin the garbage.” Such is war. We were told to save food and
many things were rationed, but the armed forces could throw perfectly good food away.

Italked to the two pilots from this crash and asked them if they would be grounded. They
did not think so. | told the if they were out flying in this area again, to let me know. Two
days later, a plane circled overhead a couple of times and then they came down low over
my yard. | figured they would be about three hundred feet up, but the old Cessna seemed
much closer than that. Before they left, those two Aussies promised to write to me but |
never heard from them again. Could be they gave their lives for their country or perhaps
they forgot all about their excursion on my farm.

Vickie and | were married August 24th, 1943, We had moved into two rooms in our partly
finished house. We were buying meat from the stores. As we only had a few cattle, | did not
want to kill one for meat. One evening, I told Vickie that I was going to go hunting and
shoot a deer. She said, "May | go with you?” We drove around in our truck. About a mile
from home, with lots of
among the carrots, were three fawns. Their mother was hiding in the bush. The fawns were
allthe same age but were three different sizes; alarge one, a medium one, and a small one.
It was easy to see that the big one helped himself 1o his mother's milk first and what was
left, the other two could have. | have seen this same sort of thing many times as there was a
doe who hung around our farm and she raised three fawns every year. The small fawn
Woildbacnisharlrationsand whenwinter came;he would have a lim chanca ! niving
About October,
the met barrel. In a Couple of weeks tim, the small fawn et o i strechs of
getting more milk
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Vickie and | were sitting there in the truck and I said,"| am going to shoot the largest
one.” She said,"No, not yet, let's watch them for a while.” | agreed to wait and after two or
three minutes, the doe called and all three fawns hopped into the bush and were gone. |
was a bit disgusted but | could not be too rough on my brand new wife. She was raised in
the city and was taught to have a love for all animals. Anyway. | knew my wife was not going
to have anything to do with hunting. She never asked to go with me again and | never asked
her to go. She is not overly fond of wild meat, but all three of our kids took after their Dad
and enjoy it

Our first boy, Harvey Ralph, was born on December 5, 1946. | believe it was the 11th of
December when | brought Vickie and the baby home from the hospital. It was thirty-five

that half-ton truck wasssitting
n Garage which had no dobra. | think it was colder sitting i there than f i had been
sitting out in the sun. | took a large pan of hot coals from the furnace and placed it under
the motor. | waited about fifteen minutes and tried to start it but it would not go. | got some
small sticks of dry willow wood and placed them in the pan on top of the coals. The sticks
caught fire and the flames carried the heat up around the motor and in a short time, it was
warm enough to start. | do not know to this day why that motor did not catch fire as it was
oily and the fire was very hot. It was eight o'clock in the morning when | got the truck
started and | never shut it off until | had brought my family home.

When | left Saskatoon, | phoned my brother, Glenn, to tell him | was leaving, and if we

ur, forus. | did not trust that truck. One thing
that worked really well was the heater. But as car heaters go, they are no good if the motor
stops. However, we made it home okay.

Thatnight, we put the baby to bed in his crib. | think we both slept with one eye and both
ears open for fear something would go wrong. | woke up and could hear a sort of wheezing
noise. | thought it was Harvey. | got up, went to the crib, and found nothing wrong, but |

the noise. | started found it was the teakettle on the cookstove
the kitchen. It was not long until we found out that we did not need to worry so much.

We christened our second boy, Leslie Wayne. He was born on June 28, 1948, It was good
weather for bringing him home and by that time, we were old hands at looking after kids.
All | remember was that he was a lovely, big, fat

Then on May 2, 1953 our daughter was born. We named her Elaine Mary and were very
happy that we were blessed with a girl. She was a nice fat baby but she did not have much
hair. She soon overcame that

1 do not remember very much about when the children were small. | was very busy
making a living but | sure enjoyed our little family. We had a very large rooster and he
thought he was the boss of the barnyard. | often fought with him with my foot; sometimes |
would kick him rather hard, but he always came back for more. When Harvey was just a
little fellow, he was walking near the henhouse and the rooster attacked him. He jumped
and pecked Harvey on the cheek and tore outa bit of flesh. If it had been his eye, he would
have lost his sight. The rooster was still after Harvey 50 | grabbed the old boy and took him
over to the chopping block and cut off his head. | dropped him on the ground and he was
flopping around as chickens do. Harvey went back to the house totell his mother. He could
nottalk too plainly, but he tried to explain and his speech ended with he foo up, foo up. He
was trying to say "“flew up.

When Harvey was a bit older, George and Jean Wilson sponsored a camping trip to
Meota. There were quite a number of boys at this camp. | cannot recall the name of the
organization, but they had a building where the boys ate and slept. Harvey and a boy he
had made friends with were wrestling in their bunk when they fell out. Harvey received a
gash about four inches long on his back. He was not taken to a doctor but was taped by




someone atthe camp. We were not nolmed thatthis had happened butas he healed okay.
they probably knew that he would be alri

The boys were taken to the camp by bus‘ mn the parents were to bring them home on a
certain day. We started out in good time, but on the way, my brakes stopped working. A pin
had come out of the linkage. It was Sunday and the filling station we made o wasclosed
Amanon “The owner I d founda bolt

me. He did not charge for the bold, but had to install it myself He had on his Sunday
clothes, S0 did |, bul we were sbon on our way & gain. When we got to the camp, everyone
had gone. There was no way of knowing where Harvey had gone so we drove to the store
and he was there. The storekeeper had taken him under his wing and had given him
something to eat so he was happy. but still very glad to see us. He had used up his spending
money and expected to be picked up sooner.

Les had one escapade that | remember very well. There was an old wagon sitting in the
yard. The reach, as it was known, which attached the rear wheels to the front had been
removed. Les was walking up the tongue of the wagon and when he got near to the wheels,
the tongue hinged downward and the part of the wagon that was behind the axle came over
the top and hit him in the forehead. He was dazed and had a bump on his head as big as a
goose egg. Vickie phoned Dr. Frantz who was our family doctor at that time. He had a
Cottage at Pike Lake. He said he would be going out there right away and would stop in to
have a ook at Les. He did that and said,"If he shows any signs of drowsiness, take him to
the hospital at once.”

Elaine’ the andfalling off her
arm. Of course, she had to be taken to the hospital to have a cast put on

O the evening of May 4th, 1954, Harvay and Leslis who were sight and six ears old

int hadseen ing over
ouryard. | said they werelikely swans. The next morning when | went outside. ik
field about three hundred yards from the house were three white birds. They were
definitely not swans. | got my field glasses and looked at them and they were whooping
cranes. it was early in the morning so | watched them for awhile. | then called Vickie to
come and see them. Then | phoned Herman Johnson in Saskatoon. | believe he was
President of the Fish and Game League. He picked up Munro Murray, a Star-Phoenix
photographer, and came to our farm. The cranes were still there, but had walked farther
away from the buildings and closer to the siough. He said, "It is too far away to get a good
picture,” 5o we drove into the hills and waded across the slough and he got several
pictures. | did not think they were very good. Herman and I had on rubber boots, but
Munroe waded across the slough through thatice cold water with his oxfords. He deserved
to get a good picture. When we came back to the house, he took a photo of Harvey, Les,
and | sitting on our doorstep. It was very good. Al the pictures he took were published in
the Star. | had doubts as to whether | should have phoned them. Perhaps if we had not
turbed them, the cranes would have stayed around for awhile. However, as they were on
their way north, itis not likely that they would have stopped very long. Those were the only
whooping cranes that | have ever seen.

One day, | sicced our dog, Flossie, who was getting old, on a cow that had decided she
didnotwantto go to the pasture. Flossie had a bad habit of grabbing cattle by the tail. She
got hold of the cow's tail and hung on. The cow started to run and she turned and swung
Flossie against the side of a granary. That was the end of her.

There was a bachelor living a mile north of our farm. | was talking with him and he said he
hada litter of pups to give away. He said they were 00 young to take from their mother, but
ifIwould call around in a week or ten days, | could have a pup. On Easter Sunday, the boys
and | drove to his farm. The pup: underan that had fallen p:
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called the old dog and she came out. He held onto her collar. The boys both crawled in
there and picked out the pup that they wanted. Wetook him home and the boys said, “What
are we going to call him?” | said, "I think Shep would be a good name." Shep it was. He
turned out to be a fairly good cattle dog and as a watchdog, he was tops. Early in the
morning, he would walk around the yard checking everything. He was queer i his attitude
toward some people. He never bit anyone, but with some people, he did not want them to
get out of their car when they came in the yard.

One time, the R.C.M.P. were chasing Harvey for speeding. They did not catch him, They
were on Highway 60and Harvey
oninto the park. On the way back to the city, they drove pastourfarmand suoned IHarvey's
car. They drove There was no one rvey.
the police car door and showed his teeth, growling. The Mou s eerd Havvey. “Call off
this dog or | will pull out my gun and shoot him.~ Farvey said, Yo nad better not ahoot
him because | think you will be very sorry when my Old Man gets home." The policeman
stayed in the car and gave Harvey a well needed lecture on the dangers of speeding and
took off for Saskatoon.

and Derry Kinzie, who are my second cousins, live a mile and a half from me. They
Keopalotof atie, I Don came i ihe yard, Shep did not like him and would have to be told
to behave. Derry did not have a dog 50 when he needed one around the cattle, he would
drivein the yard and say,"Come on, Shep." The dog would get in the truck seat and go with
Derry. When he was through chasing cattle, Derry would bring him home again.

One time, when | was combining wheat, | was working alone on a three cornered field.
The truck was getting farther and farther away as Vc\eaned offthe point rows. My brother,
Arnold, came to the field and thinking t wouk 00d idea to move the truck closer 10

etin. | said biteyou,” and Arnold said,
“His ayes were 100 and there was no way | was 6oing to argue with mm." This atitude of
Shep's worried me as | thought that someday he might bite someone.

He had a bad habit of chasing cars. One day, he got hit on the head and knocked end
over end into the ditch. He came back to the yard a rather sad looking dog, but he was
cured. He never chased cars again. He had sore 190king bump on his head. My nephew,
Roger Bond, was justa toddler his
head. He must have ouched the sore spit and snep nipped him on the cheek. Roger had
Shep had to be tied up for four days to see
ifhe Showed any sign of rabies, bur everything turned out alright.

| bought a young bull from Don Kinzie. We caught him and loaded him into my truck.
Don said, “Before you go, | want to give the bull ashot.” We went into the house and when
we came out, he had managed to get himself over the side of the stock rack and was
hanging by his neck. He was choking so we cut the rope and let him go. We tried to get him
into Don's corral, but he went everywhere else but there. We followed him with trucks and
finally got him out on an open field. Harvey got out of the truck he was driving and
attempted to drive the bull on foot. The bull was mad and he charged Harvey. He ran for the
truck as fast as he could go, but the bull was gaining. | was about a quarter of a mile away
sothere was nothing Icculd do.| (hougm Iwas going tostand there andwatchmy son bs
killed by amad bull. nthe truck and as
open. He sized up the truck Fineul He gave
it coupls of ites on he noat and the bl forgot about Harvey and turned on Shep. He
was quite capable of looking after himself. However, | gave Shep full credit for saving
Harvey's life as | doubt he would have had much chance of surviving if the bull had caught
Up to him. We left the bull for the time being and he finally went back with Don's herd and
we caught him and brought him home. He quieted down and | had no more trouble with
him, but | always kept an eye on him when he was around




Shep was getting old. He had been with us for sixteen years. On the Saturday night
before Easter Sunday, Elaine was babysitting for David and Colleen Sawyer. David came
for her in the evening and was to bring her home that night. Sometime in the wee small
hours Elaine opened the door and called to me. She was crying. | wondered what was
wrong and | jumped out of bed in a hurry. | had not heard a car come into the yard. She
said, “Shep is down on the driveway and he is going around in circles. Dave could not get
pasthim so | walked in.” | went out to have a look and | knew that Shep's life was ending. |
‘came back to the house and told Vickie that there was no hope for Shep and that he should
be putout of his misery. She said, “Why not get someone to shoot him." | said, “There is no
way that | will ask someone to shoot him. | will do it myself.” I finished him off and came
back and had a good cry. | did not sleep the rest of the night. The next morning while Vickie
and Elaine were at school, | buried him beneath the big cottonwood tree in our yard. We
had brought him home on Easter Sunday and sixteen years later on Easter Sunday. he left

Inthe fall of 1944, my brother, Armold, who was in the business of combining, asked me if
1 would put my tractor on one of his combines for awhile. He had his own tractor and two
combines. He was going o thresh for Hosea Hawkins. Usually, the farmer that he was
working for put a tractor on one machine. Hosea's tractor was a 20 35 Allis Chalmers on
steel and not very satisfactory for pulling a combine. Hosea, who lived int he Gledhow
District, was an old timer there and a lifelong friend of my Dad’s. He had four hundred and
twenty acres of wheat to harvest. It was standing and dead ripe S0 we were straight
combining. The machine was a Massey Harris twelve foot cut with a motor for driving it. |
was using my 15 30 on hard rubber tires. This rig worked very well as the land was rolling
and the grain was much heavier in the low spots 5o that the tractor could be slowed down
and the machine maintain its speed. Hosea rode a few rounds on the combine. When |
stopped tolet him off, he said, “I sure like the speed you are driving. You do not jump any

heads.” The weather was fine and the grain so dry that | think we could have threshed all
night. We ran until one o'clock in the morning. Mrs. Hawkins always stayed up and had
lunch for us before | went home. | sure appreciated that

The cow at home was waiting to be milked 50 | only milked her once a day. | was up again
in the morning at six, had coffee and back to the field. | had kept this up for several days
and was feeling tired and sleepy. Chuck Buckman, a bachelor who worked for different
farmers, cameto the field. He asked if | would like him to drive for awhile. He took over and |
went with Hosea in the grain truck. He headed for the granary with about ninety-five
bushels of whest, Ho was supposed 1o tum onta the road but h overshot and want
throu outthe other crossed the dit lied
over to me granary. | do not know to this day how come he did not break every spring on
that tru

Wm]e we were waiting for the next load of wheat, Hosea started telling stories about the
homestead days. He told about a young fellow who was breaking land near Hosea's farm.
He was using two oxen, one large and one small. He came to Hosea's one evening and
during their visit, he said, “I cannot figure out why Pete, my little ox, is getting thinner day
by day. | wish | could find out whatis the matter because | like that lttle ox. In fact, | like him
50 much that | always give him the short end of the evener.

Hartford Lennox was called Hartie. He homesteaded about a mile from Hosea. He was
batching and was a frequent visitor at the Hawkins farm as he was lonely. Besides, Mrs.

meals. . Mrs. Hawk dto Hosea,
“Hartie has not been over for three days. | sure hope herels nothing wrong with the boy."
After Hosas had inished his meal, ho walked across th feld to Hartie'sshack. Wnen e
ee Hartie's cattle (t m),

door. Hosea broke intoarun s he figured somemmg must be wrong. He thought the atie
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were looking for water. When he arrived, there was Hartie sitting on the doorstep singing
and beating time on his dishpan with the cattle all gathered around for an audience.

There was ayoung who farmed y Park District. He:
his farm from Saskatoon. What was known as the Gable Hill was very steep in those days
When coming down the hill, it was common practice to put a chain around one of the
spokes and the rear axle. The wheel could not turn and acted as a brake so that the horses
did not have to hold all the weight of the wagon and load back. This fellow used the chain
and when he came to the bottom of the hil, the chain was too tight to unhook. Instead of
backing the team a bit to loosen it, he took
The wagon was around the country for years and was quite a conversation piece as
everyone who saw it wanted to know what happened to the spoke.

When hauling wheat up the Gable Hill, it was necessary to give the horses a breather
about three quarters of the way up. This was accomplished by cramping the front wheels
of the wagon so that one wheel came in contact with the wagon box. This acted as a brake
and kept the wagon from rolling back. The horses were able to relax and after a few
minutes, could go their way. A Model T. Ford car could make this hill in high gear if one
took agood run at it. This hill was worked on several times and finally, was built into a long,
sloping hill.
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN

School to a more favorable site. At that time the school house was situated just a few

yards south of where Eastview Store is today. There was no road into the school, justa
prairie trail which meandered uphill and down. It seemed such an out of the way place. No
one even in their wildest dreams ever thought that Highway 60 would pass right by the
schoolyard in the distant future. However, | still believe that a highway is not the best site
for a school

Bert Pippin, my Dad, donated the piece of ground where the school sits today. The
ratepayers of the district got together and dug the hole for the basement. We built the
forms for the concrete from shiplap and two by fours. We hauled the gravel from a pitin the
Valley Park area. We brought some of the water for mixing from the lake in a water tank. We
also put down a sand point from which we used water when the tank was away being filled
When everything was ready, amover called John Woloshyn came and moved the building
toits new site. | will not attempt to tell all
Everyons cooperatad very wll:some droppad out befora it was Anished. Othersstayed 10
the very end. The Saskatoon West School Unit No. 42 carpenters came and built a larger
porch. The old shingles were removed and replaced by asphalt shingles.

Two years later it was decided that we should have a new floor in this building. Mr.
George Hodgson, who was the Unit Board member at that time, looked the situation over
and said that if the ratepayers would lay the floor, they would supply the maple flooring
Joe Hoyte, Don Ingham and | were serving on the local school boardd at that time and
decided that the three of us would lay the floor. When | look at that floor thirty years later. |
amstill proud of the j This was the school where | received Iwent
to the Christmas concert in 1980 and was astonisned at how small the buiding seemed
compared to when | attended school there.

In 1953 the Anglicans of this area decided that we should have a church. Services had
been held off and on in the schoolhouse. Canon Manwaring conducted the services. Mr.
Gilbert Wright, a building contractor from Saskatoon and a staunch Anglican, started
coming to our services. If | remember correctly, he had considerable to do with going
ahead to construct a church. A piece of property where the Forbes store stood was
purchased by the Anglican Church. The store had been moved away to be Mr. Fred Bond's
home and the basement was still left open

Late in the fall of 1953, we started to fll this basement and level the ground for a spot to
put our church. The ground was frozen to a depth of about six inches. The dirt that was
taken from the store basement had not been levalled or taken away. t was In a mound at
the back o Aswe did not tin the church at that time,
we had to pm e dirt back i ho . 1went thore with my front enctloader. bot fwould
not dig in the frozen ground. We made a hole with a pick big enough to get the loader
started in. From there, | was able to work underneath the frost and raise the dirt in large

I n 1949, we as a school district decided it would be a good idea to move Pike Lake
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chunks. There was an old car body lying there and that went n the hole first. We eventually
got the hole filled and the ground levelled.

The next summer, we started building on the church. Gilbert Wright came out one
evening and we started pouring the footing. He started making forms at one corner and as
500N as he had a couple of boards in place, the crew were supposed to start pouring the
cement. That was the start of many arguments between Gilbert and myself. The gang went
ahead with the pouring and someone dumped a wheelbarrow of mix on the forms and no
yfinished. Then it that

th

oneside 9 ree toolow. | did not enj i
there were too many mistakes in measuring and keeping things on the square. However,
the building was finally finished.

In October, 1965, at a vestry meeting, it was moved by Clyde Purcell and seconded by
George Wilson that ilding a basement under usedas
achurch hall p g
to go ahead with this project. By January, 1966 a vote of thanks was given to Clyde and
George for their leadership and work in moving the church onto the basement. This was a
big improvement to the property and has been used since that time for many different
meetings. In spite of all the work and money putinto it, the congregation does not own any
of this building. It belongs to the church of England. At a meeting in 1980, it was being
discussed as to whether we should charge for having showers or meetings there. The
minister in charge was in favor of raising money that way. George Wilson made the
statement that the building belongs to the church, but we consider the basement ours.
Therefore we do not wish to charge people for the use of it. The minister replied, "I think
you will find that the basement belongs to the church also.”

Our church is there and it s a very nice building standing on a very nice spot. It was put
there by the efforts of a very small congregation. | must mention that our Lutheran
neighbors from the Valley Park area donated considerable time and work toward the
building of this church. The Ladies Friendly Circle raised a lot of money toward this
project. Without their help, I doubt if the loans would ever have been paid off.

Harry Hoyte retired from farming in 1954. | rented his land on share crop basis, one third
to Harry and the other two thirds for myself. This land was on the east side of Highway 60,
iustnorth of Moon Lake School. The school building s still standing. It was purchased by
the ratepayers to be used as a community centre and has since been sold to a private
owner. The first year that | farmed this land, it yielded twenty-three bushels to the acre and
Ireceived one dollar and twenty-five cents per bushel. That seemed a pretty fair deal. The
second year it produced twenty-four bushels to the acre but the price of rye had dropped
toeighty-nine cents. Not too much profit there. Anyway, | kept on hoping that there would
be a change in the price of rye. There was a change alright—it went down to sixty-nine
cents per bushel. | The pi tbelow sixty , but
it never went much higher.

Glenn had been farming the old homestead place plus the NW Quarter of 2134 6 W 3rd
which he owned. He was getting into the electrical business in a large way and he quit
farming and went nto business on his own. After the power came to this district, everyone
was in the market for flush toilets and septic tanks. Glenn and his son, Kenny, took over
this work as well as the slectrical work and they are still going strong in this year, 1981. |
took over the farming of the land that Glenn had farmed previously and told Harry Hoyte
that | would not be able to farm his land anymore. The Hoyte land was never cultivated
again and has now been subdivided and sold to different owners.

1 kept at the farming and was f land. In 1965 | took
on the job of driving a school bus. The first bus | drove was a small panel job. | had seven
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pupilsto pick up. | changed buses three times as the rate of pupils increased. The lastone |
drove was a sixty passenger with fifty-six pupils on it. | was also looking after sixty-five
head of cattle. At seeding time, | rose at five 'clock and drove the tractor until time to go
with the bus. | would come to the house and get cleaned up. make my run and then go back
o the field. In the afternoon, I repeated the performance. Hertz Northern Bus Ltd. had a
contract whereby they furnished buses for the Saskatoon West School Unit No. 42. Hertz
hired the dri dkept d Ihada g
storage tank in my yard. It belonged to Hertz and was kept filled by Imperial Oil Co. The
tank had a meter on it and | kept a log of the gasoline used. Soon atter | started driving,
Hertz requested his drivers to wear uniforms. He purchased the uniforms for the drivers
that wanted them. He took a percentage off the wages until they were paid for

liked the idea of uniforms. When | came in from the field to make my run, | could change
into my uniform instead of driving in my dusty. dirty field clothes. | figured that | should
look as respectable as possible in order to gain respect from the pupils. | still have the cap
with a ten year safe driving shield on it, but my uniform is worn out. The pupils on the bus
called me by my first name in spite of the fact that the parents insisted that | be called Mr.
Pippin. | liked the fact that they called me by my first name. Quite a number of the ones that
rode on my bus are married and have children of their own. When any of them are
introducing me to their friends, they introduce me as “He was my school bus driver." |
drove for ten years and turned the job over to my nieghbor, Frank Zacharias. | enjoyed my
years of driving, but the responsibility was bothering me a bit 5o | gave it up.

1n 1970 | sold three quarters of my land to my brother-in-law, Elwood Harvey. | did not
sell Dad's homestead as | had hopes of keeping that quarter section in the Pippin family.
Sofar, ithas remained as my two sons both have their homes there. When | sold the quarter
where | live, | retained the building spot. As a farmer was allowed one subdivision without
having it surveyed, | measured off seven acres and sent my application to the Planning
Board. They would not accept that, but it was okay if | would keep ten acres. | was having
trouble figuring out how long a piece of land so many feet wide would have to be to make
ten acres. Vickie's brother, Bud (Charles Alexander Harvey), came to the farm to visit. As
he was asurveyor for the Canadian National Railway, he soon set me straight, Bud started
coming to my farm before Vickie and | were married. He was fourteen years old and often
walked all the way from his home in Saskatoon to my farm. As he lived on the northeast
side of the city, it was a walk of twenty-five miles. When he grew older, | taught him to hunt
and we have had many good hunts together. When he shot his first deer, he was using my
twenty-two semi-automatic rifle as | only had one high power rifle. | placed Bud in a spot at
the end of a bluff where I thought there might be deer. | cautioned him to be very quiet as
just a short way from where we were hunting, lived a man who was strictly against deer
hunting. | went into the bush and a deer ran out where Bud was standing. | had told him to
shoot more than once if the deer did not go down. | heard two shots and when | came outto
where | could see Bud, he was holding the gun above his head with both hands and
jumping up and down, yelling, "I got him. | got him.” He had hit the deer with both shots. |
was very pleased that he had done so well, but not half as pleased as he was. If you
gathered from the above that we were poaching, you would be right

1will not try the floods from th River. Some of those
flood badand dalotof property. Hjalmar Torgerson
lived n a south-easterly direction from my farm and close to the river. Hjalmar was the man
I mentioned in the early part of my book regarding teaching me to build stacks. He had
passed away and his wife and three boys continued living there. Agnes was sort of
stubborn about leaving the house in the spring when there was danger of an ice jam. She
would stay there until the water surrounded the buildings. Then she would phone and ask
if | would come with my boat and take her to high land. | did this for two years without too
many problems,
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We would always listen on the radio and keep track of what was going on at the river.
One morning, we heard that the ice was piling up north of Piks Lak. | drove north of my
home to where | could see the river. top
of ome anothr, thise or four doep | came home and Agnos had phaned fof help. | loaded
my boat in the truck and started for her farm. The creek that flows out of Pike Lake is
between the Torgerson farm and mine. | drove out on the bridge that spans this creek and
looked north. There was a wall of water coming up the creek about eight feet high. | backed
off the bridge onto high land to unload the boat. When | rowed the boat over the bridge, the
side railings on the bridge were under water. The railings were a good fourteen feet above
the low water mark. It was hard to believe that the water could pour into the creek so fast.

The terrain between the bridge and the Torgerson farm was ridges and ravines. When |
came to a ridge, | had to drag the boat over top and into the next ravine. In the first ravine,
the water was running north; in the second, it was running south. When | finally came out
ontothe flat area where the Torgerson house sat, quite a sight met my eyes. Anything that
could float was moving in a northwesterly direction; barrels, boxes, firewood, and lumber
were moving at a speed of about five miles per hour. A quarter of a mile from the yard, |
ame upon astream of wheat. A g
with the current. The Torgerson b y.
The chickens had found their way out of the henhouse and wers perched in the willows
near the door. | did not have a motor for my boat so all this rowing against the current took
considerable manpower and time. | arrived at the house at last. Agnes opened the front
door and | rowed the front part of the boat right in the door. The boat was too wide or it
would have gone right in the house. The weather was cold and the water was icy cold. As
long as | was rowing, | was warm. Agnes, however, sitting in the back of the boat, was very
cold when we got to dry land. | was very tired and not in a very good humour when |
home. I told the boys when they thanked me that | was never going to repeat this
performance again. They would have to bring their mother out before the water came up.
This proved to be true for after the Gardiner Dam was built, it has never flooded like that
again at Pike Lake.

That afternoon we went back to the Torgerson farm to see how things were. The
chickens were sitting in the willows as before. We decided that we should catch them and
put them on top of the henhouse. When we tried to catch the hens, they would fly out of the
willows. As barnyard hens do not fly very well, they would make a few feet and fall in the
water. They died almost instantly in the cold water. By the time we could reach them, they
had stopped kicking. We left the rest in the willows and they survived.

At the Valley Park area they had warning that the water was coming and drove their
cattle to the sandhills. Some of the cattle were not put in corrals and they could have
stayed on high land as there was plenty of grass to eat. However, they had been fed at
home during the winter and when feeding time came, they headed for home. A great
number of them were drowned. | saw where some of them perished in not more than two
and one half feet of water. Apparently, the water was 5o cold that their legs became numb
and when they could no longer stand, they fell into the water and drowned. | could write
about the floods in the Moon L. asl books,
1 will refrain from it

In ys, there fires. The first fire that | remember
seeing was a bush fire. It started somewhere in the Valley Park area and headed north.
Dad's homestead was too far to the west to be in line with it. It burned right to the creek
which flowed through the middle of the home quarter. Two bachelors lived to the east of
us; Nels Peterson in a one room shcak and Mr. Wiedmer (I cannot remember his first name)
inatwo story house. Wiedmer's house satin a grassy opening and was saved from the fire,
but Nels' shack burned to the ground.
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The sandhills to the west of Pike Lake were the scenes of many prairie fires. If the fire got

started in the early spring, it burned around the poplar bluffs, but later on inthe year. it was.

abush fire as well as a prairie fire. After it had gone through, the hills Iooked very black

There was a man who was suspected of starting many of these fires and perhaps the

suspicion was right for after he passed away, the number of fires decreased considerably.
en we were boys, we thought it was fun to go fighting fires,

I cannot finish this book without mentioning Charles Daniel Harvey and his wife, Mary
Louisa (nee Elwood). They are my father-in-law and mother-in-iaw. Charles was born in
Ontario and went overseas in the armed forces and brought Mary home as a war bride. On
their Sixtieth Wedding Anniversary, | was asked by members of the family to write
something about this couple. Following is what | came up witl

THE SIXTIETH WEDDING ANNIVERSARY
OF CH. D MARY HARVEY

Charles Daniel Harvey, he buttoned his vest
Said to his wife. Mary. "We'll put 10 the test.

And see which part of the country is be
So pack up your things. we are heading out West
He said to himself. a fortune I'l make
Toa homestead they went. out near Cold Lake
He 100K his wife. Mary and when she saw the shack
If this is homesteading. I wish I were ba
In jolly old England. at least | was warm
I'm afraid that out here we shall come to some harm
But she buckled in and a home they made
In that homestead shack for six weeks they stayed
Then they moved to Edm:
And D, watked up and then he walked down
Looking for work and he got 4 job

na m with a man named B
Mary said. “Dearie, just how are your means?"
And he said. “I've got twenty bucks in my jeans.
He worked on the farm and did very good
He was strong and willing to do what he could

And then on the twenty-fourth da
1 shall il y0a what Rappsned b uLm
Into their lives came a wee baby girl
She was tiny and sweet and just like a pearl
Mary Vi named by the way
What ese ol 1 be on Vietoria Day
After two years of work on the farm
Charles got restless. said. "It won't do no harm
To try something else would be a boon
To have a job in old Saskatoon.”
And 50 it was there that they came to stay
And that's where they bav ther ome to ths day
They raised a family. six girls and two boys
Had e of ek troubles 454 Some of 18 656,




1 just want 0 say they can be very pro

Of the familytheyrased and ooy ot toud

The Harveys are gre:

These two have bee married forsixty years

And I want 10 say this. as we smile through our tears

We love you both and are really quite glad

To call you this day. our Mom and our Dad.
HAPPY ANNIVERSARY!

t our farm. There relatives present. |
had cloaned aut the double Sorags o blacksmith shop. It seemed the shop was the
favorite place to visit. Tables had been s the garage to use at Elaine and Leslie's
wedding. We enjoyed the day very much s very nice to see all the young relatives
the

On Mother Harvey's eightieth birthday my sister-in-laws requested that | write some-
thing. | had missed celebrating mother-in-law Day (which was made an official day), so |
leaned back in my recliner and came up with the following:

OUR MOTHER-IN-LAW

In jolly old England in the year of mncly eight
To the Elwoods was born a baby g

Which they thought was Jus great.

‘The name they called her was Mary

Far ahead of all the rest.
Into her life came World War One

She was out e girls to have some fun
Some Canadian soldiers came down the street
There was young C.D. so dapper and neat
And he thought that Mary, she sure looks fine
1 think Tl claim that girl for mine

So he asked for a date and she consented

And that was one thing he never repented.

It ended up that they got married

And moved to Canada and they never tarried
They raised a family, six girls so sweet

That all the boys fell at their feet

Also two boys who were very fine

But it took lots of teaching to keep them in line.
Now this is the story of Mary and C.D.

and who should buit into the family but me

I married the eldest daughter so sweet

Then back to the farm o grow more wheat
She was the dearest that I ever saw

S0 that’s how come Mary’s my mother-in-law.
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As a mother-in-law she i tops with
She has never been known to kick up a fuss

She is sincere, considerate, kind and true

And cheers us up when we feel blue

In summing up this litle line

1 would wish everyone a Mother like mine

Now she has reached her eightieth year

1t's not necessary 10 shed a tear

For although she is eighty she is still our dear mother-in-law

Many happy returns of the day Mother

RALPH. BOB, LEX, KEN, DON. AND BILL & HELEN AND MARIAN

This is a resume of how Mother and Dad Harvey met and how they spent some of their
lives. The reader will note that Dad Harvey's initials are C.D. Sometimes my wife, Vickie,
reminds me so much of her father that | call her “Little C.D." On Thanksgiving Day.
October 12, 1980 Vickie was pulling weeds from her flower beds. | watched her for a few
minutes and decided | would go in the house and write Little C.D. a verse for Thanksgiving,

LITTLE C.D,

Little C.D. lived in the west

Through all the wide country

Her flowers were the best

The sun shone bright and the wind blew fice

Was er a flower girl like Litt

She mngm the kids at Vanscoy Schoo\

She taught them fstthe Galden Rule

pupils she taught were in grade three

Was there ever a teacher like Litle C.D.

She raised three kids and did it good

She taught them al just like she should

Her sons and daughter will all a

Thert was never a mother ike Lits C.D

When it came to cooking she was the best

Roast beef and turkey and all the rest

Her apple pies were the
ere ever a “cooke:

est you see
“like Little C.D.
At keeping house she scrubbed and dubbed
Any dirt around it had to be rubbe:

She worked long hours and did it for frec
Was there ever a housewife like Little C.D.

1 built our house out of sticks of wood

1did my best to build it good

Little C.D. made it a home for me

Was there ever a homemaker like Little C.D.
My Little C.D. is the very best wife

1 think I shall keep her the rest of my life
As 1 toil along in this land of the free

There was never a wife like my Little C.D.
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On July 26th, 1980 our daughter, Elaine Mary, was married to Leslie Donald Feltis of
Hawarden, Saskatchewan. They were married in St. James Anglican Church in Saska-

toon; this is where Vickie and | years ago. The
reception and dance were held in the EIK's Hall in Saskatoon. The next day was open
guestbook sothat d of who was here

of how many There were quite a number of people hers from Hawarden as wallos otfer
places. T

The use o the triphammer. but as everyone was resscin geod lotnes | i not make s
me in |he lc' e

reat many people, some of whom we had met before while visiting with
Loste uam.ly The Feltis family are very fine people and we consider Elaine lucky to have
married into their family. Elaine asked me to write something for their wedding book. |
wrote in the form of a letter. | do not have any record of it so | cannot reproduce it but the
verse | wrote for Leslie is as follows:

TO MY THIRD SON
Young Leslie Donald came out of the W
Through the Hawarden country his Ford was the best
He drove it fast and he drove it far
Courting the daughter of old J
He worked on the farm and happy was he
Was their ever a farmer like young Leslie D
He worked on the farm in the summer months
Harvested the crop and then all at once
e went 10  job in old Saskatoon
At Acklands he toiled and then very soon
He met a fair maiden, “A Beauty by Gar™
She was the daughter of old J.R
He courted her early and courted her late
And Elaine just thought this is sure great
I hope that Someday his bride I il be
Was there ever a lover like young Leslie D.
She said. “Leslie, my Darling, you | must take
To see my dear parents who live at Pike Lake.”
So they journeyed out o the Pippin house
And she brought him in as quiet as a mouse
This is my Mother, the best by far
And this is my Father. good old J.R.
1 knew at once when I saw his smile
That he would be hanging around for awhile
1also knew that in the long run
I'd be proud to have him as my third son
And my dear wife, Vickie, was pleased as could be
Was there ever a third son like young Leslie D.

This will complete my manuscript. | hope all my old friends will read this and also some
of the strangers who are friends | have not met yet. | have not mentioned all my friends and
neighbors as a list of those would comprise a book i itself. Clint Braun is a friend | am
going to write acouple of lines about. | have known Clint for many years. He is a rancher in
the area east of Swanson. When he first started ranching, he hit some very hard times, but
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by perseverance, hard work, and good management he has come out on top. Clint owns a
plane and gives me  ride when he feels like flying around the country. I love flying. If | was. |
abityounger, | would have a goat getting a pilot's license. Clint is a very good pilot. | never

worry about flying with him and | hope to keep on as long as | am abie. |

THE END.






